
CITY OF SEASIDE
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

Monday, February 13, 2023

To provide public comment for City Council meetings, participants should register prior to the meeting. Please
complete the form linked below to offer public comment at an upcoming City Council meeting. You may provide
public comment using the following methods:

1. In-person (meetings are held at Seaside City Hall, 989 Broadway, Seaside, OR)
2. Via Zoom web conference or telephone (obtain link and register at cityofseaside.us)
3. Written comments may be submitted using this form, via e-mail to publiccomment@cityofseaside.us or in

person at City Hall (989 Broadway, Seaside, OR).

If you are providing public comment in person or via Zoom, please keep in mind your comments will be limited to
three (3) minutes. If your comments will be longer than three (3) minutes, please submit your comment in writing
and utilize your three (3) minutes to summarize your written document. Please review the Public Comment Rules of
Conduct prior to the meeting.

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION: 5:00 PM

1. Discussion of City Council Participation in Virtual Meetings {20 min}

2. Discussion of a Proclamation Policy {20 min}

3. Discussion of Current/Future Agenda Items {10 min}

CITY COUNCIL MEETING: 6:00 PM

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. ROLL CALL

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5. PROCLAMATION:

a) CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION MONTH

b) TEEN VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS Members of the public may use this time to provide comment to the City Council
on items that are not scheduled on this agenda for a public hearing or public comment. Speaking time is
limited to three minutes.

7. DECLARATION OF POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST

8. CONSENT AGENDA

a) PAYMENT OF THE BILLS - $200,189.07

b) APPROVAL OF MINUTES – January 23, 2023



9. REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS:

a) SEASIDE 101 PODCAST - Seaside High School Students: Abby Nofield, Ryan
Varozza, and Brody Hillman

10. CITY OF SEASIDE COMMITTEE, COMMISSION, AND BOARDS

a) VACANCY PLANNING COMMISSION (1 Vacancy – 2 Application)

11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:

a) ORDINANCE 2023-01 – AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMENDING
CHAPTER 31, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES, Jeff Flory

 OPEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

 CLOSE PUBLIC COMMENTS

 COUNCIL COMMENTS

 MOTION FOR THIRD READING BY TITLE ONLY – ALL IN FAVOR AND
OPPOSED

 MOTION TO ADOPT – ROLL CALL VOTE

b) ORDINANCE 2023-02 – AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMENDING
CHAPTER 150, STANDARD CODES ADOPTED BY REFERENCE, Jeff Flory

 OPEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

 CLOSE PUBLIC COMMENTS

 COUNCIL COMMENTS

 MOTION FOR THIRD READING BY TITLE ONLY – ALL IN FAVOR AND
OPPOSED

 MOTION TO ADOPT – ROLL CALL VOTE

12. NEW BUSINESS

a) RESOLUTION #4015 – A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
SEASIDE, OREGON, AUTHORIZING ITS SUPPORT FOR CLATSOP COUNTY’S REQUEST
TO BE INCLUDED IN EMERGENCY DECLARATION DUE TO HOMELESSNESS

 PUBLIC COMMENTS

 CLOSE THE PUBLIC COMMENTS

 COUNCIL COMMENTS

 MOTION TO READ BY TITLE ONLY – ALL IN FAVOR AND OPPOSED

 MOTION TO ADOPT – ALL IN FAVOR AND OPPOSED

b) REQUEST FOR RECOMMENDATION: LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION ASHORE HOTEL,
125 OCEANWAY (Change of ownership: New Owner Tiffany and Brady Turner)

c) REQUEST FOR APPROVAL: TRAVEL AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY, Zach
Fleck

d) REQUEST FOR APPROVAL: SELECTION OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN REVIEW FIRM, Jeff
Flory



e) REQUEST FOR APPOINTMENT: CITY ATTORNEY LEGAL SERVICES FIRM

REQUEST FOR APPROVAL: CITY ATTORNEY LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

f) REQUEST FOR APPROVAL: SELECTION OF DOWNTOWN MAINTENANCE DISTRICT
“LITTER REMOVAL” FIRM

g) REQUEST FOR APPROVAL: CONSTRUCTION MANAGER|GENERAL CONTRACTOR
SEASIDE POLICE DEPARTMENT & SEASIDE FIRE STATION SEISMIC REHABILITATION

13. COMMENTS FROM CITY STAFF

14. COMMENTS FROM THE COUNCIL

15. ADJOURNMENT

Complete copies of the Current Council meeting Agenda, Packets, and Minutes can be viewed at:
www.cityofseaside.us.

All meetings other than executive sessions are open to the public. When appropriate, any public member desiring to
address the Council may be recognized by the presiding officer. Remarks are limited to the question under
discussion except during public comment. This meeting is handicapped accessible. Please let us know at 503-738-
5511 if you will need any special accommodation to participate in this meeting.









January 23, 2023 1

CITY OF SEASIDE CITY COUNCIL AGENDA – MONDAY, JANUARY 23, 2023

CITY COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE

SESSION The City Council recessed into Executive Session at 2:00 PM, in accordance with ORS. 192.660 (2)
(a) regarding the employment of a public officer, employee, staff member, or individual agent.

The City Council reconvened into regular session at 3:36 PM, there was no Council action and the
executive session was adjourned.

CITY COUNCIL

WORKSESSION 5:00 PM Convention Center Commission Interviews:

Mayor Wright stated I’ll call the, work session meeting together, to order. First order of business
tonight is to interview a couple of possible appointees to the Convention Center Commission.

Convention Center Commission Interview 5:00 PM – Dana Phillips.

Convention Center Commission Interview 5:10 PM – Thomas Jensen.

Discussion – Scope of Work and Review of the North Forty Property:

Mayor Wright stated I believe the next item on our work session agenda, if I can get back there, is,
somebody named Dale McDowell wants to talk to us about the North Forty property.

Dale McDowell, Public Works Director, stated I was a former resident of City of Seaside,
for 20 years.

Spencer Kyle, City Manager, stated I wanted to schedule this, to me, this is a perfect work session
agenda item. Dale’s done a lot of work on the North Forty. Some brief history, that is property that we
have acquired, correct me if I'm wrong, from the school district, from the county.

Mr. McDowell stated it was a reversionary clause from the school district back to the county.

Mr. Kyle stated back to the county. And then, to us, it can only be used for a park. Dale's been doing a
lot of work. He's had a consultant come out and look at it and we wanted to enter into an agreement.
However, I thought, let's take a timeout and let's have this discussion and make sure we're on the right
page. Dale will be able to present what kind of his ideas for this consultant was, which was really just
for the consultant to come back and bring some ideas. But there were some, direction given we want
to make sure we're on the right page or do we need to take a further step back and have a bigger
discussion, of bigger options before we go down the road. Dale may be right on to what we want to
do, and if so, we're ready to enter into some agreements, but this is our opportunity before we get too
far down the road. Are we going in the right direction? So enter

Councilor Morrisey stated in agreeance with whom.

Mr. McDowell stated this would be Cameron McCarthy. They're the same ones that designed
Broadway field.

Mr. Kyle stated enter a negotiation, into a contract to design. Design our park. And part of it is, you
know, there's lots of different uses. I think the ones that Dale's kind of proposing narrows it a little bit,
but it's consistent with how it's been used and how, where we see the needs are. But let's make sure as
a Council that this is in line with, your vision. With that, Dale.

Mr. McDowell presented the City Council with the Scope of Work and Review of the North Forty
Property. The high lights of the presentation: North Forty proposed Sports Complex- Project
understanding. Scope of work. Existing conditions and site analysis. Public engagement and
preliminary design. Draft master plan for the site. Final review by City Council. Final master plan.

Discussion of Future Agenda Items:

Mayor Wright stated the meeting tonight is talking about a couple of specific, very specific things
about, hazardous buildings and, remediation of that kind of thing. I don't think any of us are an expert
on that. We're going to have to depend on our city staff to help us through that. All of that stuff was
run by our current attorney though. On tonight's agenda, we have, two new ordinances, a revision of
ordinances regarding, hazard.

Mr. Kyle stated I'll have to check with Jeff. I know he has worked with our current city attorney on
many of related items, but I don't think the potential ordinances specifically have been. You want to
come talk to us?

Jeff Flory, Community Development Director, stated the ordinances for tonight, one is, the Building
Board of Appeals.

Mayor Wright stated that one I'm sure doesn't need to be, but the adoption that's ours on our own
anyway.

Mr. Kyle stated now that I'm thinking about it. When we identified the issue, which is that we have an
agreement with the county to enforce a specific code outside the city limits, but in our urban growth
boundary.



January 23, 2023 2

That's a code we've never adopted. I did reach out specifically to Dan. I sent him an email, he called
me back to talk about it and he said the strategy we're pursuing was what he would recommend.

Mr. Flory stated in the meeting tonight for the ordinance, I'll go over some of the history and we can
talk about how things happened and why we're in the position we're in. And this is just, a clean way
of cleaning it up. For now until we get a little further with our building official.

Mr. Kyle stated it's a bit of a stop gap to some other measures, but something that we can do, act on
quickly and then come back with something else later.

To view the work session: www.cityofseaside.us YouTube Video

MINUTES SEASIDE CITY COUNCIL - (PUBLIC AND ELECTRONIC MEETING) JANUARY 23, 2023 6:00 PM

CALL TO ORDER The Regular meeting of the Seaside City Council was called to order at 6:00 PM by Mayor
Steve Wright.

ROLL CALL Mayor Wright asked Kim Jordan, City Recorder, to do the roll.

Present: Mayor Steve Wright; Councilors Steve Dillard, Tita Montero, David Posalski, Tom
Horning, Randy Frank, and Seth Morrisey.

Absent: None

Also, Present: Spencer Kyle, City Manager; Jon Rahl, Assistant City Manager; Dave Ham,
Seaside Police Chief; Joey Daniels, Seaside Fire Chief; Brian Owen, Seaside Convention
Center General Manager; Jeff Flory, Community Development Director; Zach Fleck, Seaside
Finance Director; and Kim Jordan, City Recorder.

AGENDA Mayor Wright stated I have a motion for the approval of the agenda.

Councilor Horning so moved, with a second from Councilor Morrisey; carried unanimously
(Horning/Morrisey)

Mayor Wright stated that is Counselor Horning, and Counselor Morrisey. Any discussion?

INTRODUCTION
AND SWEARING IN

POLICE OFFICER Mayor Wright stated we have a special opportunity tonight. Chief Ham.

Dave Ham, Seaside Police Chief, stated tonight I'm going to be swearing in and introducing
you to Andrew Stewart, who's our, most recent hire. He's been here about, couple of weeks,
really, I think today was his first day. Kind of really been really riding around with an officer,
but, fills our last patrol position. Jared you met a month ago, and he will be taking off for the
academy later in the year. We've got one scheduled for April and he's scheduled, Andrew's
scheduled for, June class. We'll get them into our field training program and get them into
DPSST for their state certification training and, finish training. I introduce, Andrew Stewart,
our officer, if you'll come up for me please. Chief Ham swore in Seaside Police Officer
Andrew Stewart.

COMMENTS –

PUBLIC Mayor Wright stated it's time in the agenda for public comments, members of the public may
use this time to provide comment to the City Council on items that are not scheduled on this
agenda for a public hearing or public comment. Speaking time is limited to three minutes. We
have two that I know of, that provided, or requested to have time. Is Gina Mallough here?
Come on up to the microphone and we have your address and phone number on the paper in
front of us.

Gina Mallough, Seaside, stated I live in Stanley Acres recently we've left Stanley Acres, our
water, I don't know if you call it a district or what, and we were put on yours, it happens to be
double what ours was. And it's kind of shocking. Not this one that I just paid, but the one
before was $130. I've never paid more than $50. That would've been, put it this way, it was
50% less and now it's double. And I was wondering if you could, see, I don't find this fair that
it's, we get here's the price list of what you guys pay in city and outta city. It's only $41.26 in
city. I happen to be outside city and that starts at 82 52. I think that should really explain the
whole thing. I'm hoping you can do something about it. I also found out there's no City Council
member that represents Stanley Acres. We have no, I guess district or something.

Mayor Wright stated the main reason would be is that you're not in the city.

Ms. Mallough stated we're hoping to stay with out of the city, county. Normal prices not
skyrocketing. New York City prices.

Councilor Montero stated well, the county doesn't, charge for, and doesn’t do your water.



January 23, 2023 3

Ms. Mallough stated it did. Four months ago?

Mayor Wright stated there was a special district that, turned themselves basically over to the
city. I would suggest, you present your, request to the city manager and, he will work with you.
That is Mr. Kyle. He'll work with our public works director to, get you an answer. Well, if I
remember right, you had your own water district and so you're outside of the city. And when
they decided that they couldn't maintain that, again, they asked the city if the city would take it
or we knew it would be a higher cost because of the existing infrastructure, but one of them
would have to, comment on it. That's sort of what I remember from that meeting.

Ms. Mallough stated I have two houses right next door to me that are brand new and they're
going to probably be in city rates and nobody's even lived in these places yet.

Mayor Wright stated Mr. Kyle can answer your questions.

Ms. Mallough stated it's just the wrong time. It's weird to do this. Everything going on in the
country.

Mayor Wright stated we also had, Kerri Lambert with a request to speak again, I believe. Your
address is on here, so you have three minutes.

Kerri Lambert, SDDA, stated I did pass out a letter to basically everyone up there, and I will be
following up with an email and some pictures. I am representing the Seaside Downtown
Development Association. Our board voted to write you the letter and, request that we have
some additional cameras downtown. Replace the ones at Broadway and Columbia, as well as
look into putting, cameras, security cameras into the parking garage off of Avenue ‘A’. There's
a lot of things that go on in there. We have two floors of, public parking. There, a lot of staff
that works downtown and o owners, park there as well, it's really nice to have. However,
there's a lot of entrances and exits into there. Traffic only goes counterclockwise, so you see a
lot of people running in and out of there when they're just doing different things. Sometimes,
you know, it's like, smoking pot, drinking, other times its dropping bottles off the, edges there
to see how close they can get to pedestrians. We've had a few times where there's been
explosions. I mean, which, okay that was a little fireworks I should say. There's just been a few
different things. This summer some girls were attacked with, pepper spray. I know pretty sure
that they were kind of involved. It wasn't just, they were randomly attacked, but people are
able to kind of hide, run through shoplifters off of Broadway, duck through there, run right
through off of Avenue A and down. So we've just like some more security cameras, just to
kind of follow up, make people feel like we can actually do something about it, and then
hopefully at least takes care of some of the activity that's going on in there. It won't be such a
secure, safe place for, whoever wants to hang out and light off explosives if they know that
there's a chance that they will have their face all over, you know, the internet or whatever.
Some incidents besides what I listed, we've also had, people, dumping trash and household
items from local and maybe other places, but we've definitely found some locals that were
doing it. Some people have been hit, some people are getting, having drinks and stuff dumped
on them which I don't know that cameras would actually do anything about, but it would just
make people feel a little bit more secure. You know, in September, 2021, someone was, on
Columbia shot into the Times. You know, luckily no one was hurt or anything, but just feels
like maybe it's time to put some cameras in that area publicly, you know, publicly owned.

Councilor Montero stated I have a question about that. I believe that, parking structure is
owned by WorldMart and that the city leases those two, floors. So might you be able to look at
the lease between us and WorldMart to see who's responsible for what.

Mr. Kyle stated we can look at that, my understanding, Jon can probably correct me, is that
there's a joint ownership and that we have an association that manages it, that we're probably a
joint owner of.

Councilor Montero stated so then maybe review that and see.

Mayor Wright stated kind of agree, same thing. I would, let's direct the city manager to work
with both police and public works, perhaps to figure out something to address this issue.

Mr. Kyle stated I'd say, my guess is that the reason they're coming tonight is as you go into
your, priorities is, you know, there's some cost of this and, where does this land as a priority.

Ms. Lambert stated is one hundred percent why I'm here.

Mr. Kyle stated we will get input from our police department?

Ms. Lambert stated if I didn't say it very clearly, also just replace Broadway and Columbia and
it sounds like actually something is being done about that already. The cameras that are there.

Mayor Wright stated you have anybody online that is registered. Anybody else in the
audience? State your name and address.

Minerva Moulin, Seaside, stated I'm just here to make an announcement. We are opening a
new nonprofit organizations called El Centro Northwest and we going to be serving the
Hispanic community also. We are starting our new tax season for the Hispanic community next
week.



January 23, 2023 4

Mayor Wright stated it's time for taxes already. Could you, leave some information with the
City manager. Let us know if there's any way we can help support you. If there's no one else,
we'll close public comments.

CONFLICT Mayor Wright stated does any Councilors have a declaration of potential conflict of interest or
an actual one?

No one on the Council declared a potential conflict of interest.

CONSENT AGENDA Mayor Wright stated I have a motion to approve the consent agenda.

Councilor Frank so moved, with a second from Councilor Morrisey; carried unanimously.
(Frank/Morrisey)

Mayor Wright stated Councilor Frank and Councilor Morrisey.

Consent Agenda: Payment of the Bills - $200,189.07; and January 9, 2023, minutes approved.

REPORTS AND

PRESENTATIONS: Clatsop County Public Health Overdose Crisis:

Mayor Wright stated we have a special presentation from the Clatsop County Public Health
about the public health overdose crisis from, Kathryn Crombie and Jenna King.

Kathryn Crombie, Substance Use Disorder Coordinator Clatsop County Public Health, stated
thank you, everybody for having us today, especially, thank you Councilor Montero, for
inviting us to come speak about this.

Jenna King, Harm Reduction Coordinator Clatsop County Public Health.

Ms. Crombie stated a little bit about what we're going to talk about today. We're going to talk
about, some background about the, opioid epidemic. We're going to give you some, Oregon
and, local Clatsop County data. We're going to talk about some, initiatives that Clatsop County
Public Health is doing, and then looking at the future. Then we'll have time for questions and
discussion.

The State of the Overdose Crisis Presentation high lights: Rise in Opioid Overdose deaths in
America. Multi co-occurring issues. The changing overdose crisis. Unintentional and
undetermined drug overdose deaths. Oregon, Fentanyl, Stimulants. Risk factors. The new
category of victim. What’s happening locally? Clatsop County – Percentage of accidental and
undetermined overdose deaths, Clatsop County 2017-2020 and overdose death, Clatsop County
2017-2021. Clatsop County in 2022 – 2,030 doses of naloxone distributed by Clatsop County
Public Health and 297 reported overdose reversals. Needs and looking ahead. Current and
future initiatives. Questions?

Councilor Montero stated how involved is CODA with our county in the, harm reduction and
this program? And do they report statistics to the county?

Ms. King stated like I said before in in the, our statistics that with the 2,300 life, one of our
main goals is to have a more robust, and, better picture of what's going on in the community.
We're working towards that, and that's going to include a lot of conversations to make sure
that, we have a better idea of what's going on.

Councilor Montero stated you're reaching out to CODA.

Ms. King stated we are connecting and communicating with a lot of different organizations.

Mayor Wright stated I assume police and fire department. Do you guys have anything you'd
like to add in here? You have the, Naloxone in the cars, in the patrol cars, in the, rescue
equipment and all of that. Anything else that the city can do, I'm sure we're more than willing
to. Let me just ask one question. You had that, one slide up that said there were 300 people that
got one dose or multiple doses. Effectively you're saying there were 300 people that were
saved by, having, this. And over the past four years prior to that, there were 40 people in total
that died of an overdose. In one year you saved 300 people, you know, six, seven times more.

Councilor Montero stated I think the question is, are they unduplicated users? Were they 300
separate people or were there a lesser number? With some people being saved more than one
time.

Mayor Wright stated that's probably part of the figuring out the numbers to figure out what's
really true and what isn't. That's the problem with numbers.

Ms. King stated in the last five years, just harm reduction in, I mean, this has grown
exponentially and with adding organizations who are also doing the same sort of work. We are
really trying to capture that better. It was easier in the beginning where we were the one
program and now it's expanded and we have a lot more help which is miraculous to say the
least. That's definitely a part of that.



January 23, 2023 5

Councilor Montero stated I think that's an important statistic to know whether they are
unduplicated users unique or, more than once for someone. I know having worked in
healthcare for 30 years, that's a pretty standard data measure.

Ms. Crombie stated the issue with the Naloxone reversals is a lot of, I mean, it's just a difficult
number to, get because people are just saving each other's lives, and not recording it, you
know, it's not, it's tough. We don't know the full amount right now.

Council President Posalski stated a couple of data points that I was hoping to be able to maybe
get an answer. There are a timeline where within two minutes, if they get the Naloxone, they
have this much better chance than if they don't. Is it, I assume it's time critical. I just don't
know what the typical time,

Ms. King stated a lot of these are recorded reversals that I have are from people who are using
drugs. So typically they're with the person, that's overdosing. So the timing is fairly quick. It
would be more critical if you just happened upon somebody who had potentially overdosed
and not knowing the amount of time they've been unconscious.

Council President Posalski stated Joey, do you have any?

Joey Daniels, Seaside Fire Chief, stated for us, it's going to all relate to how much they've used
in the past. If they've never had it before, they're going to trigger a lot faster. If they've had it
before, we got to buy a little more time because their bodies used to it. And then what the
dosage they took. Like they're talking about, we see a lot of mixed fentanyl, different opioids
in there, and they're just a cocktail. So depending on how long strong the cocktail is or weak it
is or whatever the method, they put in there. So some nasty stuff goes into these combination
drugs like rainbow, fentanyl you'll hear about now.

Council President Posalski stated should I assume that a majority of these overdoses happen
with other people around them?

Ms. King stated that would be the, data we're getting this data from, drug users.

Council President Posalski stated I guess my question was, if we threw Naloxone into every
business, like we have emergency radios, we're probably not going to have that much of an
effect because it's not going to be happening in the businesses, it's happening in people's homes
or in their houseless situation or those type of situations?

Ms. Crombie stated we do know that about, I think it's like 70% of overdoses happen when a
bystander is around, actually. So it is best practice to have Naloxone widely distributed, in case
that happens, a bystander can just, you know, save somebody by giving Naloxone.

Ms. King stated and that's why one of our biggest goals, just the harm reduction program
alone, is to get more community trainings and get more people comfortable in the case that
they have to administer Naloxone.

Councilor Montero stated are you talking about something like, we are all taught CPR and
different jobs are taught CPR. Are you talking about that kind of training that there's Naloxone
training? Because most bystanders would know the first thing to do if they had a bottle of
Naloxone in their hand.

Ms. Crombie stated and people actually, a lot of agencies are doing Naloxone training and CPR
training in our county. Not necessarily in our county yet, but, that is also an emerging trend
with agencies.

Mayor Wright stated well thank you for that very sobering, report. Thank you for the good
work you guys are doing. We appreciate it. Anything to keep our, citizens safe.

To view the presentation: www.cityofseaside.us YouTube Video

CITY OF SEASIDE COMMITTEE, COMMISSION, AND BOARDS:

VACANCY –
CONVENTION CENTER

COMMISSION Mayor Wright stated we currently have one vacancy on the Convention Center Commission,
and we have two applicants. We interviewed, two very qualified applicants. And because we
have, two applicants, I'm going to ask for, each of you to participate in a roll call vote, and
whichever applicant, gets the most will be appointed. Kim.

Councilor Morrisey stated do we need to appoint first before we vote?

Mayor Wright stated no the appointment will be by, roll call vote whoever gets the most. And
we have, two applicants in alphabet order. They are Thomas Jensen and Dana Phillips. When
Kim calls your name, simply, say one of those names.

Kim Jordan, City Recorder, stated you nominated them at the last meeting. Tonight is just
appointment.



January 23, 2023 6

Roll call vote:

DILLARD PHILLIPS
WRIGHT PHILLIPS
MONTERO JENSEN
POSALSKI JENSEN
HORNING PHILLIPS
FRANK PHILLIPS
MORRISEY PHILLIPS

Ms. Jordan stated two to five for Dana Phillips.

Mayor Wright stated Dana Phillips is appointed to the Convention Center Commission.
Congratulations. We mentioned to both of you and, Thomas in particular. We want you to,
keep applying and we will use you. We want volunteers. We love volunteers.

The Convention Center Commission term expiration for Dana Phillips is October 25, 2026.

(1 Vacancy – 2 Applications)

VACANCY –

PLANNING COMMISSION Mayor Wright stated a reminder, we still have one opening on the planning commission.

(1 Vacancy)

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None

NEW BUSINESS:

ORDINANCE 2023-01 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMENDING CHAPTER 31
BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES

Mayor Wright stated new business. We have, two ordinances on tonight. First one is Ordinance
2023-01. I see our Community Development Director, Jeff Flory, is going to tell us about it.

Jeff Flory, Community Development Director, stated thank you, Mayor and Council for having
me in tonight to, to do some, code updates. This is our Building Board of Appeals, little known
little used, board that, we do have here in the city. Currently it's consists of five members. All
the terms have expired of any remaining members we have. So there is not, any current
appointments for that board. What, staff is, requesting is to lower the membership of the board
from five people to three people. And, the way the code is written, the, actual ordinance has a
residency requirement that the member is a resident of the City of Seaside and staff is also
asking to expand that to Clatsop County. We have a lot of qualified, potential applicants by
either their education or their experience and their profession that do business here in Seaside,
but don't live here. They live in other parts of Clatsop County. The board's typical function is
as the appellate body for any decisions made by the building official. This could, come into
play and, with importance, if there is a discrepancy between a contractor and our building
official, the contractor now has relief as an appellate body to appeal a decision.

Mayor Wright stated are there any comments Councilors want to make before we open it for
public comments?

Councilor Montero stated I think I'd like to make some comments about this. I am concerned
about, saying that the people who sit on this board could live in Clatsop County means that we
would have no requirement that at least a majority of people on this board would be Seaside
residents.

Mayor Wright stated two out of three.

Councilor Montero stated that's what I would want. I also believe I would rather see five than
three, in some of our other commissions, we allow members who do not live in Seaside to
participate by virtue of either having, work in Seaside or own property in Seaside or own a
business in Seaside. I would like to maybe see that kind of designation made because where
you, make the, point that if we go outside the county, we have access to more, trained people
and people with more knowledge. If we actually say that the majority must, live in Seaside, but
we can have up to so many who work or own businesses or own properties that takes us as far
as maybe even Portland, which gives us a whole other set of people to draw from in terms of
expertise. As I was reading it, that was, those were the thoughts going through my head.

Council President Posalski stated I have a question about.

Spencer Kyle, City Manager, stated can I respond to one thing on Councilor Montero? One
thing I will say is our other boards and committees have a function of representing our
residents or the interest of our city. Really the only job for this board is to interpret the building
code and whether or not, it kind of rule on the building officials interpretation code. And so
there, should be no need for a person to be thinking about what does this do for my
neighborhood, or how do I represent the city?



January 23, 2023 7

There's really not a tie to what we're asking them to do to a residency in the city. That's my
only request is, we think we have had a difficult time staffing this and finding, experienced
people in our community. That's one of the reasons we want to open it up and reduce the
numbers, that's the main goal. That's my only concern with having eye component of residency
is there should not be any reason that their residency is a part of, the code. So, for example, the
building code allows you, if you can't meet the code, you can come up with an alternative that
meets the intent of the code and is as good, code wise as what's required in the code. And so
you need someone with expertise, an engineer or someone in construction that can agree or
disagree that meets the code or not. I guess I say all that, that's one of our concerns is finding
qualified people in our city. And to that there really shouldn't be any bearing of what they do to
whether or not they're a resident of our city.

Council President Posalski stated my question on that, if they don't agree with this board on a
decision, what is the next step that they could take?

Mr. Flory stated there's, a state building codes division.

Council President Posalski stated essentially the decision that the board is making is going to
be predicated on what the state would rule on that particular thing, not necessarily what their
neighbor does.

Mr. Flory stated and it'll be likely.

Councilor Montero stated the City Council is not the appellant board?

Mr. Flory stated that's correct. This, ordinance is pretty specific in the appointment of, these
individuals. They have to be qualified by experience and training to pass upon matters
pertaining to building construction. We're thinking of experienced contractors, design
professionals, engineers, architects, and, opening up the residency requirement to Clatsop
County, which opens us to more of the professionals that could serve on this board.

Councilor Frank stated but it sounds like, by changing this ordinance, we would actually be
able to have this, board. And I think recently it's been hard to even attract people, to be on this.
Is that right?

Mr. Flory stated that's, from what I understand historically, it's not an often used board, so it
doesn't get appointments, that often.

Council President Posalski stated it's more of a technical board than a policy board.

Councilor Morrisey stated and how many people do you currently have on it?

Mr. Flory stated there's no members currently. All the, members, their terms have expired. But
it's slated for five seats currently.

Councilor Montero stated I don't think it's in our ordinances.

Mr. Flory stated this is, yes. We are amending Chapter 31.

Councilor Montero stated this has been ignored for years.

Mayor Wright stated well we haven't had a use for it.

Mr. Kyle stated when was last time's it was used.

Ms. Jordan stated seven years ago or so. One time the 20 years I've been here.

Mr. Kyle stated it's hard to keep it staffed for, you know, put a lot of effort to appointed people
and they participate if they can't show once in 20 years. And I think that's another reason why
we're trying to just simplify, as much as possible.

Councilor Frank stated I like how it's written.

Mayor Wright stated I skipped the, public comments piece. Is there anybody that has a
comment to make about this particular ordinance? Seeing none. I'll close the public comments.
Any other council comments? I agree that, you know, that this, is not something, you know,
let's say like the, the Convention Center Commissioner or Planning Commission even. This is
things that are kind of, and particularly since you have to have, some real skill, the, other piece
that we still appoint whoever gets put on this. We still have that control. If there's, if we see
some kind of issue that might be there, then, you know, maybe we don't, select that person.

Councilor Frank made a motion to read Ordinance 2023-01 by title only, with a second from
Council President Posalski; carried unanimously. (Frank/Posalski)

Mayor Wright stated this is Councilor Frank and Council President Posalski, any discussion
about the motion?

Councilor Frank stated I would like to make another motion that,

Mayor Wright stated let's let him read it. He needs to read it.



January 23, 2023 8

Councilor Frank stated yeah, that's right, I'm jumping ahead.

Mr. Kyle read Ordinance 2023-01 by title only.

Councilor Frank made a motion to read by title only, Ordinance 2023-01for a second reading,
with a second from Council President Posalski; carried unanimously. (Frank/Posalski)

Mayor Wright stated again, Councilor Frank, Council President Posalski. Is there any
discussion? We will bring that, back at the next Council meeting for possible, final vote.

Ms. Jordan stated he has to read it.

Mayor Wright stated I did it.

Mr. Kyle read Ordinance 2023-01 by title only.

ORDINANCE 2023-02 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMENDING CHAPTER 150
STANDARD CODES ADOPTED BY REFERENCE

Mayor Wright stated and Mr. Flory’s still there because we are going to talk about Ordinance
2023-02

Mr. Flory stated this one has a little bit more history we'll unpack just to get a good feel around
what we're trying to accomplish here. In 1995, the Council entered into an agreement with
Clatsop County on the, administration of ordinances and, codes within the urban growth
boundary for properties that are not in the city limits. In 1996, Ordinance 9617 was passed
amending that agreement, which lists the codes that, the City of Seaside will, enforce on those
properties that are not in city limits, but within the urban growth boundary. One of those codes
is the uniform code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings. In 2002, the city passed, what
was it, ordinance 2002-01, this was an ordinance deleting Chapter 150.74 Dangerous Buildings
and adopting a new chapter, Chapter 159, the, City of Seaside code for the Abatement of
Dangerous Buildings, which is based on the uniform code for the abatement of dangerous
buildings. That brings us to our current situation where at some point between 2002, and now
we have not, we no longer have the uniform code for the abatement of dangerous buildings
adopted. However, because of that 1996 ordinance, 9617 we're charged with enforcing that
code within the urban growth boundary on properties that aren't in the city. With a discussion, I
believe, the city manager had, with our, our current legal counsel, the cleanest way to address
this is to have the Council adopt the uniform code for the abatement of Dangerous Buildings
1997 edition, which is the most current edition, so that it can be enforced within the urban
growth boundary, on properties that are outside of the city limits.

Councilor Montero stated was this code written by the city or is it something, is it a state code
that we're adopting?

Mr. Kyle stated the code you're adopting was put together by the, International Council of, is it
building officials, um, the ICBO, in 1997. And that's gone through scrutiny, public comment,
and lots of revision since its current adopted form. And this code is commonly adopted by
municipalities and counties throughout Oregon and even locally here in Clatsop County. They
all have this code adopted either the 94 version or the most current, the 1997 version.

Councilor Montero stated this is real picky and it's in the, current milieu. That is I would like to
change one word, and that is on page 201.2 where it says the building official and his
authorized personnel, I would like to change that word. Wherever his or he appears to their or
them.

Council President Posalski stated is it valuable to change that for the purpose of us rewriting an
entire code?

Councilor Montero stated we're not rewriting an entire code.

Council President Posalski stated we are, because we're just adopting an existing code without
having to go through the legal ramifications of writing our own.

Councilor Montero stated well, when you write a code, you are saying this is the way the world
is, and that makes the world of a building inspector having to be male.

Mr. Kyle stated can I comment on that? I, I think Counselor Montero's point out a good point,
which is things have changed a lot since 1997 when that code was adopted. Our concern is that
the code the city has adopted was taken from the international code and then modified for our
purposes. And that's what we've adopted. We would need to go through a similar process to do
this. However, our agreement with the county is to enforce the 1997 uniform code. So if we
modify it, we are not able to enforce that. I see what you're saying in that area. Now we could
go and update the code and work on a new, agreement with the county to do that. And that may
not be, that may be a good idea. I will say that we are looking at whether or not we should
adopt this code for within our city boundaries, not just in the urban growth area, urban growth
boundary. That's maybe a discussion to have there. For as much as I agree with you, the one
thing I will say is I always prefer to defer to we're adopting their code and there's some, we
adopt our own code, there's some responsibility we're taking for the code itself, whereas I'd
rather that's farm out to outside our organization. That being said, I'd recommend that we keep
with just adopting their code and encourage them to update their language.



January 23, 2023 9

Councilor Montero stated that’s why we ask the first question, is this ours or is it somebody
else's? Because I can't see that we have the authority to, amend somebody else's. As an
acknowledgement, is there a possibility that somewhere we can say that throughout our city
documents, whenever the word, whenever the male pronouns are used, that we are, it's, I'm
going to say basically unisex.

Mr. Kyle stated I'm sure we could write that into the ordinance that we pass saying we're
passing, the city's adopting this, particular code by reference. And the city's intention is that
any references that are are, uh, gender specific, are inclusive of all genders or something along
those lines. Yes. I, I think we could do that. So we're not necessarily changing their code, but
our intent and our participation is clear.

Councilor Montero stated that would, satisfy me. Thank you.

Mayor Wright stated let me, open public comment for this discussion and see if there's
anybody who wants to talk about it. If not, public comment's closed. Are there any other
Council comments

Council President Posalski stated if we make that adjustment? Do we need to go back and
rewrite the ordinance before we have a reading of it? Or is that something else?

Mr. Kyle stated that is a great question. As my history, come from, we don't do readings, we
just adopt ordinances. And so the question is, can we have a first reading and make changes
prior to a second or a third reading?

Councilor Montero stated what I remember is.

Mr. Kyle stated I'm getting a, I'm getting a nod from the others and I would say that seems,

Council President Posalski stated that seems odd because I think from before when we've made
changes, we've had to go back to first reading. So we've decided not to in past.

Mr. Kyle stated the one thing I will say, it seems if the purpose of having multiple readings is
multiple opportunities to get feedback on it, I would think that should give us an opportunity to
make changes based on the input we're receiving. I'm going to turn it over to some people who
have been.

Ms. Jordan stated let’s use the camping ordinance for an example, Dan Van Thiel told you all
that you had passed first, second, you were on third and final, so you had to redo, if you were
going to amend it had to go back to first.

Mayor Wright stated any substandard changes.

Ms. Jordan stated you can amend it and bring it back because you haven't done the second and
third and you haven't adopted it yet.

Councilor Montero stated but the difference is, is it a substantive amendment versus an
explanatory amendment? And this is not a substantive amendment, this is an explanatory
amendment.

Councilor Morrisey stated I don't like to make any changes because the purposes of us doing
three readings is to give the public clearly what we're going to do and then we take time for
them to review it. And if we're sitting here changing what we're doing on the third reading,
then that's something that they haven't seen.

Ms. Jordan stated you can’t on third reading.

Councilor Morrisey stated or even the second because that gives them time.

Ms. Jordan stated I suggest you do first reading, make your amendment, we bring it back next
time and then that second meeting with your new amendment.

Mayor Wright stated or we just make, like you suggested a, blanket statement somewhere that,
you know, any old ordinances like that, that still include that kind of language, are superseded
by this statement.

Council President Posalski stated I don't know if there's another place we can do that to take
care of the whole.

Mr. Kyle stated my suggestion would be

Mayor Wright stated because there's a lot of other places that I'm sure have that, and rather
than fixing them one by one, unless it comes up, you're right. I would prefer just to leave it as
is right now and go ahead and do the readings.

Mr. Kyle stated we could have a separate, I don't even know if it's an ordinance, a resolution.
We'd have to look into it and, to clarify kind of the city's position on previous ordinances
resolutions and, codes adopted by the city and, and make it blanket that way. And then also
look at opportunities to change things as they come forward.



January 23, 2023 10

Councilor Frank stated so with this ordinance, it would allow us to deal with homes like the
one on Fourth Avenue. It's been sitting there, burned out for months and months that of course
everybody drives by and asks why it's still there. This would allow, give us teeth to deal with
that.

Mr. Kyle stated that home is covered under the, code that we do have adopted, which is the
Seaside code for the abatement of dangerous buildings. It's within the city limits. That one is
being dealt with as per the provisions of that code. This one is for properties that are outside of
the city limits, but within our urban growth boundary, we can start addressing some of the
issues there with this code.

Councilor Morrisey stated is there a specific property you have in mind when bringing this to
us right now?

Mr. Kyle stated there’s a property on Wahanna that we are working through the abatement
process with that, this could potentially, this is what we identified when we looked at our
authority to, remedy that situation on that property. We recognized a gap, which needs to be
fixed with this ordinance.

Councilor Morrisey moved that we read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only, with a second from
Councilor Frank; carried unanimously. (Morrisey/Frank)

Mayor Wright stated Councilor Morrisey and Councilor Frank, are there any other comments?
Discussion? Please read Ordinance 2023-02.

Mr. Kyle read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only.

Councilor Morrisey moved that we read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only, with a second from
Councilor Frank; carried with Councilor Montero opposed (Morrisey/Frank)

Mayor Wright stated second Councilors Morrisey and Frank. Again, any discussion

Councilor Dillard stated according to what Kim just said, we have the opportunity to make a
change if we don't read the second reading tonight. So I would be.

Mayor Wright stated questionable.

Councilor Dillard stated that's questionable. Are we losing anything by not reading the second
reading tonight?

Councilor Montero stated what we're losing is public input.

Council President Posalski stated and the ability to enact at next meeting

Mayor Wright stated note that Councilor Montero voted no. Please read Ordinance 2023-02.

Mr. Kyle read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only.

Mayor Wright stated that will come before us at our next meeting. We

Councilor Montero stated and so at that point then I want to ask the question, what are we
going to do about, removing gender specific?

Mr. Kyle stated I think what we can do is, look at, and I don't know what the right method is,
whether it's an ordinance or resolution, that's something that staff can talk about. We'd prepare
something to bring it back that refers to the intention of our City Council regarding any
existing code ordinance resolution. I think for the purposes of not having to go back and
readopt and rewrite everything we've passed, I agree with that in the past. I don't know what
that is. I'm sure, there are other people that have done it before and we can figure it out. And
there you go. We, may have some, some legal experts that we can get their opinion on.

Ms. Jordan stated I think recently there was information that you put in, your Council's
guidelines and policies.

Mayor Wright stated come back with some options for us.

Councilor Montero stated you know, I'm not big on policies.

COMMENTS –
CITY STAFF

AND OTHERS Mayor Wright stated we're down to the point of comments from our city staff and I don't think
we have anybody from, outside city staff. They all decided to skip out. Community
Development director, Flory, do you have anything else you'd like to add?

Mr. Flory stated not at this time.

Mayor Wright stated Public works.

Dale McDowell, Public Works Director, stated as you mentioned, some people left, they had
some other things to do. So let's start with a convention center. I wanted to let you know we
have a new board member, Ms. Dana Phillips. So glad to see her on board. The, visitor's
bureau tonight.



January 23, 2023 11

We did receive all the new visitors’ guides for this year, so we do have them at our shop. Ken
Heman came over and helped assist with that today. And then on public works, Kerri left, I
wanted to let her know about the camera grant that Anne has already got. And we're working
with, different members of the community businesses downtown. Some of the areas that she
spoke about or are in that letter we do not have covered because those are private property and
or areas that we can't service. We've completed the generator, we moved the generator from up
on Sunset Hills. It's no longer being used. We moved it out to Underhill Road. So the
Necanicum Valley, it's now propane operated rather than, natural gas because we don't have
natural gas out there, but that does all of the out of town, booster pumps for Highway 26. So
that was finished on Friday. I mentioned a couple months ago, we had King Tides coming,
thankfully enough, they didn't really materialize too much because there was no real storm
behind them. Our storm slowed down prior to, this last weekend. And we also completed all of
the exterior lighting in town. All of our street lights to LED. Matt Long finished that on Friday
as well. So everything the city has out there is LED.

Mayor Wright stated looks good. That was a long project too, wasn't it?

Mr. McDowell stated it was a long project, refurbishing every single light. It was, it cost us
about $208 per lamp. And if I go buy that same lamp itself, it's $1,800 now. So it's an
enormous savings for the City of Seaside. So we're real pleased that was finished.

Mayor Wright stated Chief Ham. You are at full staff now.

Dave Ham, Seaside Police Chief, stated we're pretty excited. You know, the two are in
training, we still don't get to use them in that capacity, however, it's, the bodies are there, so
we're, we're happy to have them. February 5th is coming up. We'll be doing a, a short little
ceremony in front of the police department to remember our friend Jason, died in 2016 and it's
probably going to be very similar to some that we've done in the past. But if anybody's
available and want to come by the PD, we'll get more details out there. I believe five o'clock is
when we were planning this. Get back to you on that one for sure. But, usually we just do
something for about 10 - 15 minutes and get some, community members, family, friends or
whoever wants to show up. February 5th, seeing that.

Mayor Wright stated did you say fifth or sixth?

Chief Ham stated February 5th.

Mayor Wright stated Chief Daniels, you made it back from your other meeting.

Chief Daniels stated I didn't actually leave yet. They're still over there. We are hosting the
Clatsop County Firefighters Association meeting tonight. All the county's over at the fire
station. I think they're doing some taser training.

Councilor Wright stated you didn't want to do that.

Chief Daniels stated we have to pull them. We are, in the process of, getting the general hired
for our seismic grants, a slow process, and I'll bring that to you the next Council meeting. So
we're getting there. I think that we might not start until this summer, which doesn't really help
with public safety buildings, but it will deal with it. Our apparatus that we, ordered last
November year and a half ago, was supposed to be here in July, should hopefully be here in the
next month. It's our four wheel drive timber wolf, explain more of that to you later as we get
that piece of equipment. We'll be working on our training tower. That guy comes on Monday
to meet with us to talk about a new training tower. There's a lot going on at the fire station,
we'll bring towards you as we get into this process. I'm looking forward to all these fun
projects.

Mayor Wright stated, Assistant City Manager, Jon.

Jon Rahl, Assistant City Manager, stated just two quick things and Spencer will elaborate on
one of them, but, two positions, critical positions. All positions are critical. I shouldn't, but two
leadership positions. I'll put it that way, that's better appropriate. Public Works director closes
February 3rd and the library director position closes February 12th. We've seen applicants
coming in for both those positions. And I'll let Spencer talk on Public Works director a little bit
more. So that's all I have.

Mayor Wright stated thank you for dinner tonight, Kim. Have you got anything else? Well, it
was, it was very much appreciated.

Mr. Kyle stated along with what, Jon mentioned, we are working on the recruitment for our
Public Works director replacement. Not that we can replace Dale, but we will make do with
what we can, and we will be creative and, see what we can do. But along those lines, kind of
what I'm going to announce tonight and, something, that will be announced to our employees
tomorrow during our, lunch is that, we're going to name, Mike Dimmick as our interim public
work director. He's currently our water foreman and has quite a vast knowledge and experience
in not just water, but all aspects of public works. And we're going to name him our interim
director, at the end of this month, I guess the beginning of next month, while we continue with
the recruitment process. We've been in talks with Dale of having him instead, having him take
a step back, but maybe helping us on some projects, turn over the day-to-day running of the
department to Mike, but have Dale continue to work on, projects, specifically, on a kind of a,
part-time or as he wishes basis so he can ease into retirement, for a limited amount of time,
while we, go through these other changes within the department.



January 23, 2023 12

And that'll give us a little bit of, an opportunity. So we appreciate Dale for being willing to do
that and, for Mike to be able to step up on this. We'll, announce that to our employees,
including the Public Works employees tomorrow at our luncheon. Along with that, for those
who are able to attend, we do have our luncheon from 11:30 to 2:00 tomorrow? If you're only
able to come for part of the time between 12 and 12:30 would be great. A couple other
reminders are, I think you're all aware, but so everyone in the public is aware, we have our,
goal setting retreat is coming up this weekend. We'll kick it off Friday evening with a dinner
and a discussion on, what we expect to get out of, our retreat on Saturday. Jon and I had a good
meeting with the facilitators this morning. They're looking forward to that. They have a good
agenda. That will be, from six to whenever we're done, eight. If you get done at 7:30, I'm not
going to hold you there. At nine o'clock we have a confirmation. We'll be at the high school,
library on Saturday. We're looking forward to that. Hopefully you're, coming with ideas and,
and the public is giving you some, great feedback. Couple of, I guess maybe one other thing I
wanted to bring up something that Jon and I have been working on, and I think I've had some
casual conversations with some of you about this, but, wanted to make sure there was an
understanding with our whole Council. One of the things we're looking forward to in the city is
hosting the League of Oregon City's conference in April, and we want to be putting our best
foot forward and whatnot. And one of the things I've thought about is, we really want to, one of
those things is, some nice gear for our Mayor and Council to represent the city. And so we do
not have a great, template, if you will, for, for the, city when it comes to branding. Our visitor’s
bureau has some great branding. Our convention center has some great branding. What we
have is our city logo, which is not easily duplicated on, say, a jacket or, or a shirt or something
like that. The same firm that did the branding work for the, visitors bureau and for the
convention center, we've got them, doing some work on some branding for the city itself that
could be used on apparel, it could be used going forward, putting it on city vehicles, things that
is consistent. You can see that there's a, that the convention center and the tourism bureau are
maybe related to each other. They're not the same, but they're related. And we wanted to come
up with something along those lines. And some of that is, I guess with the end goal of having
something ready, as we kind of showcase our city in April. You'll see, some work sessions
coming up, we're the people doing the work and will meet with us and get your feedback. And
this will be something Council driven, but with the end goal of having, even if it's just an
updated logo or something that we can put on some jackets or some shirts that, you can
represent our city at our upcoming LOC meeting. Just a heads up on that. We're excited about
it. Again, other uses will be city letterhead, email signatures, business cards, and all those kinds
of things. Just, part of our efforts to, brand the city and, kind of, elevate our, I think our kind of,
the professionalism of the city as a whole. Share that with you. I'll be looking forward to that at
some upcoming meetings. If you have any questions, feel free to come and talk to me about it.
The only other item I had, I think, Mayor you were going to address, are you going to address,
letters to our dear Governor?

Councilor Morrisey stated I have that on my list as well.

Mr. Kyle stated I will not bring that up, as I'll let you the elected body bring that up. That's all I
have for tonight.

COMMENTS –

COUNCIL Mayor Wright stated Steve.

Councilor Dillard stated again, welcome to Officer Stewart and welcome back Dana.

Mayor Wright stated Tom.

Councilor Horning stated well, I'm glad we didn't get flooded out by the, high tides and, that's
always a relief and I'm hoping everybody's having a good new year.

Mayor Wright stated Randy?

Councilor Frank stated nice to have a fully staffed police station. It's been a long, time and I
know you've worked hard at it, so it's nice. And, I think we're all thrilled to, hear that Dale will
stick around and keep, everything in order and, work as he sees needed. That's great. I like the
idea of, you know, just moving forward, maybe modernizing, I mean, we've done a lot with our
infrastructure and I think, more and more we're going to see that cameras are going to be part
of what we do. And so this mentioned tonight is just sort of a prod that we should, really
consider that in key locations.

Mayor Wright stated Seth.

Councilor Morrisey stated Mr. Mayor, I don't want to steal your thunder.

Mayor Wright stated go ahead.

Councilor Morrisey stated as we discussed, Governor Kotek did declare a homeless state of
emergency, which makes aid available, but unfortunately, we were left off the list as were all
the coastal communities. I'm personally going to write a letter, but if we wanted to do
something as a, Council or even wanted to reach out to the county or the governor, from what I
can tell we're supposed to send a formal request, a letter of appeal to the Office of Emergency
Management, and it says these letters are supposed to come from the county, but I think it
would be wise for us to, as a city, say that we have a need and, request those funds as well. I'm
going to put something together if we want to do it as a Council, I'm open to that as well.



January 23, 2023 13

Mayor Wright stated we actually had, email conversations with the county chair today, and he's
more than willing, to have us write some kind of support letter. If you want to, be the lead on
that, great. Any kind of state level work at that, we're going to try our best to make sure Salem
does not forget North Coast of Oregon in particular, Seaside.

Councilor Morrisey stated one other thing I wanted to mention is the article stated that we have
the highest rate of homelessness per capita in Clatsop County, and we were left off the list.

Mayor Wright stated along with most of the state, physically, you know, the actual area of the
state you looked at the maps that came along with those articles. Somehow or another was
mainly right in the center of the state where, you know, there's a lot of population obviously,
but there's also a lot of money there already.

Mr. Kyle stated can I ask, do we want to do, sounds like we want something on behalf of the
entire Council. Do we want to do that as a, is this a letter of endorsement to what the county's
doing, or do we want to actually pass a resolution? I think there was some, I was copied on
some of the emails and there was reference to possibly passing a resolution. I just wanted to
put that out there and see which format the Council works. Does one feel like it carries more
weight than the other? I don't know.

Mayor Wright stated I think the sooner we go with a letter would be better.

Mr. Kyle stated you can issue a letter a lot faster.

Mayor Wright stated doing a resolution would be great.

Councilor Montero stated the County Commission is going to do a resolution Wednesday
night, and so the fastest we can get going is a letter endorsing their resolution, and then we
could pass it on. If we want to do a separate resolution on top of that, I think we could. On
Friday I sent email to, all the County Commission and Don Boone and obviously everybody
here, saying what is going to be done. And I heard from Don Boone, they had started work on
it. Leanne Thompson, was pushing for it. And so this is sort of the outcome. And then Steve,
was in touch with Don Boone.

Councilor Morrisey stated to answer your questions, Spencer, I would advocate for both.

Mr. Kyle stated why don't, if you want to take a crack at a letter, that can be sent sooner. And
then, as you pass it along to us, we can use the basis of that letter to put a resolution together
and take some formal action at our next meeting,

Mayor Wright stated see what the resolution is they pass on Wednesday night and incorporate
that wording.

Councilor Montero stated and what we might want to do is let the, commissioner and, Don
Boone know that we are intending to do a letter of support and endorsement. So don't send this
off without us.

Mayor Wright stated all the Councilors agree with that, I assume. See some nodding heads
here. You have anything, Tita?

Councilor Montero stated we had a long day today. We did, and we got a lot done. And I really
like having the work sessions. It's a wonderful time for us to sit and talk things out, talk it in
public. People can see how we think, we can see how each other thinks. It's a public meeting,
and I really think it's the way to go. So thank you so much for doing that. And, congratulations
to our new, police officer and look forward to having a full house with the police department.

Mayor Wright stated now the president.

Council President Posalski stated I am continually impressed with the way that this body works
together, is able to disagree, come back together with a decision, and to be able to move
forward in unison, to be able to get things done for this city. And it is a fantastic group of
people to work with and, have beside me to be able to move this city forward effectively. The
mayor and I will be heading to the state capitol on Wednesday for the League of Oregon Cities,
and I do know that the governor will be there as well as the Senate president and the house
leaders, and both party leaders, and we will be bending some ears

Mayor Wright stated as best we can. I wanted to, make the public announcement. The Council
already knows this, but, every, couple of years we announce, particularly if there's any new
Councilors, Council liaison to each of our committees and commissions and boards that we
have. These will stay the same. Randy will continue with the airport, and Tom will continue
with Parks and Tita will continue with the library. They've done great work so far, and I
assume they'll keep it up. And Seth is taking on the convention center and tourism, and Steve is
taking on the community center. And, David is going to move from tourism to transportation to
take place where I was at. They're a bunch of great people. And, if you haven't noticed, there is
some work finally starting out here. It's not just cones and everything. We'll see how they
progress and, you know, keep, let's hope that the weather holds up, that they can get all their
work done. One thing that I will remind all of you, you get into your liaison jobs here, one
meeting in of the two we have each month. I would like a really short report during this time of
what your committee, commission, board did at the prior meeting. Doesn't have to be long. Just
tell us, okay, here's the things we're working on, and if there's anything that they would like to
come to the Council, you guys are the ones that are going to bring it.



January 23, 2023 14

I do want to thank the, Council and the staff too, because they're all involved in this. We had
five hours on Friday, five hours today, and then there'll be another, about eight hours on Friday
and Saturday. Thank you very much. We will really try not to keep that pace up. Recognize
that, y'all have other things to be doing too. But thank you very much for, really getting in here
and getting to work. Last Friday, the city department heads gave us their success stories for this
past year and priorities that they see for this next year, many of which had a dollar sign
attached, some of them didn't. And that will, help us, inform our upcoming goal setting on
Friday and Saturday, as well as our budget when we start working on that with our new finance
director back there. Anybody that's still watching this or reads, or listens or watches us later
reach out, with potential, things you think we ought to be concentrating on, you still have four
more days to get that into us. Keeping with the tradition, I've got a quote that has to do with
goals. This is from Teddy Roosevelt. “Be practical as well as generous in your ideals. Keep
your eyes on the stars, but remember to keep your feet on the ground.” With that we're
adjourned.

ADJOURNMENT The regular meeting adjourned at 7:21 PM.

_________________________________ _____________________________________
Kim Jordan, City Recorder STEVE WRIGHT, MAYOR



_____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Kim Jordan, City Recorder
Department: Business Office
Subject: Commission and Committee Vacancies
Type of Item: Discussion - Vacancies

Introduction:
The Planning Commission has one vacancy and there were two applications received from Gretchen
Stahmer, and Merlin Benjamin.

Background:
The City relies upon volunteers to help advise the City Council relating to the operations, oversight and
priorities of various programs and facilities. These committees, boards, and commissions regularly have
vacancies that need to be filled.

Budget Impact:
None

Department Review:
The Planning Commission had one vacancy to fill and two applications have been received for City
Council to review.

Alternatives:
The City Council can choose nominate one or both applicants or choose to keep the vacancy open for
additional applications.

Requested Action:
Planning Commission Motions:

“I move to nominate Gretchen Stahmer and Merlin Benjamin for the Planning Commission.”

Attachments:
1. Planning Commission information sheet, applications, and members list.



SEASIDE PLANNING COMMISSION

(Meetings are scheduled the first and third Tuesday of every month at 6:00 PM)

The purpose of the Seaside Planning Commission is to recommend and make suggestions
to the Council and to other public authorities concerning the laying out, widening,
extending and locating of public thoroughfares, the parking of vehicles, the relief of
traffic congestion, betterment of housing and sanitation conditions, and the establishment
of districts for limiting the use, height, area, bulk and other characteristics of buildings
and structures related to land development. The Planning Commission is to recommend
to the Council and other public authorities plans for regulating the future growth,
development and beautification of the city with respect to its public and private buildings
and works, streets, parks, ground and vacant lots, and plans consistent with future growth
and development of the city in order to secure to the city and its inhabitants sanitation,
proper service of public utilities, including appropriate public incentives for overall
energy conservation, and plans for shipping and transportation facilities.

The commission consists of seven members who are not officials or employees of the city
and who will be appointed by the Mayor, subject to the approval of the City Council. A
minimum of five members shall reside within the city limits; a maximum of two
members may reside within the urban growth boundary, but outside the city limits. All
members shall serve for a term of four years. A Planning Commissioner’s term of office
shall commence on the first day of November of the first year of his or her term.

No more than two members of the Commission may engage principally in the buying,
selling or development of real estate for profit as individuals, or be members of any
partnership, or officers or employees of any corporation, which engages principally in the
buying, selling or developing of real estate for profit.

The members shall serve without salary or compensation of any nature.







CITY OF SEASIDE

PLANNING COMMISSION

Term of Office: 4 years

Number of Members: 7

NAME ADDRESS PHONE TERM EXPIRES

ROBIN MONTERO* 2471 SUNSET BLVD. 206-852-1810 11/01/2023

LOUIS NEUBECKER 1859 BROADWAY 717-0153 11/01/2023

BRANDON KRAFT 760 S. EDGEWOOD ST. 503-984-2455 11/01/2024

KATHY KLECZEK** 2080 ALDERCREST 440-3232 11/01/2024

CHRISTOPHER ROSE 930 13TH AVENUE 440-0764 11/01/2025

(VANCANCY) MORRISEY 11/01/2026

DON JOHNSON 1285 6TH AVENUE 717-3746 11/01/2026

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS: MAYOR, CITY ATTORNEY, CITY MANAGER, CITY ENGINEER, CODE
ENFORCEMENT OFFICER

*CHAIR
**VICE CHAIR



____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Jeff Flory, Community Development Director
Department: Community Development
Subject: Building Board of Appeals
Type of Item: Ordinance

Introduction:

The City of Seaside Code of Ordinance provides for a Building Board of Appeals appointed by the City
Council consisting of five (5) members who reside within the City of Seaside. This request is to lower the
number of members of the board from five (5) to three (3) and expand the residency requirement to
include persons who reside in Clatsop County.

Background:

The Building Board of Appeals is appointed to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, or
determinations made by the Building Official. The Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous
Buildings Section 501 provides an appeal process for decisions or actions taken by the Building Official in
their duties enforcing the code. The Board is essential for this appellate process.

Budget Impact:

There is no budget impact to the city.

Department Review:

Currently, there is no Building Board of Appeals in place as the terms of the previous members have
expired. This request will allow the City Council to consider a broader range of qualified applicants for
appointment as staff is asking to amend the residency restriction to include all of Clatsop County. Many
of the qualified subject matter experts who do business in Seaside are not residents of Seaside;
however, they are residents of Clatsop County. This will allow for contractors, design professionals,
engineers, or other qualified persons who conduct business within the city to participate in this appeals
process.

Lowering the number of members from five (5) to three (3) will allow appointments to the board with
fewer applicants. This will allow the city to maintain a Building Board of Appeals with fewer vacancies to
fill in subsequent years.

Public Hearing:

On January 23, 2023 the City Council held a public hearing on this amendment. No comments in support
or in opposition were received. Staff has not received written comments regarding this ordinance.

After public comments, the council moved and passed first and second reading of this ordinance.

Requested Action:

Staff recommends the council make the following motion:

“I move to read Ordinance 2023-01 by title only thus amending the Seaside Code of Ordinances Chapter
31, Section 31.020 BUILDING BOARD OF APPEALS.”

Should the council affirm a third and final reading, staff recommends the council move to adopt
Ordinance 2023-01:

“I move to adopt Ordinance 2023-01.”



Page | 2

Attachments:

1. Ordinance 2023-01

Staff and/or Key Contacts:

Jerry Wade, Building Official
Jeff Flory, Community Development Director



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01 1

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMMENDING
CHAPTER 31 BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside has a Building Board of Appeals made up of five members
who are appointed by the City Council, and

WHEREAS, members of the Building Board of Appeals are bound by a residency
requirement to live within the city limits, and

WHEREAS, expanding the residency requirement to include all of Clatsop County and
lowering the number of members from five (5) to three (3) will make available subject matter
experts who conduct business in Seaside for appointment to the Building Board of Appeals,

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SEASIDE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Chapter 31, Section 31.020 BUILDING BOARD OF APPEALS is hereby
amended as follows:

31.020 CREATED.

(A) As provided by Section 204 of the State of Oregon Structural Specialty Code and
Fire Life Safety Regulations Section 150.69 of the Seaside Code of Ordinances, there
shall be and is hereby created a Building Board of Appeals consisting of five three
members who reside within Clatsop County the city limits and who are qualified by
experience and training to pass upon matters pertaining to building construction.

(B) The Building Board of Appeals is established in order to determine the suitability of
alternate materials and methods of construction and to provide for reasonable
interpretations of all city and state regulated building codes. (Ord. 85-39, passed 10-
14-85)

31.021 APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS.

The Building Board of Appeals shall be appointed by the City Council. Original
appointments shall be as follows: one appointee for one year; two one appointees for
two years; and two one appointees for three years. Thereafter, appointments shall be
for a three-year period. The Mayor, with approval of the Council, may remove a
member for cause deemed sufficient by the City Council. (Ord. 85-39, passed 10-14-
85; Am. Ord. 95-45, passed 11-13-95)

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Seaside on this day of ,
2023, by the following roll call vote:

YEAS:
NAYS:
ABSTAIN:
ABSENT:

SUBMITTED to and APPROVED by the Mayor on this day of , 2023.

STEVE WRIGHT, MAYOR
ATTEST:

Spencer Kyle, City Manager



____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Jeff Flory, Community Development Director
Department: Community Development
Subject: Uniform Code for the Abatement of

Dangerous Buildings
Type of Item: Ordinance

Introduction:

The Seaside Code of Ordinances Chapter 159 Abatement of Dangerous Buildings is the code used by
staff to abate structures that have fallen into extreme disrepair or sustained damage to such extent they
are no longer safe or habitable. This code applies to properties in the city limits of Seaside but not
properties outside of the city but within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB).

Background:

The Seaside City Council passed Ordinance 2002-01 adopting the City of Seaside Code for the Abatement
of Dangerous Buildings in February of 2002. This code is based on the ICBO’s 1997 Uniform Code for the
Abatement of Dangerous Buildings.

Ordinance 96-17 adopted by the council in June of 1996 provides for direction and responsibilities
assigned to the City of Seaside for properties located within the UGB but outside the city limits. The city
is responsible for enforcement of the provisions of the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, Sign
Code, Subdivision Ordinance, the Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings, Ordinances
for the impounding and disposition of discarded vehicles, and Ordinances requiring the cutting and
removal of noxious vegetation, tall grass, rubbish and debris. Ordinance 96-17 is specific in the codes
that can be enforced within the UGB and the Seaside Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings is
not the approved code.

Budget Impact:

There is no budget impact to the city.

Department Review:

The City of Seaside does not currently have the 1997 Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous
Buildings adopted by reference. Ordinance 96-17 is specific in that the city is to enforce the Uniform
Code for the Abatement of Dangerous buildings on properties within the UGB but outside the City
Limits. This may cause enforcement issues if it is necessary for staff to abate a dangerous building within
the UGB as we do not appear to have the appropriate code adopted.

The Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings most recent revision was 1997. The code
has gone through several iterations, revisions, public comment, and scrutiny. This code is commonly
adopted by jurisdictions throughout Oregon including locally with Clatsop County and the cities of
Astoria and Cannon Beach (1994 version).

Public Hearing:

On January 23, 2023 the City Council held a public hearing on this ordinance. No comments in support or
in opposition were received. Staff has not received written comments regarding this ordinance.

After public comments, the council moved and passed first and second reading of this ordinance.



Page | 2

Requested Action:

Staff recommends the council make the following motion:

“I move to read Ordinance 2023-02 by title only adopting the 1997 Uniform Code for the Abatement of
Dangerous Buildings.”

Should the council affirm a third and final reading, staff recommends the council move to adopt
Ordinance 2023-02:

“I move to adopt Ordinance 2023-02.”

Attachments:

1. Ordinance 2023-02

2. Ordinance 2002-01

3. Ordinance 96-17

Staff and/or Key Contacts:

Jerry Wade, Building Official
Genesee Dennis, Fire Marshal
Jeff Flory, Community Development Director



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 1

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON, AMMENDING
CHAPTER 150 STANDARD CODES ADOPTED BY REFERENCE

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside is charged with enforcing the Uniform Code for the
Abatement of Dangerous Buildings within the Urban Growth Boundary; and

WHEREAS, the City Council previously adopted the Seaside Code for the Abatement of
Dangerous Buildings which is not enforceable for properties outside the limits of the City
of Seaside but within the Urban Growth Boundary,

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SEASIDE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Chapter 150, STANDARD CODES ADOPTED BY REFERENCE is hereby
amended as follows

The following codes are hereby adopted by reference and made a part of this code,
the same as if set forth in full herein:

(A) The 1997 edition of the Uniform Housing Code, as published by the
International Conference of Building Officials.

(B) The current edition of the State of Oregon Structural Specialty Code and Fire
and Life Safety Regulations, and the 1997 Uniform Building Code, Appendix 33.

(C) The current editions of the State of Oregon Mechanical Specialty Code.

(D) The current edition of the Oregon State Plumbing Specialty Code, its standards
and administrative rules.

(E) The current edition of the Oregon Residential Specialty Code.

(F) The State of Oregon Administrative Rules, Chapter 814, Division 23, for the
placement of mobile homes, and Chapter 814, Division 28, mobile home parks.

(G) The 1997 Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings as published
by the International Conference of Building Officials for abatement of structures
on properties outside the limits of the City of Seaside but within the Urban
Growth Boundary.

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Seaside on this day of ,
2023, by the following roll call vote:

YEAS:
NAYS:
ABSTAIN:
ABSENT:

SUBMITTED to and APPROVED by the Mayor on this day of , 2023.

STEVE WRIGHT, MAYOR
ATTEST:

Spencer Kyle, City Manager



















































_____________________________________________________________________________________

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Spencer Kyle, City Manager
Department: City Manager
Subject: Support For County Resolution RE: Homelessness
Type of Item: Resolution

Introduction:
The City Council intends to show support for Clatsop County’s resolution to be included in the State’s
emergency declaration due to homelessness.

Background:
Governor Kotek issued a Homelessness State of Emergency on January 10, 2023. This declaration
included funding and resources to help combat the effects of homelessness. Unfortunately, the
declaration did not apply to many rural and coastal counties, including Clatsop County. Clatsop County
has requested to be included in the emergency declaration. On January 26, 2023 the City of Seaside
submitted the attached letter of support to Clatsop County. The Council directed staff to return with a
resolution of support at the following Council meeting.

Department Review:
City staff has reviewed the County’s resolution and find that it supports our own City’s goals, priorities
and needs relating to mitigating the effects of homelessness in Seaside. If the State includes Clatsop
County in the emergency declaration, many funds will become available to combat homelessness here
in our County and likely our City.

Budget Impact:
There is no budget impact to adopting the attached resolution. If the request from the County to the
State is successful, the effect may a positive impact to the City of Seaside in that funds may be received
to mitigate homelessness.

Alternatives:
The City Council may amend the proposed resolution or choose to take no action.

Requested Action:

If the City Council is ready to approve the attached resolution, a councilor would make the following
motion:

“I move to read Resolution #4015 by title only.”

followed by:

“I move to adopt Resolution #4015 by title only.”

Attachments:

1. Resolution #4015
2. Clatsop County Resolution
3. Letter of Support



Resolution #4015

RESOLUTION #4015

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE,
OREGON AUTHORIZING ITS SUPPORT FOR CLATSOP COUNTY’S REQUEST TO

BE INCLUDED IN EMERGENCY DECLARATION DUE TO HOMELESSNESS

WHEREAS, Governor Kotek issued a Homelessness State of Emergency on January
10, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside has reviewed the resolution, Clatsop County
Request to be Included in Emergency Declaration Due to Homelessness adopted by the
Clatsop County Commission on February 8, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside agrees with each finding and request contained
therein; and

WHEREAS, the homeless population in Seaside is exposed to some of the harshest
weather conditions in the state with the coastal environment, including high winds and
heavy rain, making conditions dangerous for our homeless population; and

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside does not have sufficient resources to adequately combat
this crisis on its own; and

WHEREAS, the City of Seaside will need to partner with Clatsop County and the State of
Oregon to help mitigate the effects of homelessness.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEASIDE, OREGON DOES
HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City Council supports Clatsop County’s request to be included in emergency
declaration due to homelessness.

Section 2. The City Council requests the Governor, through Oregon Emergency
Management, include Clatsop County in the State of Emergency Due to Homelessness and for
Clatsop County to have access to all subsequent programs, services, technical assistance and
resources to address the homelessness crisis throughout Clatsop County, including
municipalities.

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Seaside this ____ day of , 2023.

SUBMITTED to the Mayor and APPROVED by the Mayor on this day of ,
2023.

__________________________________
STEVE WRIGHT, MAYOR

ATTEST:

_________________________________________
Spencer Kyle, City Manager







                                 

 

CITY OF SEASIDE 
                                        
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

January 26, 2023  
 
The Honorable Tina Kotek 
Office of the Governor 
900 Court Street NE, Suite 254 
Salem, OR 97301 
 
Madam Governor, 
 
On behalf of the Seaside City Council, this letter serves as support for the request submitted by Clatsop 
County to be included in the State emergency declaration due to homelessness you signed earlier this 
month. We have reviewed the resolution prepared by Clatsop County and fully support the findings and 
request contained therein. 
 
Specifically, we want to reiterate and emphasize the critical conditions that exist in Clatsop County and 
Seaside in particular. Clatsop County has the highest rate of homelessness in the State of Oregon, nearly 
double the rate of the next highest County, and has seen an increase of 32% between 2017 and 2021. Our 
homeless population is also exposed to some of the harshest weather conditions in the state with the 
coastal environment, including high winds and heavy rain, making conditions dangerous for our homeless 
population.  
 
Despite our best intentions, our city simply does not have the resources of metropolitan areas to combat 
this crisis. The city, as well as many residents, businesses and charitable organizations have stepped up to 
provide some relief to our homeless population. The City of Seaside has spent in excess of an unbudgeted 
$130,000 on homeless services since April 2022 when we began tracking these costs. This is not an 
insignificant amount of money in Seaside. These efforts have stretched our capacities but also strained our 
finances, making it difficult for us to do more. More projects and programs are needed; however, the 
resources to fund them are few and far between.  If Seaside is going to be successful in reducing 
homelessness, we will need partners like the County and State to help fund those strategies.  
 
The City of Seaside respectfully requests that Clatsop County be included in your Emergency Declaration so 
that State resources may be allocated to our response to the ongoing homeless crisis.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Steve Wright, Mayor 
Tita Montero, Councilor 
Tom Horning, Councilor 
Steve Dillard, Councilor 

David Posalski, Council President 
Randy Frank, Councilor 
Seth Morrisey, Councilor 



_____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Author: Kim Jordan, City Recorder
Department: Business Office
Subject: Vacancy – Convention Center Commission
Date: September 26, 2022
Type of Item: Information City Council

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Kim Jordan, City Recorder
Department: Business Office
Subject: Liquor License Application – Adrift Hospitality SPC Ashore Hotel
Type of Item: Discussion – Liquor License Application

Introduction:
The city has received the liquor license application from Adrift Hospitality SPC Ashore Hotel.

Background:
Ashore Hotel is a business in the City of Seaside that provides lodging and a bar with locally inspired
drinks and snacks. Regional wines, Northwest Micro brews, and craft cocktails. The business is under
new ownership and they are applying for a new Commercial Full on Premises Liquor License. The new
owners are Tiffany and Brady Turner.

Budget Impact:
None

Department Review:
Ashore Hotel, 125 Oceanway Street, Seaside, Owners Tiffany and Brady Turner has applied for a Full On-
premises Sales Liquor License. This would be for a change of ownership.

“Full On-Premises Sales License – allows the sale of distilled spirits, malt beverages, wine, and cider for
consumption at the licensed business. This license also allows private catering if the applicant receives
pre-approval from OLCC”.

The Police Department has reviewed the business and applicants applying for the liquor license and has
no concerns with the application.

Criteria for consideration
The City Council, after consideration, may determine to make a favorable, unfavorable, conditionally
favorable or no recommendation to the OLCC. If the City Council makes an unfavorable or conditionally
favorable recommendation to the OLCC regarding any application for liquor license, the
recommendation will be based on a finding that one or more of the following conditions exist:

1. There is a history or pattern of illegal or disorderly activity on the premises.

2. There have been disturbances and/or other problems (such as fights, altercations, drug dealing by
patrons, furnishing alcohol to minors by patrons, public drunkenness, alcohol related litter, etc.) related
to the exercise of the applicant’s alcohol license privilege and the applicant has failed to take reasonable
and timely corrective action when notified of these problems by the police or the OLCC.

3. There is a continuing problem of noise from this business disturbing neighbors.

4. The applicant would be a poor risk for compliance with liquor laws, as indicated by a felony conviction,
which reflects on the applicant’s ability to be a responsible liquor licensee.

5. The applicant would be a poor risk for compliance with liquor laws, as indicated by a failure to comply
with liquor laws.



Page | 2

6. The applicant has a history of abusing alcohol or other controlled substances and would be a poor risk
for compliance with liquor laws.

7. The applicant has made an intentional and materially false statement about a matter that reflects on
the applicant’s ability to comply with the State’s liquor laws.

8. An un-licensable person or a party not named as applicant has an ownership interest in the business
to be licensed.

9. The applicant has failed to operate as originally proposed to the City Council, the original proposal
having been a deciding factor in the Council’s favorable recommendation to the OLCC.

10. The applicant has expanded the boundaries of the licensed premises to areas not originally considered
by the Council and without City and OLCC approval.

11. The business is located within 500 feet of a school, child care facility, church, hospital, nursing or
convalescent care facility, a park or child-oriented recreation facility, or an alcohol and other drug
treatment facility and there is evidence that the business will adversely impact the facility.

Alternatives:
City Council may choose to recommend denial of the application and state the purpose of the denial to
OLCC.

Requested Action:
“I move to approve the Liquor License Application for Adrift Hospitality SPC, Ashore Hotel.””

Attachments:
1. Seaside Police Department Recommendation.



Seaside Police Department 

Working Together We Can Make A Difference 

 

 

 

February 1, 2023 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO:  Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: Josh Gregory, Detective Sergeant 
 
SUBJECT: Ashore Hotel, 125 Oceanway Street    
 
 
The Seaside Police Department has reviewed the liquor application for Ashore 
Hotel, located at 125 Oceanway St., Seaside, OR. This is a request for a change 
of ownership with full-on premise, commercial license. The owner’s already have 
several similar businesses in operation in the Pacific Northwest. They are 
currently in business selling alcoholic beverages under the previous license, as 
well as selling at their other locations. They are in good standings.  
 
There are two owners; Brady and Tiffany Turner. I checked them through our in-
house data system, as well as TLO, and found no disqualifying information. The 
Ashore itself has not been the subject of unusual criminal activity. Being 
downtown Seaside, there are several cases regarding disturbances and various 
complaints, however, the hotel was not culpable for the activity.  
 
I did not find any disqualifying information or reason to deny this application.  
 
If you have any additional questions, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Detective Sergeant Josh Gregory 
971-326-0025 
jgregory@cityofseaside.us  
 
 
 

 

 

 

2/1/2023

mailto:jgregory@cityofseaside.us


_____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Zach Fleck, Finance Director
Department: Finance
Subject: City of Seaside Travel Policy
Type of Item: Approval and adoption of policy

Introduction:
The City of Seaside is proposing that we update our adopted travel policy.

Background:
The City of Seaside is beginning the process of reviewing adopted fiscal processes and updating them
when we find material weaknesses in the policy, or when the policy is out of date and can no longer be
responsibly adhered to. The intention of this undertaking is to create a set of adopted fiscal rules and
regulations that the City can follow, which can be updated annually and voted on by Council when they
adopt the annual budget.

Seaside’s current travel policy has been in place since August of 2017. While many of the sections of this
policy remain relevant, we sought to reduce the level of complexity in the policy while at the same time
looked to reduce the chances that City employees would have to go out of pocket while traveling at the
behest of the City of Seaside. This policy update continues to allow for necessary checks-and-balances
on City official travel.

Department Review:
We have attached the previous and proposed policies to this request. Below is a list of material changes
to the proposed policy:

 While rare, it is possible that we would need a contract employee or vendor to travel on behalf
of the City of Seaside. The new policy allows for this.

 The proposed policy adopts the standard rate as set forth by the General Services
Administration (GSA). The language in the proposed policy allows this rate to stay up to date as
the GSA releases new guidelines for reimbursement rates.

 Updated the policy for day travel, so that an employee would be allowed a meal reimbursement
or per diem if they were on approved travel for less than eleven hours in a day.

 This policy applies to any City Agent, including City Councilors. The current policy does not
adequately address how this would apply to the City Council. This clarifies that the policy applies
to Councilors while on approved City travel.

City Administration supports the proposed updates to the travel policy. It gives more discretion to
employees who must travel who would not have been eligible for reimbursement under the previous
policy, but are required to be out of the City for the majority of the day. It also updates our per diem
rates so that they are current with Federally-accepted levels, and will continue to update as those levels
are adopted. Finally, this policy continues to have safeguards that will minimize the opportunity for
fraud or abuse.



Page | 2

Budget Impact:
There will be a marginal cost impact of this policy update as we reimburse travel that occurs for the
remainder of the year under the new rates. There is no direct budget impact of this policy update. In
future years it may necessitate modest increases to travel budgets to accommodate for increases in the
standard reimbursement rates.

Alternatives:
 Council could choose not to adopt this policy update and choose not to take any action related

to the City of Seaside Travel Policy. In that event, the current policy would continue to be in
effect. While this course of action is available for Council to consider, it would increase the
chances that staff must go out of pocket due to cost overages in mileage, meals, and incidentals.

 Council could choose to modify either the current policy to better suit the situation today or
could choose to modify this policy as they see fit. Should Council choose this option then
guidance or recommendations from City staff on the updated policy may be delayed as we
analyze the new inputs.

Requested Action:
If the City Council chooses to adopt the attached policy, a councilor may make the following motion:

“I move that the City Council adopt the attached Seaside Travel Policy to take effect immediately.”

Attachments:
 City of Seaside Proposed Travel Policy

 Travel and Expense Reimbursement Policy (August 2017)

Staff and/or Key Contacts:
 Spencer Kyle: City Manager

 Jon Rahl: Assistant City Manager

 Zach Fleck: Finance Director

 Jessica Reed: Accounts Payable Accountant



Revised 12/7/2022

Travel Policy

Purpose: This policy establishes the rules and expectations for agents of the City of Seaside who are

traveling for the benefit of the City. Agents are employees, elected or appointed officials, or other

individuals who are traveling for the benefit of the City of Seaside (hereafter referred to as ‘agent’ or

‘traveler’).

Policy: The City of Seaside will pay for travel expenses that are both reasonable and necessary for agents

of the City. This travel could be due to many things, including but not limited to: training, equipment

pick up/drop off, conventions, meetings, or appearances requested by state or federal officials.

The City shall pay or reimburse the agent for lodging, meals and incidental expenses, transportation, and

other pre-approved expenses that may be necessary for the trip. Wherever possible, the agent shall

arrange with the City so that convention fees, air travel, taxis or rideshare travel, and lodging

accommodations are paid directly by the City. Travel advances require prior approval from the Finance

Director, Assistant City Manager, or City Manager.

If the agent utilizes their personal vehicle for travel, then they may be reimbursed at the going IRS rate

for mileage. This rate, generally set in January by the IRS, will be calculated from the lesser of the

agent’s home, or their typical work location to their destination. It can be found here:

https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/transportation-airfare-pov-etc/privately-owned-vehicle-pov-

mileage-reimbursement-rates

With the exception of department heads, all persons travelling shall obtain approval from the

department head at least 14 days prior to the departure date. Department heads shall obtain approval

from the City Manager or their designee.

The City shall only pay for the traveler alone, and not any accompanying persons who do not represent

the City (e.g. spouse, partner, child, etc.) unless specifically approved by City Council.

In all cases, the traveler should utilize the mode of travel that is the most economical from a cost

perspective. Should the traveler decide to use a different mode of transportation, the City will only

reimburse the cost of the most economical mode (please be prepared to illustrate and show backup

material should it be requested).

The City will not pay or reimburse the traveler for incremental costs or penalties involved with air travel

(i.e. upgrades to seating). The City shall not reimburse the traveler for amendments made to add

personal travel to the trip. Any expenses above and beyond may not be paid for with a city-issued credit

card. Expenses at this level must be paid for by the agent only.



Revised 12/7/2022

Exceptions to this policy may be allowed, but must be approved prior to travel by the City Manager or

designee.

This policy may be modified by the City Manager or designee at any time.

Meal reimbursement: The traveler has two choices to be reimbursed for meals and incidentals

associated with travelling.

 The traveler may choose to accept the per diem rate for the meals that they are missing due to

travel. The City of Seaside recognizes the per diem rate that is set by the US General Services

Administration (GSA), which can be found here: https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-

diem-rates . If you are unclear on what that rate will be, please confirm with the approving

authority for the travel. Itinerary/schedule shall be provided as backup when submitting

expenses.

 The traveler may choose to be directly reimbursed for meals associated with travel. Should the

agent choose to be directly reimbursed, then they need to turn in itemized receipts for the

meals that they wish to be reimbursed for. It is the City’s policy not to reimburse for alcohol

purchased with a reimbursed meal. Additionally, if a meal is provided for as part of an attended

event, the City will not reimburse the traveler should they choose to find a meal elsewhere. A

credit card statement showing a purchase is not sufficient for reimbursement. The maximum

amount that the City will reimburse for meals in a day shall be the daily per diem rate.

Reimbursement on travel days: If on the first day of travel you depart 90 minutes prior to your regularly

scheduled start time then you may claim 100% of the per diem rate. If on the last day of travel you reach

your destination 90 minutes after your regularly schedule end time then you may do the same.

Otherwise, on the first and last day of travel, the traveler is eligible for 75% of the daily per diem if they

have chosen the per diem reimbursement method (listed on the first bullet point above). If they have

chosen to be directly reimbursed for expenses, then the maximum reimbursement rate per meal period

is listed below.

Example: Per Diem rates for travel within Oregon



August, 2017

1

TRAVEL & EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY

City of Seaside

PURPOSE: This sets forth the City's policy as it relates to travel and reimbursement for

City employees while on city-related business.

STATEMENT OF POLICY: This policy applies to the employees and elected officials of the

City of Seaside.

POLICY: The City of Seaside will pay for all reasonable and necessary travel expenses for

representatives of the City. Every City employee as a citizen and tax payer shall practice fiscal

responsibility in the discharge of his or her duties. In the event that an employee is required to

travel outside of the local area for attendance at a conference or meeting, and multiple modes

of travel are available, the City will reimburse for the least expensive mode of travel. (i.e. if

flying is less expensive than driving, the City will reimburse at the lower cost of an equivalent

flight if the employee prefers to drive.) Anyone approving a travel request is responsible for

ensuring efficient use of the budgeted funds for travel.

Any request for an advance payment or reimbursement of travel expenses should be made

using the City of Seaside Travel Expense and Reimbursement Request Form. Conference

registration materials must accompany the request. Unless otherwise indicated, detailed

receipts must support expenses.

RegistrationandCourseFees:

The City will pay conference, seminar, meeting, training and related course fees in advance to

the company or agency providing the service through billing by purchase order & invoice,

advanced payment by check request. Every effort should be made by department personnel to

avoid requiring an employee to "upfront" registration fees and requesting reimbursement. To

ensure prompt payment submit payment request at least 14 days in advance of

event. A daily conference schedule must be submitted along with the payment request.

A cash advance to the employee to pay such fees will only be done on an emergency

basis, after Department Head approval.

Meal per Diem:

The maximum per diem for meals is $45 per day. No receipt is required for the meal per diem.

Meal expenses may be reimbursed at the per diem rate only if the traveler qualifies for lodging

expense reimbursement and the meal has not been provided by the conference/meeting or

hotel. If the traveler stays in a Bed & Breakfast, breakfast per diem would not be an allowable

expense. Continental breakfast is not considered a meal.

One day trips.

Employees are eligible to receive the meal allowance while conducting official City business if

the three-hour rule is met. To meet the three-hour rule, an employee must be in travel status

for a total of three hours beyond the employee's regular scheduled working hours in any one

day.



August, 2017

2

To qualify for breakfast, an employee must be in travel status for at least 1 1/2 hours before

official starting time. To qualify for dinner, the employee must be in travel status at least 1 1/2

hours after the regular scheduled quitting time.

Mealscan beprepaid or will be reimbursed at the following daily rates:

Meal Reimbursement in Clatsop County — Must submit detailed receipts to Finance

Department within 15 days of last day of travel. NO PER DIEM IN COUNTY

• Breakfast - $12.00 Grat included

• Lunch - $14.00 Grat included

• Dinner - $25.00 Grat included

Meal Reimbursement outside Clatsop County — Must submit detailed receipts to Finance

Department within 15 days of last day of travel. The City only reimburses up to an 18%

gratuity.

• Breakfast - $15.00 Grat included

• Lunch - $18.00 Grat included

• Dinner- $30.00 Grat included

If a meal is provided as part of the conference registration or lodging accommodation no per

diem or meal reimbursement will be granted for that meal, regardless of whether the employee

participates in the provided meal.

No additional reimbursement will be given to an employee who purchases other meals or

spends more than the allowance amount on meals without approval from Department Head.

Reimbursement beyond the amount allowed for any meal requires supporting documentation

in accordance with IRS guidelines such as a detailed receipt showing date, time, location,

number served, items purchased and amounts.

Lodging:

The City will pay lodging expenses for employee only to the hotel in advance, or by

reimbursement if paid for by the employee. Every effort should be made to secure reasonably

priced accommodations close to the training venue prior to traveling. Employees are

encouraged to request the "government rate" when securing lodging accommodations. A

detailed receipt is required in all cases.

A cash advance to the employee to pay such fees will only be done on an emergency

basis, with Department Head approval.

Travel:

Employees should work with their supervisor to determine the most cost efficient means of

travel. Travel by air is to be purchased at the lowest available rates through travel agents, on-

line or by direct means. Mileage points, discounts, or rebates earned for travel on city business

may only be redeemed on future travel for city business and in no case should they be used for

personal travel perks. A detailed receipt is required in all cases.



August, 2017

3

Employees who travel by car are encouraged to use a City vehicle and a City gasoline credit

card (gasoline cards are available in the Finance Department or by Department). It is

acceptable to take a city vehicle outside of Oregon. Reimbursement will be as follows:

1. When a city vehicle is not available, the reimbursement rate will be the standard

Federal IRS mileage reimbursement rate.

2. Personal vehicle use for local travel will be at the standard Federal rate. (If the

employee uses personal vehicle for local travel on regular basis, employee may

submit request for reimbursement once each month.)

Method of travel should have prior approval of the supervisor. Travel costs and

reimbursement (will) be limited to the lowest cost for reasonable transportation as

determined by the Department Head.

Incidental Costs:

Incidental costs for parking, transportation to and from the airport, taxi fares, rental car

costs (including added insurance), etc. will be reimbursed upon presentation of a receipt.

The City will not reimburse expenses for entertainment, purchase of alcoholic beverages or

any unnecessary or unreasonable expenses. Some items may be prepaid at a discount with

registration or with the purchase of public transportation. A detailed receipt is required in all

cases.

A cash advance to the employee to pay such fees will only be done on an emergency basis.

Advance or Prepayment of Certain Expenses:

To lessen personal financial obligations, a prepayment for per diem and/or half the IRS mileage

rate is available prior to travel. Registration, lodging and commercial travel should already be

paid to the service provider in time for discounts and to ensure availability. To qualify, a Travel

Expense and Reimbursement Request form must be presented to the Finance Department at

least 14 days prior to the scheduled trip. Conference registration materials and mileage

calculation must accompany the request. Finance will normally issue a check to the employee

the week before the scheduled business travel.

Receipts:

Upon the conclusion of a business trip, detailed receipts must be presented to the Finance

Department for advances given or to support reimbursement to the employee. Detailed

receipts are required for all reimbursable business and travel expenses except meals that

fall within the guidelines. If detailed receipts are not available other documentation in

accordance with IRS guidelines that clearly substantiates the actual expenditure may be

accepted when accompanied by a written statement to that effect from the employee.



____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Jeff Flory, Community Development Director
Department: Community Development
Subject: Comprehensive Plan RFQ
Type of Item: Contract Award

Introduction:

The City of Seaside advertised a RFQ for a Comprehensive Plan Review and Update at the end of
October of 2022. Three submittals were received in December, 2022. Staff has reviewed the proposals
and is prepared to make a recommendation to the City Council.

Background:

The City of Seaside’s Comprehensive plan was adopted in 1983 and is in need of review and updating.
Staff requested proposals from consulting firms who specialize in updating comprehensive plans for
coastal cities. The request also included an updated Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI), Economic
Opportunities Analysis (EOA), and a Housing Needs Analysis (HNA). Staff advertised the request to the
public in October on the Oregon chapter of the American Planning Association website as well as the
City of Seaside’s website.

Budget Impact:

The estimated cost of the project is $149,212.00 and take approximately 18 months to complete.
Approximately $50,0000.00 has been allocated in the FY 22/23 budget to start the project. The
remaining amount will need to be funded in the upcoming FY 23/24 budget.

Department Review:

Three firms responded to our RFQ. Of the three firms, two proposals had sufficient information to be
competitive in scoring. The significant determining factor in staff’s decision was the cost estimated by
each firm. Winterbrook Planning submitted an estimate of $320,000.00 with an additional $60,000.00 to
update the zoning ordinance. 3J Consulting estimated a cost of $149,212.00 and the third firm, Healthy
Sustainable Communities, did not provide an estimate of costs.

Staff followed up with some of the references provided by 3J consulting. Their references had positive
things to say about their professionalism, processes, and their ability to stay on schedule and on budget.
3J Consulting has experience working with cities of our size as well as coastal communities.

Requested Action:

Staff recommends the City Council make a motion to select 3J consulting to complete the
comprehensive plan and authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract to do the work. If the City
Council agrees, you may make the following motion:

“I move the City of Seaside select 3J consulting to provide services to the City of Seaside to
review and update the Comprehensive Plan and authorize the City Manager enter into a
contract on the City’s behalf.”

Attachments:

1. 3J Consulting Submittal

Staff and/or Key Contacts:

Jeff Flory, Community Development Director



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

1

Proposal for

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE SERVICES

September 29, 2021

SUBMITTED BY 3J CONSULTING
9600 SW Nimbus Ave, Suite 100, Beaverton, OR 97008
503.946.9365  ||  www.3jconsulting.com

QUALIFICATIONS FOR

Comprehensive Plan Review 
and Update

December 15, 2022

PREPARED FOR 
THE CITY OF SEASIDE

SUBMITTED BY 3J CONSULTING
9600 SW Nimbus Ave, Suite 100, Beaverton, OR 97008
503.946.9365 |  | www.3jconsulting.com



9600 SW Nimbus Ave, Ste 100 Beaverton, OR 97008 
phone: 503.946.9365 | www.3jconsulting.com

CIVIL ENGINEERING | WATER RESOURCES | COMMUNITY PLANNING

December 15, 2022

Kim Jordan, City Recorder

City of Seaside

989 Broadway 
Seaside, OR 97138

RE: Request for Qualifications for Comprehensive Plan Review and Update 

Dear Kim Jordan, Jeff Flory and Members of the Selection Commitee:

3J Consulting (3J) was founded over 13 years ago to provide Oregon clients with experienced individuals who provide attentive, personalized consulting 

services. We successfully deliver project management, land use planning and public involvement services for a variety of clients throughout the region. 

We understand that the current Comprehensive Plan was adopted in 1983. The updated plan will reflect current policies and views regarding a variety 

of key issues. The process will include a vision for Seaside developed through a robust and inclusive public participation process.  Comprehensive Plan 

policies will strengthen community livability by guiding land use decisions through 2045 or beyond.

Our team provides the following benefits to the City of Seaside:

Current Experience Providing Land Use Services on the North Coast: 3J is currently providing planning services for the Cities of Rockaway 

Beach, Garibaldi, Bay City and Gearhart. Our experience working closely with communities on the northern Oregon coast provides us with a unique 

perspective of the daily challenges and opportunities. We understand the need to balance full-time residential housing with tourism and we are also 

familiar with the coastal hazards and the need for long-term resiliency. Our Project Manager Scott Fregonese makes weekly visits to his clients on the 

Oregon coast.

Demonstrated Success in Completing Comprehensive Plans for Oregon Communities: 3J’s team has helped update dozens of Comprehensive 

Plans. We recently completed successful Comprehensive Plan Updates for North Plains, Redmond, and Sherwood, and are currently underway 

in Oregon City, Carlton, Sandy, and Scappoose. We are well-versed in the thoughtful approach needed to work with stakeholders and engage the 

community. 3J has been involved in several projects that received recognition for our approach to public involvement.   

Full-Service Team With a History of Partnering on Similar Projects: We bring an enthusiastic and experienced team to help you facilitate an 

inclusive and engaging process to update the Comprehensive Plan. To aid us in this important endeavor, we are pleased to be teaming with FCS Group.  

FCS Group provides financial analysis and economic strategies to public sector clients. They have more than 650 clients and have worked on dozens of 

projects along the Oregon Coast to address everything from housing needs assessments and economic opportunity analyses to utility finance studies 

and program funding evaluations.

We believe our team’s knowledge of working on the Oregon coast, experience completing Comprehensive Plan Updates for Oregon clients and award-

winning approach to community engagement will help the City of Seaside develop a successful Plan that will guide the community for over 20 years. We 

look forward to discussing this exciting opportunity with you. 

Sincerely, 

Steve Faust, AICP

3J Consulting Principal-in-Charge 

O: 503.946.9365 x.207

steve.faust@3j-consulting.com

Scott Fregonese

3J Consulting Project Manager

O: 503.946.9365 x.248

Scott.fregonese@3j-consulting.com



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

1

PROJECT 
APPROACH

THE FOLLOWING APPROACH BUILDS SUCCESS IN EVERY 
STEP OF THE WAY TO ENSURE THE CITY’S CRITERIA FOR 
SUCCESS ARE MET:

Plan receives approval from all local and state 
reviewing bodies.

Involvement from City staff is well coordinated and 
inclusive.

Stakeholders feel their involvement was meaningful 
and contributed to the creation of the modernized 
vision and the Plan update.

Clear expectations for involvement are set and met.

Overall project management gave staff and 
stakeholders opportunities to be fully prepared for 
their defined roles.  

Completed efforts result in positive relationships with 
agencies and other involved parties.

Updated plan accommodates expected growth and is 
action oriented.

3J CONSULTING IS CURRENTLY WORKING IN 
ROCKAWAY BEACH, GARIBALDI, BAY CITY AND 
GEARHART. OUR WORK ON THE NORTHERN 
OREGON COAST GIVES US A UNIQUE 
UNDERSTANDING OF THE CHALLENGES AND 
OPPORTUNITIES COASTAL COMMUNITIES FACE 
EVERYDAY. OUR KNOWLEDGE OF COASTAL 
HAZARDS AND THE NEED FOR LONG TERM 
RESILIENCY BRING LOCAL EXPERTISE TO THE 
PLANNING EFFORT. 

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING

As the heart of the North Coast, Seaside’s urban form and 
function is a deep reflection of its coastal and tourist industries. 
While known for its tourism and coastal recreation, Seaside 
has experienced moderate growth and development since the 
Comprehensive Plan adoption nearly 40 years ago.

Today, Seaside has become a community of 7,234 full-time 
residents with an annual growth rate of approximately one 
percent. What makes Seaside different from most other Oregon 
cities is the large number of visitors the city experiences annually, 
making the average daily population over 20,000. The challenge 
– and opportunity – is to create strategies that respond 
to the needs of the full-time residents while preserving 
and improving Seaside’s thriving tourism industry.

Working in tandem with active and informed advisory 
committees, a robust business community, and the Seaside 
community at large, the City is clearly committed to managing 
growth in a planned, cost-effective way that strengthens and 
reinforces livability in Seaside. An updated Comprehensive Plan 
will reflect community needs and values over a 20-year planning 
horizon and include new policies that incorporate views regarding 
housing, recreation, livability, economy, sustainability, housing 
affordability, coastal hazards, and historic preservation. 

Recognizing the importance of meaningful outreach to capture 
Seaside’s spirit and direction, we propose a community-driven 
process that is open, transparent and inclusive. Our approach 
seamlessly integrates the many moving parts of a comprehensive 
plan process through creative methods, valuable expertise, and 
strategic engagement.

Seaside is primed to complete its Comprehensive Plan Update. 
Aligning past efforts with the needs of the community today will 
ensure that the Comprehensive Plan Update responds to needs 
and conditions that currently exist and is championed by its 
community and stakeholders.



2

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

TASK 1.1 PROJECT KICKOFF

The 3J Consulting (3J) team will prepare for and participate in a 
kick off meeting with Seaside staff to review, refine and finalize 
the scope of work, deliverables, schedule and budget, and agree 
on roles and responsibilities, and communication protocols. 
We will agree on a preliminary list of key stakeholder groups 
and discuss public engagement and communications tools and 
strategies.

TASK 1. PROJECT MANAGEMENT

PROJECT APPROACH

TASK 1.2 PROJECT ADMINISTRATION

Throughout the process, the 3J project manager will hold bi-
weekly project management phone calls to track progress on 
key tasks and deadlines, discuss roles, identify unanticipated 
issues and develop alternative approaches as needed. To 
ensure accountability and conformance with the project 
budget, we will prepare monthly progress reports and invoices 
that describe the activities undertaken, estimate the percent 
completion of each task, and track expenditures and hours.Deliverables:

• Kickoff meeting agenda and notes 

• Refined scope of work, schedule, and 
budget

• Roles and responsibilities

Deliverables:
• Bi-weekly call agendas and notes

• Monthly progress reports and invoices



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

3

TASK 2.1 GIS DATA COLLECTION

To assess Seaside’s current conditions, our team will build a GIS 
database of available spatial data including land use and zoning, 
building permits, infrastructure and capital improvements, 
and environmental constraints. This will be accompanied 
by research into existing land use, recent commercial and 
residential development trends, and economic, housing and 
other significant developments. Because this plan can only 
be as strong as the assumptions upon which it is built, data 
gathered and analyses conducted at this stage (and all stages) 
of the plan will be internally reviewed to ensure accuracy and 
completeness. This background data will inform the community 
outreach efforts at Seaside Summits, as well as the future land 
use scenarios through the calibration of Envision Tomorrow’s 
Return on Investment (ROI) model and prototype builder.

TASK 2. EXISTING CONDITIONS ASSESSMENT

Deliverable: GIS database

3J REGULARLY USES ENVISION TOMORROW, 
A SCENARIO PLANNING TOOL THAT HELPS 
CLIENTS EXPLORE A RANGE OF POSSIBLE 
FUTURES. MORE INFORMATION ABOUT OUR 
SCENARIO PLANNING CAPABILITIES AND 
HOW THEY WILL BE USED FOR THIS PROJECT 
CAN BE FOUND ON PAGES 11 AND 15.



4

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

TASK 2.3 BACKGROUND REPORTS

The 3J team will research comprehensive plan elements through 
the review of relevant documents, such as including the existing 
adopted Comprehensive Plan and the 2010 Transportation System 
Plan (TSP). We also will collect demographic and socio-economic 
data, build a GIS database, and research existing land use, recent 
commercial and residential development trends, economic, 
housing, and other significant developments. We will conduct an 
assessment and opportunities analysis, identifying the amount 
of development, redevelopment, and preservation that might 
be expected given the anticipated increase in population and 
employment forecast along with potential impacts and associated 
opportunities. Where pertinent information does not exist, we 
will work with City staff to conduct targeted research to gather 
the necessary data. Information from these sources will be used 
to prepare a background report that describes the element and 
underlying topics as they relate to the City of Seaside.

The background reports will be written in accessible language 
and use a combination of narrative, maps, tables, and graphics to 
convey key information. A portion of the information will ultimately 
be used in the Comprehensive Plan itself. The consultant team 
will also prepare a one-page, infographic-rich topic profile to make 
the information more accessible to the public. This information 
will be compiled into a Community Profile for use at Seaside 
Summit #1 and distributed widely through various online and City 
mechanisms. 

The information from past plans, trends, and recent developments 
will also be used to inform future land use and transportation 
scenarios through the calibration of Envision Tomorrow’s ROI 
model and prototype builder. The assessment of existing 
conditions and potential redevelopment opportunities, and 
barriers to development will serve as the basis for the future 
scenarios and the rest of the project.

Deliverables:
• Background Report
• Community Profile

CITY OF SEASIDE BACKGROUND REPORT 
• What are the City’s assets? 

• What trends are driving how the topic has changed 
and will continue to change the community? 

• What are the opportunities and challenges to 
realizing the City’s vision for the topic? 

3J will prepare a one-page, infographic-rich topic profile 
to make the information more accessible to the public. We 
prepared similar materials for the City of Redmond and City 
of Sandy while updating their Comprehensive Plans and they 
were well received by all.

Deliverable: SWOT Analysis Matrix

TASK 2.2 SWOT ANALYSIS

Based on the information provided in the Background 
Report, we will design a matrix that analyzes Seaside’s 
strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT). 
We will populate the matrix with a preliminary assessment, 
in coordination with the Project Team, and present it for 
discussion among the project’s committees as a first activity 
and introduction to the process. The SWOT analysis will be 
used to frame the Comprehensive Plan Visioning process and 
designed to generate engagement around Seaside’s future.



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

5

TASK 3.1 HOUSING NEEDS PROJECTION 

The 3J team will prepare a draft housing needs projection 
consistent with OAR chapter 660, division 8. The housing needs 
projection will be used to determine the City’s residential land 
needs in Task 3.4 (Land Sufficiency Analysis). 

TASK 3.2 ECONOMIC TRENDS ANALYSIS

The 3J team will prepare a customized Economic Trend 
Analysis and employment growth forecast. Building on existing 
economic development policies, this analysis will include a 
customized business and industry clusters analysis that depicts 
which specific businesses are already clustered in the primary 
market area and those that are projected to grow or decline. 
We will utilize our proven fiscal impact methodology to better 
understand and communicate the economic and net fiscal 
benefits of specific types of employment land uses. With this 
information, we will catalog the range of site types suitable 
for target industries and allow us to identify precise economic 
development strategies geared to specific industry types.

Deliverables:
• Draft and final Housing Needs Projection

Deliverables:
• Draft and revised Economic Trends 
Analysis

The City desires to update its Economic Opportunity Analysis 
(EOA), Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) and Buildable Land 
Inventory (BLI) to account for changes in land availability and 
development activity that has taken place. These reports will lay 
the foundation for local decision making. The team will identify 
housing and employment issues and determine solutions 
needed to address the needs of all people. An effective EOA 
and HNA contain a detailed “to do list” for the City Council to 
help guide plan implementation. Defined strategic objectives 
result in near- and long-term job and housing creation with an 
efficient use of land. The adopted policies, goals and objectives 
will provide clear direction about the community’s desired 
paths and measurable outcomes. Most importantly, they 
provide a foundation for making strategic investments and 
create momentum for actions by local officials, stakeholders, 
businesses, residents and regulatory agencies. 

TASK 3. HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS

THE EOA, HNA, AND BLI WILL SERVE AS KEY 
POLICY DOCUMENTS THAT GUIDE FUTURE 
HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT 
IN A MANNER THAT ACCOMMODATES 
COMMUNITY MEMBERS AT ALL INCOME 
LEVELS.



6

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

TASK 3.4 LAND SUFFICENCY ANALYSIS

The 3J team will prepare a draft Land Sufficiency Analysis that 
addresses how much land and what zoning the City needs to 
accommodate its housing and employment needs, comparing 
the demand and supply determined in the deliverables 
produced in Tasks 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3. If the analysis shows that 
the housing and employment needs cannot be accommodated 
by the existing land supply, the Land Sufficiency Analysis 
will be developed concurrently with Task 3.5 to consider 
accommodating housing and employment needs through 
changes to the Comprehensive Plan, Development Code or UGB 
as required by OAR chapter 660, divisions 8 and 24.

Deliverables:
• Draft and final Land Sufficiency Analysis, 
including all supporting GIS and Excel 
digital files

TASK 3.3 BUILABLE LANDS INVENTORY

The 3J team will prepare a draft inventory of buildable land 
consistent with OAR chapter 660, division 8.

The Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) draft will:

• Include all assumptions made regarding the calculation 
of buildable lands, including thresholds for identifying 
developed, vacant, and partially vacant lands consistent 
with ORS 197.296 and OAR 660-024-0050.

• Identify any constrained residential and employment 
lands consistent with OAR 660-008-0005 and ORS 
197.296(4)(b).

• Identify data used to estimate housing and employment 
capacity consistent with ORS 197.296, including sections 
(4) and (5).

Deliverables:
• Draft BLI, including all supporting GIS 
and Excel digital files

• Revised BLI including staff and public 
comments received

TASK 3.5: MEASURES TO ACCOMMODATE 
NEEDED HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT, FINAL 
EOA AND HNA

The 3J team will identify options for changes to the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Map, Urban Growth Boundary 
(UGB), and the Development Code to address housing and 
employment land needs determined in previous tasks. This 
task may be completed concurrently with Task 3.4.

Deliverables:
• Options for changes to the 
Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Map, UGB 
and the Development Code to address 
housing and employment land needs

• Final draft hearing-ready EOA and HNA



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

7

STEERING COMMITTEE

A successful Vision and Comprehensive Plan process must create a shared 
sense of ownership among the Seaside community. We will convene and 
facilitate four meetings with a Comprehensive Plan Update Steering Committee 
that represents a broad cross-section of community interests such as 

business, residents, youth, seniors, and cultural groups. The Steering Committee will review 
and comment on work products, guide engagement efforts and help the 3J team host public 
outreach events and activities, act as liaisons to specific constituencies or interest groups, 
encourage community members to participate in the process, and act as champions of the 
ultimate Seaside Vision and Comprehensive Plan that emerges from this process. The 3J 
Team will develop a Steering Committee charter that establishes roles, shared ground rules 
and decision-making procedures.

The 3J Team will prepare a Public Involvement Plan to guide outreach efforts throughout the vision process. We will encourage 
community-wide participation by providing many opportunities for public exchange in a variety of formats and locations. The Plan 
will capitalize on existing City mechanisms for community engagement, establish community engagement objectives, identify the 
diverse set of stakeholders, and describe the array of tools and activities best suited to inform and engage stakeholders. 3J will 
provide a detailed written summary of community engagement results.

The Plan will also identify methods of communication to keep community members up-to-date with the project and notify 
residents, businesses, and other stakeholders about opportunities to be actively involved in the Comprehensive Plan update 
process. Public involvement and communication tools and activities include, but are not limited to Project Advisory Committees, 
Community Conversations and Interviews, Community Events, Seaside Summits, Online Engagement and Planning Commission 
and City Council Briefings.

PROJECT ADVISORY COMMITTEES

TASK 4. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

City staff will form a Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) to work alongside 
the Steering Committee, reviewing project materials and advising on technical 
issues throughout the project. The TAC also will meet four times and will consist 

of agency partners and service providers such as ODOT, DLCD, DEQ, and Clatsop County.

To the extent possible, Steering Committee and TAC meetings will be separate but scheduled 
on the same day. 3J will prepare agendas and other meeting materials for each Steering 
Committee and TAC meeting. The City will be responsible for communication with members, 
coordinating meeting logistics, and printing materials.



8

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

COMMUNITY CONVERSATIONS  
AND INTERVIEWS
We recommend taking the vision process 
out to community groups through a series 
of Community Conversations. These 

conversations will prioritize “going to where people are” – 
both in meetings and online, focusing on the spaces where 
people gather and the channels through which they receive 
information. Community Conversations should be held with a 
broad spectrum of business, educational, neighborhood, civic, 
and faith-based organizations. 

In addition to conducting up to seven phone interviews, we 
will prepare Community Conversation Kits and conduct the 
Community Conversations in a shared effort with Steering 
Committee members. The conversations will provide 
community members with information about the project and 
engage them in discussion about what they value about Seaside 
today and what could make it a better place to live in the future. 
We propose working with local partners to reach communities 
that would not normally participate in the process.

The 3J team will also conduct a set of interviews to inform the 
HNA and EOA. City staff will identify and provide introductions 
for up to ten local employers, economic development officials, 
residential developers, affordable housing providers, property 
management companies, or other relevant stakeholders. The 
team will schedule interviews with identified parties, conduct 
the interviews to help determine perceived and real barriers 
to economic and housing development, and prepare written 
interview summaries.

COMMUNITY EVENTS
Community events provide a unique 
opportunity to engage a large number of 
people in one place. Community events 
may include hosting a booth at the Seaside 

Farmers Market, the Seaside Annual Egg Hunt, or even at one 
of the Saturday Art Walks. We will use a variety of activities 
ranging from an informational booth to intercept interviews. 
Activities will be designed to create awareness of the project 
and engage youth and adults in identifying what they love 
about Seaside today and what they would change to make 
Seaside an even better place to live, work, and play in the 
future. City staff and Steering Committee members will be the 
primary staff at these events.



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

9

SEASIDE SUMMITS
3J will work with City staff and the Steering Committee to host 
three Seaside Summits. These fun and engaging community 
events are the main opportunities for Seaside community 
members to engage and share ideas with their neighbors face-
to-face.

ONLINE ENGAGEMENT
We will develop up to three online engagements to supplement 
in-person public involvement activities. The engagements will 
provide an alternative opportunity to comment for those who 
may not come to a meeting or feel comfortable voicing their 
opinions among others. The online open houses or surveys will 
coincide with each round of public involvement.

PLANNING COMMISSION AND CITY COUNCIL 
BRIEFINGS

Working with staff, we will provide regular updates to Planning 
Commission and City Council throughout the process. These 
briefings are important touchpoints to ensure elected and 
appointed officials are engaged in the process and eventual 
recommendations are supported.

Deliverables:
• Draft and final Public Involvement Plan

• Outreach and communications materials 
and activities



10

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

Creating a community vision and goals is an iterative process 
beginning with broad sets of information and refining them over 
time. Concurrent with the collection and analysis of background 
information, the first round of outreach activities, as described 
in the Public Involvement Plan, will focus on the Seaside Vision. 
We will ask the community open-ended questions about what 
they like about Seaside today and what could be improved 
in the future. We will extend these questions that align with 
Oregon Statewide Planning Goals/Comprehensive Plan 
elements, such as housing, economic development, and parks 
and recreation. 

The 3J team will organize the information gathered into 
Comprehensive Plan “topic areas.” This information will be the 
foundation of the Comprehensive Plan Vision. Following review 
from City staff, we will revise the background reports, topic 
profiles, and draft Comprehensive Plan Vision. These materials 
will be refined before presentation to the Steering Committee 
and TAC for their revisions. 

On the same trip, we will host Seaside Summit #1, where 
community members will review and comment on the draft 
Vision Statement and participate in discussions to identify 
preliminary goals for each topic area. This hands-on event 
will combine education and dialogue about the big questions 
facing the City. The Summit will feature a map-based game that 
invites participatory decision making at small group tables, and 
participants will be given a fun, meaningful way to express their 
ideas for the opportunities and long-term needs of the City – 
ranging from future growth to parks and trails, transportation, 
and natural amenities. The purpose of this charrette-type event 
will be to identify priorities and opportunities generated by the 
community that will guide scenario development for the Future 
Land Use Map update. The Summit will be supplemented by an 
online tool for community input.

Deliverables:
• Background reports and Community 
Profile

• Draft vision

• Steering Committee and TAC meetings 
and materials (2)

• Seaside Summit #1

• Online survey to collect additional 
community input

At the Seaside Summit, community members will break into 
groups and work together to create maps that highlight 

areas that are priorities to them

TASK 5. SEASIDE VISION



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

11

We will use information gathered in Task 
4 to make needed revisions to the Vision, 
draft goals for the various Comprehensive 
Plan topic areas/elements and develop 
a land use and transportation strategy. 
Land use and transportation scenarios 
will be evaluated for targeted economic 
feasibility using Envision Tomorrow and 
polices developed to direct and attract 
desired growth. Envision Tomorrow’s 
capabilities in the scenario planning 
process allow our team to help the 
Seaside community make more informed 
choices about the future. 

Using community-generated ideas from 
the public workshop, in addition to 
socio-economic analysis and baseline 
transportation data, we will identify 
several possible themes for the City of 
Seaside. Themes might include concepts 
such as: Continue growing as we have in 
the past; Attract new talent; Aging in place; 
Focus on redevelopment; and/or Strong employment and industrial growth. We will use these themes to create 3 to 4 alternative growth 
scenarios for testing and comparison. 

The second round of outreach will focus on community priorities. We will vet and refine draft goals and land use scenarios with the 
Steering Committee and TAC to ensure we are on the right track and asking pertinent questions. At Seaside Summit #2 and through 
an online engagement tool, participants will validate draft goals and review the scenarios to learn what elements best serve the 
community’s vision. 

Many of the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies will be built around the lessons learned from the scenario exercise. Topic areas 
may include housing, trails and recreation, growth management and community design. Land use scenarios also can be used to 
guide the transportation system alternatives, and our team will work closely with the City to identify transportation needs and 
strategies that best serve future development. Our team puts a high priority on multi-modal design, including active transportation, 
emerging technology and trends, commute patterns, and freight mobility. Supplemental activities will be designed to gather input 
on any community topic areas not (entirely) dependent upon the preferred land use and transportation scenario, such as policies 
related public involvement, community culture and health and wellness. Responses will provide the City with the framework needed 
to guide development of the comprehensive plan.

Deliverables:
• Draft goals and policies

• Prototype library (up to 30 building prototypes)

• 3-4 alternative growth scenarios

• Steering Committee and TAC meetings and materials (3)

TASK 6. GOALS AND POLICIES/ 
SCENARIO REFINEMENT

Land use and transportation scenarios 
will be evaluated for targeted economic 
feasibility using Envision Tomorrow and 

polices developed to direct and attract 
desired growth.



12

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

Following Seaside Summit #2, we will work with City staff, the 
Steering Committee, and TAC to refine the goals and policies 
that will form the Comprehensive Plan. 

An important part of preparing a future land use management 
plan is understanding the City’s capacity for development and 
growth while preserving resources, culture, and character. We 
will work with our team of planners, designers, and analysts 
to develop models that estimate the capacity of housing and 
jobs from both new development and redevelopment. The 
results will include a new future land use map to guide the 
City’s growth for the next 20 years. The Future Land Use Map 
will be created with guidance from the 2040 Vision and lessons 
learned from the scenarios. 

The quality of development, the location of different land 
uses, travel patterns, and community resources are directly 
influenced and affected by land use patterns and policies, 
the City’s regulatory structure, and investments in public 
infrastructure and partnerships. The Future Land Use Map 
will illustrate the City’s intention for physical development, 
redevelopment, preservation and conservation, along with 
desired future land use and development patterns for the City. 

We recommend adopting the EOA and HNA prior to the 
adoption of the Comprehensive Plan. The City will schedule and 
provide notice and an agenda for hearings to adopt the EOA 
and HNA. The 3J team will coordinate with the City on hearing 
arrangements and present updates to the hearings body or 
bodies.

The Comprehensive Plan Vision, goals and policies represent a 
significant amount of information for the Planning Commission 
and City Council to digest. While we will be briefing these 
officials throughout the process, a thoughtful and measured 
adoption process is needed to facilitate their understanding, 
input, and support.

TASK 7. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

TASK 8. ADOPTION

We will create a Comprehensive Plan document that will 
incorporate the background reports, vision, goals and policies 
for each topic area and will ensure that the policies are aligned 
with Oregon Statewide Planning goals. The document will be 
visually engaging and easy to read to clearly communicate 
and illustrate information. The draft Comprehensive Plan will 
be presented to the Steering Committee and TAC at their final 
meeting for their review and comment. Seaside Summit #3 will 
use an open house format to provide the public with a final 
opportunity to review and comment on all aspects of the draft 
Comprehensive Plan. Following Summit #3, we will refine the 
Plan to reflect community input.

Deliverables:
• Future land use map

• Draft policies and objectives

• Steering Committee and TAC meetings 
and materials (4)

• Vision Summit #3 and online engagement 
tool

• Draft and revised Comprehensive Plan

Deliverables:
• Three Planning Commission/City Council 
work sessions and presentations

• One Planning Commission hearing and 
presentation

• One City Council hearing and presentation

We propose breaking up the Comprehensive Plan into two to 
three groupings of chapters to be reviewed at a series of joint 
Planning Commission and City Council work sessions. Once 
final refinements are made, a final draft of the Comprehensive 
Plan will be presented at two hearings; one for the Planning 
Commission and one for the City Council. Having already 
reviewed the draft policies and background information for 
each of the topic areas, these bodies will be familiar with the 
complete Comprehensive Plan document for adoption.



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

13

STATEMENT OF WORK

Below is a clear statement of the services to be performed, the form they will take and the final product or result. The Project 
Approach section that starts on page 1 provides specific detail on each task.

PROJECT TASK TASK DELIVERABLES

TASK 1: PROJECT  
MANAGEMENT

• Kickoff meeting agenda and notes 

• Refined scope of work, schedule, 
and budget

• Roles and responsibilities

• Bi-weekly call agendas and notes

• Monthly progress reports and invoices

TASK 2. EXISTING CONDITIONS 
ASSESSMENT

• GIS database

• Background Report

• Community Profile

TASK 3. HNA AND EOA

• Draft and final Housing Needs 
Projection

• Draft and revised Economic Trends 
Analysis

• Draft BLI, including all supporting 
GIS and Excel digital files

• Revised BLI including staff and 
public comments received

• Options for changes to the 
Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Map, UGB 
and the Development Code to address 
housing and employment land needs

• Final draft hearing-ready EOA and HNA

• Draft and final Land Sufficiency 
Analysis, including all supporting GIS 
and Excel digital files

TASK 4. COMMUNITY AND 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

• Draft and final Public Involvement 
Plan

• Outreach and communications 
materials and activities

TASK 5. SEASIDE VISION

• Background reports and 
Community Profile

• Draft vision

• Steering Committee and TAC 
meetings and materials (2)

• Seaside Summit #1

• Online survey to collect additional 
community input

TASK 6. GOALS AND POLICIES / 
SCENARIO REFINEMENT

• Draft goals and policies

• Prototype library (up to 30 building 
prototypes)

• 3-4 alternative growth scenarios

• Steering Committee and TAC meetings 
and materials (3)

TASK 7. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

• Future land use map

• Draft policies and objectives

• Steering Committee and TAC 
meetings and materials (4)

• Vision Summit #3 and online 
engagement tool

• Draft and revised Comprehensive Plan

TASK 8. ADOPTION

• Three Planning Commission/
City Council work sessions and 
presentations

• One Planning Commission hearing 
and presentation

• One City Council hearing and 
presentation



14

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

QUALIFICATIONS 
AND EXPERIENCE 

3J provides clients throughout Oregon with exceptional land use planning, public involvement and civil engineering services based 
on reliable attention to detail and strong project management. Since its founding in 2009, 3J has helped many communities develop 
successful long-range development and redevelopment plans, as well as detailed designs for individual sites. We understand how 
planning, public involvement and engineering work must be delivered to equally support the goals of local agencies and the character 
of the communities they serve. 3J is a locally owned firm with 38 employees, including 7 full time planning staff. All work completed for 
this project will be done from our Beaverton office. 

PREVIOUS VISION AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN EXPERIENCE

Client Size Vision
Comp 

Plan

City of Canby, OR* 18,138 x x

City of Carlton, OR* 2,270 x x

City of Lake Oswego, OR 40,801 x x

City of Milwaukie, OR 21,235 x

City of North Plains, OR 3,446 x x

City of Oregon City, OR* 37,737 x x

City of Redmond, OR 36,122 x x

City of Salem, OR 177,723 x x

City of Sandy, OR* 12,869 x x

City of Scappoose, OR* 8,294 x x

City of Camas, WA 23,000 x x

City of Stevenson, WA 1,500 x x

City of White Salmon, 
WA

2,500 x

Payson City, UT 21,663 x x

Lehi City, UT 81,607 x x

Baton Rouge, LA 222,185 x x

EXPERIENCE WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS 
Our team has extensive experience preparing comprehensive 
plans and we’ve worked with over a dozen communities throughout 
the Pacific Northwest. Our comprehensive plans begin with an 
intensive process to reveal the community’s vision for the future. 
We work with community members to translate that vision into the 
goals and policies that guide future growth and development and 
actions needed to implement the vision. We recently completed 
successful Comprehensive Plan Updates for North Plains, Redmond, 
and Sherwood, and are currently underway in Oregon City, Carlton, 
Sandy, and Scappoose. 

SUBCONSULTANT - FCS GROUP
3J is partnering with FCS Group to provide the City of Seaside with a 
full service team. FCS GROUP, established in 1988, provides financial 
analysis and economic strategies to public sector clients inclusive of 
city and county governments, municipal corporations, ports, special 
purpose districts, and state agencies. As an independent and 
objective firm, FCS GROUP has delivered high-quality, cost-effective 
consulting services in over 4,000 engagements and served more 
than 650 clients, including dozens of projects along the Oregon 
Coast to address everything from the housing needs assessments 
and economic opportunity analyses to utility finance studies and 
program funding evaluations.

FCS GROUP’s staff of 35 professionals serves clients throughout the 
western United States and Canada from locations in Lake Oswego, 
Oregon; Redmond, Washington; Spokane, Washington; and Boulder, 
Colorado.

*Project currently underway



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

15

SCENARIO PLANNING
Rather than focusing on a single future for the region, we use 
scenario planning to explore a range of possible futures. For 
each project, the team develops a series of alternative growth 
land use/transportation scenarios that incorporate workshop 
participant and stakeholder feedback.

We start with a base case scenario that shows how a place 
will look, function and feel if current trends in development, 
transportation, and population growth continue. The base 
case shows us the amount of land consumed by development, 
the number of people able to access transit, and how well the 
city or region’s housing supply meet demand are all indicators 
produced via scenario planning.

Using the base case scenario as a control, we can then develop 
alternative scenarios to illustrate how policy choices today 
could affect the city-parish in the future. The team looks at 
the market, fiscal, and environmental effects of each scenario. 
We compare the alternative growth scenarios against each 
other based on community values identified during the public 
involvement process. Then, our team uses surveys and videos 
to poll residents about their preferred vision for the future. This 
preferred vision ends up as the basis of the final plan.

SCENARIO: Growth South 

Example Scenarios - Kosciusko County, IN

SCENARIO: Compact Growth  

Scott Fregonese
3J Consulting

Role: Project Manager

Julia Reisemann
3J Consulting

Role: GIS/Scenario Planning

Anaïs Mathez, AICP
3J Consulting

Role: Public Involvement Advisor

Todd Chase
FCS Group

Role: Principal Economist

Tim Wood
FCS Group

Role: Economist

Steve Faust, AICP
3J Consulting

Role: Principal-In-Charge/QAQC

Housing Density Heat 

Developed Acres 
based on Scenarios

ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK

SPECIAL RESOURCES



16

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

American Planning Assoc. Oregon 
Chapter

AFFILIATIONS

AWARDS

EDUCATION

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Rockaway Beach Current Planning; Rockaway Beach, OR

Redmond Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Redmond, OR

Our Salem, Vision & Comprehensive Plan Update; Salem, OR 

Payson General Plan; Payson, UT 

Tulsa Small Area Planning; Tulsa, OK

Imagine Irving Comprehensive Plan; Irving, TX 

Main Streets on Halsey Cooridor Plan; Wood Village, Fairview, and Troutdale, OR 

Neighborhood Plus: Revitalization Plan; Dallas, TX

TramLinkBR Corridor Plan for Baton Rouge Streetcar (2015-2016); Baton Rouge, LA

RENEWSA Cooridor Study; San Antonio, TX

Heartland 2050 Regional Vision; Omaha-Council Bluffs Metro Area, NE

FUTUREBR Comprehensive Plan; Baton Rouge, LA

Envision Utah, HUD Planning Process; UT

San Diego Regional Vision; San Diego, CA

B.S. Geography: Urban Planning, 
Oregon State University

Scott is a planner and geographer with almost twenty years of experience in land 

use and transportation planning and policy development. His work and research 

include major regional initiatives, comprehensive plans, local planning and policy, 

downtown plans, scenario planning and implementation strategies. He has a proven 

record of achievement and focuses on creative problem-solving and collaboration. 

Scott’s skills in community engagement, meeting/event facilitation, team building, 

project coordination, and complex GIS analysis enrich all of 3J’s projects.

Scott serves as an ongoing advisor on current and long range planning for Rockaway 

Beach and Ashland, OR. He also worked on Neighborhood Plus, a housing and 

revitalization plan, that was honored by the Greater Dallas Planning Council. 

STEVE FAUST, AICP
 ROLE: PROJECT MANAGER

OSU Spotlight Award



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

17

STEVE FAUST, AICP
 ROLE: PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE 

Steve is a land use planner with nearly 20 years’ experience as a facilitator and 

community engagement specialist. As a public engagement specialist, Steve has led 

dozens of public involvement processes for diverse audiences. He is responsible 

for the oversight of all public involvement tasks from developing public involvement 

plans, to designing and coordinating implementation of public outreach activities, 

to documenting and evaluating the effectiveness of those efforts. Steve is an 

experienced designer of community questionnaires and manager of online tools 

designed to gather comments from people who prefer virtual forms of participation. 

He recently led an award-winning public engagement process for the Cornelius 

Town Center Plan. Steve is a current member and Acting Chair of the Oregon Citizen 

Involvement Advisory Committee. He is a Public Involvement Provider for the 

Oregon Department of Justice Alternative Dispute Resolution program.

M.S. in Urban & Regional Planning, 
Portland State University

B.S. in Peace Studies, St. Johns 
University, Minnesota 

American Institute of Certified
Planners (AICP)

American Planning Assoc. Oregon 
Chapter

Senior-Level Public Policy Facilitator, 
Oregon Consensus

Public Involvement Provider, Oregon 
Department of Justice Alternative 
Dispute Resolution

Chair, Oregon Land Conservation & 
Development Commission Citizen 
Involvement Advisory Committee

AFFILIATIONS

REGISTRATIONS

EDUCATION

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Tillamook County, Cape Kiwanda Tourism Master Plan; Pacific City, OR

Tsunami Land Use Guide for Oregon Coastal Communities; OR 

Oregon City Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Oregon City, OR

Sherwood Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Sherwood, OR

Redmond Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Redmond, OR

North Plains Vision and Comprehensive Plan; North Plains, OR

Camas Comprehensive Plan Vision; Camas, WA

Canby Housing Needs Analysis  , Housing Production Strategy, and Economic Opportunities 
Analysis; Canby OR

Cornelius Town Center Plan; Cornelius, OR

Washington Square Regional Center; Tigard, OR

Comprehensive Plan Update Facilitation; City of Portland

Lake Oswego Comprehensive Plan Update; Lake Oswego, OR

Camas Comprehensive Plan Vision; Camas, WA

White Salmon Comprehensive Plan Vision; White Salmon, WA



18

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

Julia Reisemann
 ROLE: GIS/SCENARIO PLANNING

As GIS Manager, Julia is responsible for the collection, analysis and manipulation 

of GIS data. Quality geographic information is a cornerstone to planning and 

community building. For many projects, she works to create base case and 

alternative growth scenarios. She compiles numerous data sets which include: 

the built environment, vacant land layers, land use and parking inventories, 

identification of environmentally sensitive lands, and future master street plans. 

She is also experienced with growth capacity and build-out analysis, employment 

growth rate analysis, and redevelopment opportunity analysis.

M.S., Geography, Portland State 
University

B.S., Elementary Education, University 
of Karlsruhe, Germany

EDUCATION

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Redmond Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Redmond, OR

Our Salem, Vision & Comprehensive Plan Update; Salem, OR 

Kosciusko County Comprehensive Plan; Kosciusko County, IN

Imagine Irving Comprehensive Plan; Irving, TX

Dallas Comprehensive Plan; Dallas, TX

Heartland 2050: Omaha-Council Bluffs Regional Vision; Omaha, NE

Sustainable Communities Initiative, Las Vegas, NV

Joint Scenario Planning Project, Central Valley, CA

FUTUREBR, East Baton Rouge Parish Comprehensive Plan; Baton Rouge, LA

Compass Blueprint: Regional Vision for the Southern California Association of Governments

PLANiTULSA, Tulsa Comprehensive Plan; Tulsa, OK

The Grand Vision, Grand Traverse Region Land Use and Transportation Strategy; Michigan



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

19

AFFILIATIONS

REGISTRATIONS

EDUCATION

Anaïs Mathez, AICP 

ROLE: PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT ADVISOR

Anaïs works in various capacities as a project manager, facilitator, 

engagement specialist and writer. She helps prepare for and conduct 

public meetings, outreach activities and communications that engage 

diverse groups and a variety of stakeholders for communities across the 

state. Anaïs is experienced in facilitating meetings ranging from small 

focus groups and to large workshops. She excels at developing materials 

and presentations that use images and simple language to communicate 

complex ideas. She has led comprehensive planning processes around 

the state and conducted award-winning public engagement for both the 

Milwaukie Vision and Action Plan and the Cornelius Town Center Plan.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Oregon City Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Oregon City, OR

Sherwood Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Sherwood, OR

Redmond Vision and Comprehensive Plan; Redmond, OR

Milwaukie Community Vision and Action Plan; Milwaukie, OR

Cornelius Town Center Plan; Cornelius, OR

Washington Square Regional Center; Tigard, OR 

Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) and Economic Opportunities

Analysis (EOA); Sherwood, OR

Oregon DLCD Housing Needs, Residential Code Update; Talent, OR

Oregon DLCD Housing Needs, Residential Code Audit; Bandon, OR

Oregon DLCD Housing Needs, Residential Code Update; Springfield, OR

Equitable Housing Policy Analysis and Code Update; Oregon City, OR

Sherwood West 2018 Urban Growth Boundary Expansion; Sherwood, OR

Master of Urban & Regional
Planning (MURP), Portland State 
University

Bachelor of Science in
Geography and Environment,
McGill University, Quebec, CA

American Institute of Certified
Planners (AICP)

American Planning Association, 
Oregon Chapter (OAPA)

American Planning Association of 
Oregon, Legislative and Policy

Affairs Committee (LPAC)

Northwest Trail Alliance (NWTA)

International Mountain Bike 
Association (IMBA)

American Alpine Club (AAC)

Access Fund



20

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

EDUCATION

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

City of Lincoln City, HNA/BLI/EOA and Housing Implementation Strategy; Lincoln City, OR 

City of Coos Bay, Housing Production Strategy Implementation Plan; Coos Bay, OR  

Florence HNA and EOA; Florence, OR

Newport Affordable Housing Construction Excise Tax, SDC Methodology and Utility Rate 

Modeling; Newport, OR

Tillamook County HNA and Buildable Land Inventory; Tillamook County, OR

Strategic Plans for the Port of Bandon, Port of Umpqua, Port of Gold Beach, Port of 

Brookings Harbor, and Port of Newport.

Manzanita Indirect Cost Allocation Plan, Manzanita, OR

Port of Garibaldi and Port of Newport Federal Grant Assistance 

South Hillsboro Annexation and Funding Analysis & Implementation Strategy; Hillsboro, OR

Tigard - River Terrace Community Plan & Annexation/Funding Strategy; Tigard, OR

Wilsonville Frog Pond West and Coffee Creek Annexation and Funding Strategy, Wilsonville, OR

Beaverton Annexation Fiscal Impact Analysis; Beaverton, OR

BS, Economics, University of Florida

Coursework MAS Finance, Johns 
Hopkins University

Todd Chase is an FCS GROUP principal and economist with 37 years of experience 
in management consulting, financial analysis and economic analysis for public-and 
private-sector clients. He has managed over 150 impact studies, annexation studies, 
funding strategies, and capital facility plans, with emphasis on growth management 
and sustainable “green” infrastructure. One of his specialties is providing 
detailed economic and fiscal impact assessments of the costs and strategies for 
implementing public and private improvements. 

Todd has successfully managed dozens of large-scale land use/transportation 
plans with capital facility and funding elements; and he has assisted dozens of 
cities, counties, and states in adopting new transportation financing mechanisms 
to implement strategic projects. His work includes analysis of user fees, toll roads, 
fuel taxes, utility fees, tax rates, bonding capacity, impact fees, local improvement 
districts, benefit recovery districts, and grant accounting. 

Todd Chase, AICP, LEEDAP

 ROLE: PRINCIPAL ECONOMIST

American Institute of Certified
Planners (AICP

LEED® Accredited Professional

Consulting Engineers Council of 
Oregon, Board of Directors (2000-
2002)

Portland Metro Council of Economic 
Advisors

Clackamas Economic Development 
Commission

Oregon DLCD Economic Development 
Planning Advisory Committee

Association of Pacific Ports

AFFILIATIONS

REGISTRATIONS



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

21

EDUCATION

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

City of Coos Bay, Housing Production Strategy Implementation Plan; Coos Bay, OR  

City of Lincoln City, HNA/BLI/EOA and Housing Implementation Strategy; Lincoln City, OR 

Tillamook County HNA and Buildable Land Inventory; Tillamook County, OR

Hillsboro -  South Hillsboro Annexation and Funding Analysis & Implementation Strategy

Tigard - River Terrace Community Plan & Annexation/Funding Strategy; Tigard, OR

Wilsonville Frog Pond West and Coffee Creek Annexation and Funding Strategy, Wilsonville, OR

Pleasant Valley/North Carver Concept Plan; Pleasant Valley, OR

Beaverton Annexation Fiscal Impact Analysis; Beaverton, OR

Seattle Area Housing and Fiscal Impact Studies; Seattle, WA

BS, Economics, University of Florida

Coursework MAS Finance, Johns 
Hopkins University

Tim Wood is an FCS GROUP assistant project manager and planner/economist 
with 12 years of experience in economic and land use analysis. Tim specializes in 
demographic and market analysis, GIS analysis and community outreach.

Tim’s expertise includes housing needs analysis (HNA) and benefit cost analysis 
(BCA) solutions. Beyond his work within the economic development and master 
planning environment, Tim also works throughout the Northwest in developing 
cost recovery programs inclusive of rate and fee modeling. Tim also serves on the 
Multnomah County Planning Commission.

Tim Wood
 ROLE: ECONOMIST

American Institute of Certified
Planners (AICP

LEED® Accredited Professional

Consulting Engineers Council of 
Oregon, Board of Directors (2000-
2002)

Portland Metro Council of Economic 
Advisors

Clackamas Economic Development 
Commission

Oregon DLCD Economic Development 
Planning Advisory Committee

Association of Pacific Ports

AFFILIATIONS

REGISTRATIONS



22

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

As the contract planners for the City of Rockaway Beach, 
3J works closely with City staff and the community to 
complete both current and long-range planning objectives. 
Responsibilities include holding weekly office hours, 
reviewing development permits, updating zoning code, 
pursuing long range planning projects, and presenting to 
planning commission and city council on relevant issues. 
Project manager Scott Fregonese recently updated the city’s 
floodplain development ordinance to comply with the newest 
national flood insurance standards and is currently working 
on a project funded by a grant from the National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration to make Rockaway Beach a 
tsunami resilient community.

3J led the year-long community 
process to develop the Cape Kiwanda 
Master Plan for Tourism Related 
Facilities. The goal of the Master Plan 
is to provide a sustainable blueprint to 
improve, locate and develop tourism 
facilities and infrastructure within 
the Cape Kiwanda Focus Area. The 
framework intends to:

• protect beauty and natural 
resources

• minimize and mitigate the adverse 
effects of visitors

• improve the visitor experience

• accommodate new visitors.

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

COASTAL EXPERIENCE
3J and FCS both have vast experience working with communities on the Oregon coast. They recently partnered on projects 
in Coos Bay, Florence and Lincoln City. Their combined experience includes over a dozen coastal clients.

ROCKAWAY BEACH CURRENT PLANNING
ROCKAWAY BEACH, OR

TILLAMOOK COUNTY, CAPE KIWANDA TOURISM MASTER PLAN
PACIFIC CITY, OR

The team collaborated with over a dozen county, state and 
federal agencies, including Tillamook County Parks Department 
and Oregon Parks and Recreation Department.  
Public information sessions with residents, businesses and 
community organizations helped craft recommendations 
for improvements to existing infrastructure and create new 
tourism-related facilities.

The Master Plan includes:

• An inventory of existing and planned tourism facilities and 
infrastructure

• Recommended improvements to planned tourism facilities

• Recommended new tourism facilities

• Rough order of magnitude cost estimates

• A prioritized, phased implementation schedule.



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

23

3J team member Steve Faust helped develop an array of 
best practices and guidance tools for tsunami resilience 
in accordance with the Statewide Planning Goals and 
local government comprehensive plans along the Oregon 
Coast. In-depth research and creative thinking were used 
to develop best practice incentives and regulations for 
community tsunami resilience. The end product was the 
land use guidance document Preparing for a Cascadia 
Subduction Zone Tsunami: A Land Use Guide for Oregon 
Coastal Communities.

TSUNAMI LAND USE GUIDE FOR OREGON 
COASTAL COMMUNITIES
OREGON

Working closely with city staff and local stakeholders and 
developers, FCS GROUP and 3J identified housing issues 
and determined solutions needed to address housing 
gaps for the City of Coos Bay. This project, funded by a 
grant from DLCD, was among the first Housing Strategy 
Implementation Plans developed statewide. FCS GROUP 
highlighted important infrastructure issues, identified 
existing development constraints and opportunities, and 
evaluated existing and new housing strategies with the 
Housing Advisory Committee. The Housing Strategy serves 
as a guide for formation and adoption of locally preferred 
policies aimed at spurring private housing investment.

FCS GROUP and 3J staff prepared the Lincoln City EOA, HNA and 
BLI in 2017 and recently completed a housing  implementation 
strategy in 2022. The Housing Strategy includes new policies 
and actions that the City will undertake to help create new 
development opportunities for housing at all income levels. 
FCS GROUP assisted the City with the refinement and 
implementation of housing action strategies aimed at creating 
a public-private partnership to utilize existing public-owned 
land to leverage desired private construction in housing and 
commercial development.

CITY OF COOS BAY, HOUSING PRODUCTION 
STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
COOS BAY, OR

CITY OF LINCOLN CITY, HOUSING PRODUCTION 
STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
LINCOLN CITY, OR



24

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

OTHER RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
3J’s team members have worked on over a dozen  comprehensive plan updates for clients throughout the country. The projects 
highlighted below showcase projects for clients throughout Oregon and SW Washington.

CITY OF REDMOND, VISION AND 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
REDMOND, OR

3J prepared and implemented a work plan and budget to lead 
Redmond 2040, a city-wide effort to update the Redmond 
Comprehensive Plan. The project kicked off with a robust 
public engagement program to learn what makes Redmond 
special, what is important to protect for the future, and what 
community members would like to see change by 2040. 
Engagement activities included stakeholder interviews, 
Community Conversations, tabling at community events, and 
three Redmond Summits. The project also included scenario 
planning to envision future development and update the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan Map. The project resulted in a 
vision, goals, policies, and implementation measures to guide 
future growth and development. The Comprehensive Plan 
was adopted in fall of 2020.

 “STEVE AND ANAÏS BOTH HAVE A 
WONDERFUL ABILITY TO CONNECT WITH 
PEOPLE AND BRING OUT THE IDEAS 
THAT WILL SHAPE AND IMPROVE OUR 
COMMUNITY FOR MANY YEARS TO COME.” 

-Deborah McMahon, Planning Manager; City of Redmond



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

25

CITY OF SHERWOOD, VISION AND 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
SHERWOOD, OR

3J designed, managed and led the City of Sherwood 
Comprehensive Plan Vision, a city-wide community engagement 
process that outlined a desired future for the Sherwood 
community in the year 2040 priorities.

The Visioning Process engaged community members to develop 
a shared understanding of Sherwood today and set goals for 
policy development, anchoring a planning process that will 
address key issues for the future. 3J conducted engagement 
activities and synthesized feedback from community 
conversations, stakeholder interviews, online surveys and social 
media campaigns, two vision summits, and outreach through 
various city-wide festivals and events. The vision process had 
over 1,000 touches with the community over the course of eight 
months and resulted in a unanimous acceptance by City Council 
in January 2019. 

Upon successful completion of the vision, 3J was retained to 
manage and lead the City of Sherwood’s Comprehensive Plan 
update. 3J developed goals for key topic areas and developed 
policies and objectives to realize the vision. In addition, 3J 
facilitated advisory committees, topic area conferences and 
outreach activities to identify policy priorities.

The Comprehensive Plan was adopted unanimously in 
December 2021.

3J team member Scott Fregonese led the update of Salem’s 
Comprehensive Plan while at Fregonese Associates. The Our 
Salem project was a multi-phase project to update the Salem 
Area Comprehensive Plan to guide and plan for how and where 
the city will grow. The project included a Community Vision, 
Scenario Planning, Comprehensive Plan Update, Comprehensive 
Plan Map, zoning map, and zoning code updates. The plan 
has goals, policies, and maps that shape everything from 
where multifamily housing is built, to how our street system 
is designed, to how natural resources are protected. The 
City Council adopted the updated plan and other associated 
changes on July 25, 2022. The City is now working on a variety of 
projects to implement and advance the goals and policies in the 
updated Comprehensive Plan.

OUR SALEM: PLANNING FOR GROWTH, 
VISION AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
SALEM, OR 



26

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

CITY OF MILWAUKIE VISION AND 
ACTION PLAN
MILWAUKIE, OR

3J led, trained and managed a group of high school 
students for Milwaukie’s Youth Vision Action Team.

3J team members assisted the City of Milwaukie with a 
new Community Vision to guide an update to the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan. Tasks included facilitating a steering 
committee and advisory committee, conducting stakeholder 
interviews, developing key messages and designing a robust 
community engagement strategy. The strategy included 
methods for reaching diverse populations through associated 
translations, conducting community conversations in multiple 
languages, running a Youth Action Team to canvass local 
businesses and plan and facilitate two community-wide town 
halls, complete with childcare and simultaneous translation 
services. 

The Community Vision and Action Plan was embraced by the 
Milwaukie community, City Department Heads and the City 
Council, and was unanimously adopted in September 2017. The 
city’s public outreach efforts included:

• 5 fairs and events;

• 20 stakeholder interviews;

• 30 “Community Conversations” in 2016-17, with more than 
500 participants;

• 4 online surveys, with more than 500 responses;

• 7 Vision Advisory Committee meetings; and

• Active engagement through its website and on social media.

THE PROJECT WON THE OREGON CHAPTER OF 
THE AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION’S 
2017 AWARD FOR PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT.

3J assisted the City of North Plains with a three-year process 
to update the City’s comprehensive plan. The first year was 
a robust community process to create a 20-year vision for 
North Plains. The final vision included focus areas that led 
directly into the City’s Comprehensive Plan Update and the 
acquisition of three state grants to update the data for specific 
comprehensive plan elements. In the second and third years, 
as the City initiated work to update housing and economic 
analyses. Tasks included facilitating a Steering Committee, 
holding public meetings, administering surveys, conducting 
community conversations with a range of local groups and 
interested parties, reviewing and updating all chapters of 
the comprehensive plan, and formatting the document in 
an attractive and easy-to-read layout. The Plan was adopted 
unanimously in 2019.

3J is also assisting the City with an Urban Growth Boundary 
(UGB) expansion to accommodate the City’s 20-year 
employment and residential land needs. Phase I of the multi-
year project focused on: 1) refining the land need through 
updating the City’s housing and economic analyses based 
on 2020 population projections; 2) refining the land supply 
through updating the City’s buildable lands inventory and 
enacting land efficiency measures within the existing city 
limits; and 3) establishing the UGB expansion study area per 
state regulations. Phase 2 assessed the study area relative to 
through a Goal 14 Boundary Location Analysis.

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS VISION AND 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
NORTH PLAINS, OR



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

27

CITY OF OREGON CITY, VISION AND 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
OREGON CITY, OR

CAMAS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN VISION
CAMAS, WA

CANBY HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS, 
HOUSING PRODUCTION STRATEGY, AND 
ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS
CANBY, OR

In partnership with Otak, 3J prepared and is implementing 
a work plan and budget to lead Oregon City’s 2040 Vision 
and Comprehensive Plan Update. The project began with a 
community-wide visioning process to craft a vision for how 
to approach development over the next 20 years and guide 
city decision-making. Through community conversations, 
online surveys and virtual open houses, the visioning process 
uncovered key themes and community priorities which will 
shape the new Comprehensive Plan elements. 3J convenes 
and manages a 30-member Project Advisory Committee that 
represents diverse interests and backgrounds and is leading 
policy development for the Comprehensive Plan based on its 
new plan elements. Tasks include facilitating meetings and 
conducting workshops to identify key concepts for policies and 
implementation strategies, as well as providing regular project 
updates to the planning and city commissions. 3J is working 
with City staff and the advisory committee to draft an updated 
Comprehensive Plan that will guide City investments and 
decision-making over the next twenty years.

While at Cogan Owens Greene, Steve Faust led an effort to 
develop and implement a visioning and public outreach strategy 
for the City of Camas to guide an update of their comprehensive 
plan. Steve facilitated a vision steering committee and led a 
series of public engagement activities, including developing 
a community profile, conducting meetings with local 
organizations, administering online questionnaires, engaging 
with youth, and facilitating two vision workshops.

These activities resulted in a vision that includes various themes 
related to the comprehensive plan and a categorized list of 
action items.

In partnership with FCS GROUP, 3J is assisting the City of Canby 
with a Housing Needs Analysis (HNA), Housing Production 
Strategy (HPS), and Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA). The 
HNA will determine if Canby has sufficient land to accommodate 
residential needs over the next 20 years. Likewise, the EOA will 
determine if the City can accommodate the 20-year need for 
employment. Both the HNA and EOA include a buildable land 
inventory (land supply), studies to estimate the 20-year demand 
for jobs and housing, measures and policies to accommodate 
needed jobs and housing, a determination if there is a need to 
expand the city’s Urban Growth Boundary, interviews with key 
stakeholders, and facilitation of advisory committee and public 
meetings. The HPS identifies additional tools and actions to 
address the housing need identified in the HNA. 

3J will tailor our community outreach to the City of Seaside’s needs. 
The COVID-19 pandemic hit the US during the Oregon City Vision 
and Comprehensive Plan process. Our team worked closely with 
the City to adapt traditional community engagement strategies that 
drove broad and meaningful participation.

OTHER HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS (HNA) & 
HOUSING IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (HIP) PROJECTS:

• Oregon Cascades West 
Council of Governments

• Lincoln City

• Millersburg

• Mt. Angle

• Sweet Home

• Winston



28

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

EXPERIENCE WITH 
PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

The 3J team offers a community-driven process that is open, 
transparent and inclusive. Our approach seamlessly integrates 
the many moving parts of the Comprehensive Plan update, 
HNAand EOA processes through strategic and purposeful 
engagement. In fact, it is difficult to separate community 
engagement tasks from the technical work as each is essential to 
the other.

PROACTIVE OUTREACH
The 3J team will support the City with expert guidance on 
community engagement strategies, and design and conduct 
outreach activities. Our overall project management approach 
is based in proactive planning that remains iterative and flexible, 
building success in every step of the process. The Community 
Engagement Plan establishes consultant, City staff, and advisory 
committee roles and a schedule for public engagement, 
ensuring everyone is fully prepared for their defined roles. 
We ensure information is accessible through social media and 
website development, graphic design, open houses, surveys and 
online mapping tools.

In advance of every major touchpoint with the community, 
we prepare detailed event worksheets that outline meeting 
objectives, identify the format, space layout, and needed 
technology equipment, and describe the exercises or activities. 
We include timelines and production schedules for community 
notices and event materials. These tools are helpful for creating 
a shared understanding of roles and responsibilities within the 
team and ensures details are thought out with ample lead time.

We will encourage community-wide participation by providing 
many opportunities for public exchange in a variety of formats 
and locations. Our goal is to meet people where they already 
spend their time, rather than always asking them to attend 
another meeting. 



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

29

COMMUNICATION TOOLS

We will work with City staff to use a variety of methods to notify residents about events and other opportunities to be 
involved in the process. We seek a proper balance between these tools in order to achieve maximum engagement.

We will use the City’s project branding on all materials, ensuring 
continuity and visibility for the Vision and Comprehensive Plan 
process.

The 3J Team will develop a project website and web content to 
support the planning effort

Our team is well acquainted with social media services that 
supplement traditional public relations and media approaches. We 
will provide City staff with content for their social media platforms, 
such as the City’s Facebook and Twitter accounts  to increase 
project awareness and provide multiple avenues for community 
input.

We will prepare media releases to the Seaside Signal and other local 
media outlets for the City to distribute.

We will prepare flyers, newsletters, facts sheets and other materials to 
educate and inform the public. 

Surveys will be used to gather the general interests and positions 
of the public throughout the process. The data from these surveys 
will be aggregated and used to inform various elements of the 
Comprehensive Plan.

The City will maintain a database of e-mail addresses of people who 
express interest in the planning process. We will prepare e-blasts 
for the City to distribute to help notify people about events and 
activities. Interested parties will have several opportunities to 
join the mailing list, such as on the project website and at public 
meetings and events.

HELP PLAN THE FUTURE 
OF OREGON CITY

What do you love about Oregon City’s parks, 
trails, rivers and natural areas?

Use stickers or a pen to mark your top two choices!

The City of Oregon City launched OC2040, a citywide effort to update the Oregon City 
Comprehensive Plan that will guide land use decisions over the next 20 years. Let us know 
what you love and want to preserve about Oregon City for the future! Make sure to check 

out all 4 display boards around town, each focusing on a different theme!

Have a favorite place in Oregon City? Share your love of OC! Use #OC2040

Provide input, sign up for newsletters, 
and learn more at www.OC2040.com

Access to 
water

Parks with 
playgrounds 

and amenities

Preserved 
natural areas

Wildlife and 
fish habitat Tree canopy Connected 

trails



30

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

PUBLIC OUTREACH INTEGRATION 

As process-driven project managers and public involvement 
experts, the 3J team ensures all elements of the Comprehensive 
Plan and TSP update operate in tandem. Our approach bridges 
technical work and processes with opportunities for iterative 
review among stakeholders and the community. As part of our 
project management process, we conduct kick-off meetings with 
the internal consultant team for each major project task. These 
internal kick-off meetings provide an opportunity to review and 
confirm roles and deliverables and discuss the integration of key 
products with community engagement milestones. As a result, 
stakeholders feel their involvement was meaningful and can 
see how they contributed to the creation of the vision and plan 
updates, and community members become champions of the 
outcomes and build capacity to participate in future planning 
processes. These efforts result in seamless work products and 
positive relationships between City staff and community members.

REFERENCES

City of Salem
Eunice Kim, AICP, LEED 
GA, Long Range Planning 
Manager
503.540.2308

City of Rockaway 
Luke Shepard
City Manager
503.374.1752  
Lukeshepard@corb.us 

City of Redmond
John Roberts, Deputy City 
Manager
541.923.7750
john.roberts@ci.redmond.

“I have been impressed with 3J’s work ethic 
and timeliness and quality of deliverables, 
as well as a very strong and creative project 
management skill set that has kept our project 
on schedule and on budget.

 But more than that I appreciate how 3J has 
crafted a project strategy that is specific to our 
community’s needs. From culturally-conscious 
architectural design to public spaces explicitly 
favored by our residents, the plans being 
developed will be a true representation of our 
community’s priorities and will align with the 
goals adopted by our city leadership.”

~ Ryan A. Wells, AICP - Former City of Cornelius
  Community Development Director



SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

31

BUDGET AND TIMELINE

3J CONSULTING FCS GROUP
TOTAL

TASKS
SCF SJF PLANNER JR TC TW

EXPENSE SUBTOTAL
$194 $194 $110 $154 $290 $190 

Task 1. Project Management 14 2 16 0 $1,000 $5,864 6 14 $400 $4,800 $10,664

Task 1.1  Project Kickoff 2 2 4 $1,216 2 2 $400 $1,360 $2,576

Task 1.2  Project Administration 12 12 $1,000 $4,648 4 12 $3,440 $8,088

Task 2. Existing Conditions 
Assessment 24 0 36 12 $10,464 $0 $10,464

Task 2.1 GIS Data Collection 12 $1,848 $0 $1,848

Task 2.2 SWOT Analysis 12 12 $3,648 $0 $3,648

Task 2.3 Background Reports 12 24 $4,968 $0 $4,968

Task 3. HNA and EOA 18 0 20 56 $14,316 24 98 $600 $26,180 $40,496

Task 3.1 Housing Needs 
Projection $0 5 22 $5,630 $5,630

Task 3.2 Economic Trends 
Analysis 2 2 $696 6 26 $300 $6,980 $7,676

Task 3.3 Buildable Lands 
Inventory 10 44 $8,716 2 4 $1,340 $10,056

Task 3.4 Land Sufficency 
Analysis $0 6 26 $6,680 $6,680

Task 3.5 Final EOA and HNA 6 20 10 $4,904 5 20 $300 $5,550 $10,454

Task 4. Community and 
Stakeholder Engagement 98 12 214 6 $2,600 $48,404 6 24 $6,300 $54,704

Task 5. Seaside Vision 20 4 24 $7,296 $0 $7,296

Task 6. Goals and Policies / 
Scenario Refinement 4 2 24 30 $8,424 $0 $8,424

Task 7. Comprehensive Plan 22 12 42 6 $12,140 $0 $12,140

Task 8. Adoption 12 4 $3,104 4 4 $1,920 $5,024

Total Hours 212 36 376 110 ----- 734 40 140 ----- 180 914

Total Fees $41,128 $6,984 $41,360 $16,940 $3,600 $110,012 $11,600 $26,600 $1,000 $39,200 $149,212

SEASIDE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE COST ESTIMATE



32

SEASIDE, OREGON | Comprehensive Plan Review and Update

PROJECT SCHEDULE

Team Kickoff

SC/TAC Meetings

Seaside Summits

PC/CC Briefings, Worksessions, Hearings

▲
●
♦
■

2023 2024

TASK JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY

1 Project 
Management

▲

2
Existing 
Conditions 
Assessment

3

Housing Needs 
Analysis & 
Economic 
Opportunity 
Analysis 

4
Community and 
Stakeholder 
Engagement

5 Seaside Vision

6
Goals & Policies 
/ Scenario 
Refinement

7 Comprehensive 
Plan

8 Adoption

♦ ♦ ♦■

■

■

● ● ● ●



_____________________________________________________________________________________

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Spencer Kyle, City Manager
Department: City Manager
Subject: Appointment of City Attorney
Type of Item: Appointment and Approval of Agreement

Introduction:
The City Council intends to appoint a new City Attorney to provided professional legal services.

Background:
The charter of the City of Seaside recognizes the position of City Attorney as an officer of the City who is
appointed by the City Council. Dan Van Thiel has been the City Attorney since his appointment in 1969.
In 2022 the City Council directed the City Manager to conduct a recruitment for new legal counsel. At
the January 23, 2023 City Council work session the City Council interviewed two legal firms who had
responded to the city’s request for proposals. The two firms were Beery Elsner & Hammond LLP (BEH)
and Lane Council of Governments (LCOG).

Department Review:
The City Council conducted the interviews with each firm to determine their experience and ability to
perform the duties of City Attorney. Specifically, each firm was asked about their experience and
expertise related to:

 strengths in dealing with local government problems

 drafting ordinances, resolutions, and updating charters

 general employment and human resources law

 public records and public meeting laws

 developing and recommending policies and or laws relating to growth

 land use planning and zoning requirements

 drafting short-term vacation rental rules, regulations and laws

 navigating recent changes in law regarding unhoused populations

Based upon the proposals submitted by each firm that their response to the Council’s questions during
the interviews, the City Council directed staff to bring back an appointment Beery Elsner & Hammond
LLP as City Attorney as well as an agreement for legal services for Council consideration.

Budget Impact:
The City has previously engaged in legal services based upon a monthly flat rate of $3,604.60 ($43,225
annually). The new agreement includes a billing rate as follows:

Partners and Of Counsel $285.00
Senior Associates $275.00
Associates $265.00
Paralegals $175.00
Legal Assistants $150.00



The City realizes and recognizes that costs of legal services will likely be higher under the proposed
model. At this time, staff cannot estimate the future cost of legal services. The annual cost will depend
upon the number of items directed for legal review and their complexity. Staff is working to include
funding in the FY 2023-24 budget that will be sufficient for the City’s needs.

In addition, representatives from BEH have offered to change the form of billing to a flat rate after a
year or more of experience. The City Council and BEH can review that option at a future time. At this
time, the City’s Finance Director has indicated confidence to afford the new legal services in this fiscal
year’s budget and next year’s budget.

It is important to note that the fees charged by BEH are consistent with fees billed to municipalities for
legal services. This rate is significantly less than other organizations might find in the private sector.

Alternatives:
The City Council has directed staff to bring BEH to the City Council for appointment. The appointment is
made at the Council’s sole discretion. They City Council may also consider the other applicant or may
consider to reopen the recruitment of a City Attorney.

Requested Action:

If the City Council is ready to appoint BEH as City Attorney, a councilor would make the following
motion:

“I move that the City of Seaside appoint Beery Elsner & Hammond LLP as City Attorney and approve the
attached personal services agreement.”

Attachments:

1. Personal Services Agreement
2. BEH Proposal



 

Page 1 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

CITY OF SEASIDE 

and 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

 

THIS Agreement is made and entered into this 13 day of February, 2023, by and between the City 

of Seaside, an Oregon municipal corporation (“CITY”), and Beery, Elsner & Hammond, LLP, an 

Oregon limited liability partnership (“ATTORNEY”). 

 

WHEREAS, CITY has need for legal services with the particular training, ability, knowledge and 

experience possessed by ATTORNEY; and 

 

WHEREAS, CITY has determined that ATTORNEY is qualified and capable of performing the 

professional services as CITY does hereinafter requires, under these terms and conditions set forth below. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties agree 

as follows: 

 

1. LEGAL SERVICES  

 

ATTORNEY will provide legal advice upon request of the City Manager, City Council, 

Mayor or other consultants representing CITY. 

 

2. ATTORNEY IDENTIFICATION 

 

ATTORNEY shall furnish CITY with its employer identification number, as designated by 

the Internal Revenue Service.  

 

3. COMPENSATION 

 

A. Payment will be made to the ATTORNEY for the services identified based upon a 

detailed monthly billing showing work performed. Payment will be made within 30 

days of CITY’s receipt of the detailed monthly billing from ATTORNEY. 

 

B. Hourly rates: 

 

 Partners and Of Counsel  $285.00 

 Senior Associates   $275.00 

 Associates    $265.00 

 Paralegals    $175.00 

 Legal Assistants   $150.00 

 



 

Page 2 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

It is understood that the above rates may be adjusted or changed by ATTORNEY 

on not more than a yearly basis with not less than 60 days written notice to CITY.   

 

C. CITY shall reimburse ATTORNEY for out-of-pocket expenses at ATTORNEY’S 

direct cost without additional markup. 

 

4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

 

ATTORNEY shall be an independent contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to no 

compensation other than the compensation provided for under paragraph 2 of this 

Agreement. 

 

5. TERM AND TERMINATION 

 

At any time with or without cause, CITY or ATTORNEY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement. If CITY terminates the Agreement, it shall deliver full payment to ATTORNEY for 

services rendered to the date of termination. 

 

6. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 

A. Indemnity: ATTORNEY shall defend, indemnify, and hold the CITY, its officers, 

and employees harmless from any third-party claims that result in liability, loss, or 

expenses to the CITY, provided that such duty is limited to the proportional extent 

that the liability, loss or expense results from the negligence or willful misconduct 

of ATTORNEY in the performance of its services under this 

agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, CITY acknowledges that ATTORNEY 

in its capacity as City Attorney is acting as an Agent of the City and therefore agrees 

to be responsible under the terms of the Oregon Tort Claims Act (ORS 30.260 to 

30.300) for defending, saving harmless and indemnifying ATTORNEY while it is 

acting within the scope of its engagement as City Attorney.  

 

B. Liability Insurance: ATTORNEY shall maintain professional liability insurance insuring 

ATTORNEY against errors or omissions in the amount and on the conditions required by 

the Professional Liability Fund of the Oregon State Bar.  

 

C. Workers Compensation Coverage: ATTORNEY hereby certifies that ATTORNEY 

has qualified for State of Oregon Worker’s Compensation coverage either as a 

carrier-insured employer or as a self-insured employer. 

 

7. NOTICES  

 

All notices shall be made in writing and may be given by email or by mail, addressed as 

follows: 

 

 

 CITY:   Spencer Kyle, City Manager 

    City of Seaside 



 

Page 3 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

    989 Broadway St. 

    Seaside, OR 97138-7826 

    Email: skyle@cityofseaside.us 

 

 ATTORNEY:  Emily Matasar 

    Beery, Elsner & Hammond, LLP 

    1804 NE 45th Ave.  

    Portland, OR 97213-1416 

    Email: emily@gov-law.com 

 

 

8. WORK IS PROPERTY 

 

All work, including, but not limited to documents, drawings, papers, electronic media, and 

photographs, performed or produced by ATTORNEY under this Agreement, shall be the property 

of CITY. 

 

9. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNMENTS  

 

A. ATTORNEY shall not assign any of its obligations hereunder without the prior consent 

of CITY. 

 

B. ATTORNEY may, with CITY’S consent, subcontract services provided under this 

agreement when a specialized need for legal services arises.  

 

10. MODIFICATION  

 

Any modification of the provisions of this Agreement shall be reduced to writing and 

signed by the parties.  

 

11. NO WAIVER OF LEGAL RIGHTS 

 

A waiver by a party of any breach by the other shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent breach. 

 

12. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS  

 

The Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Oregon. To the extent 

applicable, ORS 279B.220 through 279B.235 are incorporated into this Agreement by 

reference. Venue shall be in the Circuit Court for Clatsop County, Oregon. 

 

13. INTEGRATION 

 

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior 

written or oral discussions or agreements regarding the same subject. 

 

mailto:skyle@cityofseaside.us
mailto:emily@gov-law.com


 

Page 4 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CITY has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized 

undersigned agents and ATTORNEY has executed this Agreement on the date hereinabove first 

written. 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF SEASIDE    BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

 

  

       

By: ____________________________ By:  ____________________________ 

Title: Spencer Kyle, City Manager  Title: Ashley Driscoll, Partner 

 

 

Date:  _______________________  Date:  _______________________ 

 

 

 

 

Approved by ______________ City Council on _____________________________ 

  
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 6, 2022 

 

 

SENT VIA PRIORITY MAIL 

 

Spencer Kyle 

City Manager 

City of Seaside 

989 Broadway St. 

Seaside, OR 97138-7826 

 

Re: Proposal for City Attorney Services  

  

Dear Mr. Kyle: 

 

Enclosed please find our firm’s proposal for City Attorney Services.  We have included eight 

copies as requested in the City’s solicitation.  

 

We believe the City will find that our commitment to representing only local governments 

uniquely allows us to provide tailored, cost-effective legal services, completely free of conflicts of 

interest from non-public clients.  As highlighted in the enclosed response, we are highly qualified 

to be selected as City Attorney for the City of Seaside. 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond and for your consideration of the enclosed materials.  

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you or the City Council have questions. 

 

Sincerely,  

 
Ashley O. Driscoll 

Partner 

 

AOD/yh 

Enclosures 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal for City Attorney Services 
 

Date of Submission: December 6, 2022 

 

City of Seaside 

Spencer Kyle 

City Manager 

989 Broadway St. 

Seaside, OR 97138-7826 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

A. Introduction/Statement of Understanding ............................................................... 1 

B. Qualifications............................................................................................................... 1 

1. Attorneys and Staff .................................................................................................... 1 

2. Municipal Experience ................................................................................................ 1 

3. Disciplinary Actions .................................................................................................. 1 

4. Areas of Knowledge and Experience ......................................................................... 2 

a. Land Use ............................................................................................................. 2 

b. Personnel Matters and Labor Negotiations ........................................................ 2 

c. Franchises and Franchise Fees ........................................................................... 2 

d. Taxes, Fees and Charges .................................................................................... 3 

e. Annexation ......................................................................................................... 3 

f. Police Matters ..................................................................................................... 3 

g. Public Purchasing and Public Contracting ......................................................... 4 

h. Municipal Court Prosecutions ............................................................................ 4 

i. Planning, Construction and Operation of Public Facilities ................................ 5 

j. Urban Renewal ................................................................................................... 5 

k. Open Meeting and Public Records ..................................................................... 5 

l. Government Ethics ............................................................................................. 5 

m. Election Laws ..................................................................................................... 5 

5. Litigation Experience ................................................................................................. 6 

6. Drafting Experience ................................................................................................... 7 

7. Oral Advice ................................................................................................................ 7 

C. Service Structure ......................................................................................................... 7 

D. Clients/References ....................................................................................................... 8 

E. Office Location/Process for Working with Staff ...................................................... 8 

F. Legal Backup ............................................................................................................... 8 

G. Cost of Service ............................................................................................................. 9 

H. Estimated Monthly Hours .......................................................................................... 9 

I. Form of Agreement ................................................................................................... 10 

J. Conclusion ................................................................................................................. 10 

 



P a g e  | 1 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

A. Introduction/Statement of Understanding 

 
BEH is a Martindale-Hubbell AV-rated law firm which has exclusively represented public 

bodies in Oregon and Washington since its inception in 1998.  Our attorneys have over 100 

years of combined experience serving both as general and special counsel to local 

governments.  Our expertise covers all aspects of government concern, including general 

municipal law, procurement and public contracting, real estate transactions, land use and 

zoning, labor and employment, urban renewal, annexation and withdrawals, 

intergovernmental relations, water and utility law, public works, budget and finance, public 

meetings and public records, litigation, code enforcement, regulatory matters, ethics, and 

elections.  This depth of local government experience is unmatched by any other law firm in 

the state and has earned BEH an unparalleled reputation as municipal lawyers of the highest 

caliber in both legal skill and ethical behavior.  Our commitment to representing only local 

governments uniquely allows us to provide tailored, cost-effective legal services, completely 

free of conflicts of interest from non-public clients. 

 

We understand and are fully comfortable with the scope of proposed legal services identified 

by the City.   

 

B. Qualifications 

1. Attorneys and Staff 

We include with this proposal the resumes of our eight attorneys.  The individual attorneys’ 

credentials and experience are detailed in each of the attached resumes. 

 

The firm’s attorneys are supported by two seasoned paralegals/legal assistants who help 

manage deadlines and assure the delivery of cost-effective and timely services.  Yen Huynh 

has 28 years of legal experience; she joined in the firm in 2009 and provides general 

assistance to the firm’s attorneys, specializing in litigation.  Kristen Ketchel-Bain has 16 

years of legal experience; she joined the firm in 2010 and provides general assistance to the 

firm’s attorneys, specializing in land use. 

2. Municipal Experience 

Please see the enclosed resumes. 

3. Disciplinary Actions 

There are no disciplinary actions taken or pending against any of BEH attorneys or staff members 

for the past three years with state regulatory bodies or professional organizations. 

 

 



P a g e  | 2 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

4. Areas of Knowledge and Experience 

 

Our firm is widely recognized for its expertise on the full range of topics fundamental to the 

operation of local governments.  Following is a description of our firm’s experience in each 

of the specific areas identified in the City’s solicitation: 

 

a. Land Use 

BEH is recognized as one of the premier law firms practicing land use law in Oregon.  We 

have several highly experienced land use attorneys with expertise in growth management and 

legislative matters; development review, hearings and appeals; and land use appellate 

experience.  We also serve by appointment as Land Use Hearings Officer for Washington 

County, and serve as special land use counsel for various jurisdictions, including Clatsop 

County and Hood River County. 

 

Our attorneys regularly conduct training for the Oregon State Bar on land use issues and have 

authored a new chapter in the state Bar’s treatise, “Land Use.”  One of our attorneys has 

served for many years as a legislative advisor to the State Bar’s Land Use and Real Estate 

Section and was a member of that body’s executive committee.  We also routinely provide 

comprehensive land use training for many planning commissions and city councils. 

 

b. Personnel Matters and Labor Negotiations 

Several of our attorneys are accomplished in personnel and employment law matters, 

including advising public bodies on discipline and discharge, wage and hour compliance, 

reductions in force, military leave, medical leave and accommodations, harassment 

investigations and complaints, whistleblowing and retaliation complaints.  We also routinely 

update personnel handbooks, policies and forms, and draft employment contracts as well as 

separation and settlement agreements for our clients.  Two of our attorneys hold professional 

certificates in workplace investigations and regularly conduct investigations as special legal 

counsel for various jurisdictions in Oregon.    

 

Our experience with labor law matters includes providing routine advice on interpreting and 

enforcing labor agreements, conducting labor negotiations, labor arbitrations, representing 

employers in unit representation and unit clarification matters, defending unfair labor 

practice complaints, and settling grievances.  One of our attorneys serves as special labor 

counsel to a number of jurisdictions, in addition to advising our full-time clients. 

 

c. Franchises and Franchise Fees 

Our firm has a long history of working on franchise matters for our clients.  Currently, we 

assist clients on various franchise matters, especially those dealing with solid waste haulers. 

While we also work with clients on other franchise related matters, such as with telecom and 

cable companies, we find that it is much more cost-effective for our clients for our firm to 

subcontract much of this work with attorneys who specialize in this area of law.  One of our 

former colleagues, Nancy Werner, is a nationally known expert in this area, and subcontracts 

with us for several of our clients to ensure the best work product possible.  In conjunction 

with our work with Nancy, we also remain abreast of current topics in this area and often 

assist with various negotiation and compliance matters, including drafting ordinances 



P a g e  | 3 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

addressing right-of-way management and compensation from utilities, and advising clients 

on issues of authority and preemption under the many state and federal laws and regulations 

that impact franchising.  The firm’s franchising experience also includes working with gas 

and electric providers.   

 

d. Taxes, Fees and Charges 

We have litigated matters in a wide range of municipal law topics, including system 

development charges (SDCs), municipal financing of improvements, and governmental 

authority to charge fees and taxes.  We have advised clients about the relationship between 

various user and utility fees and Measures 5 and 50.  We also have significant experience 

providing day-to-day assistance with these matters, including establishing and amending 

SDCs for a wide variety of capital improvements, successfully defending clients against SDC 

challenges brought by home builders, as well as SDC alternatives such as establishing local 

improvement districts, advance financing/reimbursement districts, and economic 

improvement districts. 

 

Our counsel on financial matters such as these is tailored to the individual client’s objectives 

and challenges.  Through our depth of experience our attorneys can present and analyze a 

myriad of options for clients and work through challenges specific to the project at hand.  For 

example, our firm recently advised the City of Cannon Beach through the implementation of 

a new tax on prepared foods, which the city is using to fund emergency services and a new 

city hall and police station.  Our firm also regularly advises Cannon Beach and other clients 

on issues related to transient lodging taxes.  

 

Two of our attorneys drafted the Legal Guide to Collecting Lodging Tax in Oregon for the 

League of Oregon Cities, published in 2019.  Two other attorneys drafted the Economic 

Development chapter of the Oregon Municipal Handbook, published in October 2022.  This 

chapter provided a comprehensive overview of the Oregon laws pertaining to urban renewal, 

economic improvement districts, and enterprise zones.   

 

e. Annexation 

Our firm is recognized for its depth and expertise in this important aspect of municipal law.  

We are knowledgeable not only about the legal provisions applicable to annexation, but also 

about the significant political ramifications that can ensue from annexation policy. 

 

f. Police Matters 

Advising police and other public safety officers is an important aspect of assisting our clients 

in providing an integral service to their communities.  We work closely with law 

enforcement leadership to find creative solutions to protect public safety officers and citizens 

alike.  We often assist with drafting policies and procedures; search and seizure issues; labor 

issues; responding to subpoenas on behalf of officers; responding to public records requests; 

and providing training and updates on qualified immunity issues.  We have spoken on the 

legal issues surrounding body cameras and we stay abreast of “best practice” issues in law 

enforcement.   

 

 



P a g e  | 4 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

A recent example of this work includes working closely with law enforcement leaders and 

city councils to guide jurisdictions through issues related to camping and homeless 

populations.  In these types of discussions our attorneys provided staff and council 

background on the legal issues, options to consider, and then advice on how to move forward 

based on the client’s desires and risk tolerance.  Our attorneys then worked closely with staff 

to recommend amendments to the city’s code, if necessary, and with law enforcement staff 

on how to implement any changes.  Although each community is unique, we find that on 

these types of statewide issues, our experience working with a large number of jurisdictions 

is advantageous (and often cost-effective) to each client as we can share experiences and 

knowledge learned through working with other clients.  

 

g. Public Purchasing and Public Contracting 

Our firm advises all clients regarding all aspects of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and 

the requirements it imposes on their procurement of personal services, construction services, 

and goods and trade services.   

 

Over the years, we have developed a comprehensive set of local procurement rules and have 

adapted them for many of our clients.  This has enabled each of these clients to establish 

extensive new regulations at a very reasonable cost.  We stay current on all legal 

requirements in this area.  We routinely assist clients with developing complex solicitation 

documents and advise our clients on the competitive bidding process, design-build 

alternatives, and CM/GC approach to larger public construction projects.  In addition, we 

assist our clients in the handling of bid protests, bidding irregularities, and litigation arising 

out of the award or performance of public contracts.  We also assist contract managers with 

the negotiation of requested revisions to standard contract language and in evaluating the 

risks related to proposed deviations from the requirements in those contracts. 

 

h. Municipal Court Prosecutions 

Our firm routinely assists our clients in the enforcement of codes, including nuisance 

abatement, dangerous buildings and permit, and land use violations in municipal court.  We 

successfully defended the City of Dayton in two challenges arising from an enforcement 

decision in the city’s municipal court.  The city cited a property owner who was illegally 

operating a short-term rental.  The owner appealed the citation to the municipal court, which 

upheld the citation.  The owner twice challenged the municipal court’s decision in circuit 

court where both cases were dismissed on procedural grounds.  The owner then appealed the 

decisions to the Court of Appeals, which upheld the circuit court’s decisions in both cases.  

 

We also regularly advise the municipal court clerk on procedural issues, draft settlement 

agreements, and prepare motions and judgments as requested.  However, with respect to the 

prosecution of routine traffic infractions and other similar municipal court matters, we find 

that utilizing the services of outside counsel whose practice is focused on prosecution of such 

cases is more cost-effective for our clients.  We have assisted many of our clients in retaining 

the services of a municipal court prosecutor and those relationships have proven quite 

beneficial for the cities. 

 
 



P a g e  | 5 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

i. Planning, Construction and Operation of Public Facilities 

The attorneys at BEH have worked with our clients to plan, construct and operate various 

public facilities ranging from police and fire stations, city halls/civic centers, public work 

facilities, water treatment plants, to libraries and community/recreation centers.  Additional 

related work has included working with community partners on affordable housing projects, 

including a mixed-use library/affordable housing project in Cornelius, Oregon, as well as the 

building of a minor league baseball stadium in Hillsboro, Oregon.  Our assistance begins at 

the feasibility and planning stages, then working on finance and funding matters, through the 

public contracting and construction phases and into operations.    

 

j. Urban Renewal 

Our firm is one of a very few actively practicing and experienced in urban renewal law.  We 

currently serve as general counsel to several urban renewal agencies, including the Hillsboro 

Economic Development Commission, the Corvallis Urban Renewal Agency, and the Canby 

Urban Renewal Board, and have advised the Portland Development Commission—Oregon’s 

largest urban renewal agency—on a variety of topics, including public/private partnerships.  

We have a keen understanding of the politics that inform urban renewal, particularly the 

establishment of new urban renewal areas in the wake of recent legislative changes granting 

other taxing authorities more input into the process. 

 

k. Open Meeting and Public Records  

Questions regarding public records and meeting law are a nearly daily experience in our 

office.  Our attorneys regularly conduct training and presentations in these topic areas and 

often provide newly elected officials with initial training.  We are accustomed to assisting 

with public records requests and are well-versed in the lawful conduct of public meetings, 

hearings and executive sessions.  We have decades of experience advising elected and 

appointed officials in public meeting matters, including parliamentary procedure.  We are 

recognized as experts in this area of law and are often asked to speak at statewide 

conferences and trainings on public records and meetings. 

 

l. Government Ethics 

All of BEH’s lawyers are well acquainted in the general tenets of municipal law in Oregon, 

including ethics issues for elected and appointed officials.  We often conduct training 

seminars for our clients and other attorneys on these and related topics and will advise clients 

of whether we believe a particular official has an actual or potential conflict of interest in a 

given matter.  

 

m. Election Laws 

We are experienced in representing our municipal clients on election law matters.  Our work 

covers the full spectrum of election law issues, from creation of local election codes, to 

assisting with ballot titles, explanatory statements, initiative and referendum petitions and 

petition circulating, to post-election requirements.  We have been retained to defend cities in 

election law challenges and ballot title challenges and frequently advise in matters under 

review by the Secretary of State.   

 



P a g e  | 6 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

5. Litigation Experience 

 

All of our attorneys are experienced in multiple aspects of litigation and administrative law 

and appeals.  We are admitted to practice in federal court, including at the Ninth Circuit 

Court of Appeals, and routinely practice in Oregon’s circuit courts where inverse 

condemnation, writ of review proceedings, contract disputes and other litigation of 

importance to our clients is most often filed.  We routinely handle appeals at the Oregon 

Land Use Board of Appeals, the Oregon Court of Appeals, and various other state and 

federal courts. 

 

Out litigation experience goes beyond the court room and includes mediations, settlement 

conferences and arbitrations.  We consult with clients to determine the most desired outcome 

and work diligently to achieve those results whether that includes a full litigation strategy or 

settlement options.  We recognize that different situations call for different approaches and 

create flexible relationships with our clients to discern what approach is needed in each 

situation.  Importantly, we also work closely with our clients on risk management issues to 

avoid litigation entirely. 

 

Over the course of our careers, we have had the opportunity to handle numerous complex 

municipal issues on a wide range of subjects.  A few examples include: 

 

• We have successfully defended several clients in construction contract claims.  Most 

recently we were able to settle a multi-year construction dispute with a public works 

contractor for an amount below the city’s costs. 

• As noted above, we often appear before the Land Use Board of Appeals on land use 

related matters.  Representative cases include the successful defense of a planning 

commission decision approving a design review application for a downtown food 

court as well as a City’s approval of an amendment to its land use code. 

• Our courtroom work also extends to public safety matters including a recent defense 

of an extreme risk protection order in circuit court, which upheld an officer’s 

determination to keep deadly weapons away from an individual who had threatened 

“suicide by cop,” creating danger to themselves as well as the community. 

• Our attorneys have successfully defended employers in labor arbitration hearings, 

including law enforcement termination arbitrations and labor contract interpretation 

arbitrations.  

• We are currently working on a unique form of litigation known as a validation action 

seeking to clarify the ability of one local government to condemn property from 

another.  This type of “affirmative” litigation is available only to governmental bodies 

and can be a powerful tool to ensure the legality of local government decisions. 

• BEH also appears in court to defend local government decisions when necessary.  For 

example, we defended a challenge to a city ordinance changing a downtown street 

system from a one-way to two-way traffic pattern. 

• Our experience also includes representing clients before appellate courts, including, 

as mentioned above, a recent opinion affirming a circuit court decision upholding a 

city’s ability to enforce its short-term rental regulations as well as authoring amicus 

briefs on behalf of the League of Oregon Cities. 



P a g e  | 7 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

6. Drafting Experience  

 

Negotiating, reviewing and drafting a wide array of contracts and other transactional 

documents for our municipal clients constitutes a significant portion of our practice.  This 

includes extensive experience in drafting, negotiating and implementing intergovernmental 

agreements to create entities and provide a wide range of public services including water, 

sewer and related utility services, police services, storm water management, planning and 

population forecasting, and service delivery (including building permit and other shared 

services).   

 

As our many years of practice in municipal law likely makes evident, we have significant 

experience with ordinance drafting and codification.  We understand the differences between 

the various kinds of municipal enactments—such as resolutions, ordinances and orders—and 

are accustomed to assisting staff at whatever level is needed.  Because we specialize in this 

field and limit our practice to representing local governments, we remain abreast of 

developments in the law and best practices for drafting codes, ordinances, resolutions and 

administrative policies, and ensure that ordinances comply with state statutes. 

 

Significantly, with each of these types of documents we maintain a large library of examples 

and templates that can be used for our various clients.  For example, state statutes often 

require every city to enact legislation about a certain topic, and in these situations our ability 

to leverage the experiences of our various clients often saves time and money and creates a 

better overall work product. 

7. Oral Advice 

 

All of our attorneys are accustomed to attending city council meetings and planning 

commission meetings, either in person or via remote technology such as Zoom, Teams or 

over the phone, and providing oral advice as needed.  Additionally, we are prepared to be 

available for all other special meetings, work sessions, and executive sessions or to simply 

meet with staff as needed to provide advice.  We return all telephone calls the same business 

day or the following day. 

 

C. Service Structure 

BEH is designed as a full-service law firm for local governments; we approach our work as 
an outside city attorney’s office.  We are a group of attorneys who individually possess 
expertise in various areas of municipal law, which when combined allows us to assist local 
governments with the myriad of issues they face on a daily basis.  In this manner, we find 
that our clients receive the best and most cost-effective legal advice possible. 

 

To accomplish this goal, BEH assigns an attorney to serve as the lead attorney for a client.  

This attorney usually serves as the first point of contact for a client.  However, all of our 

attorneys work with each of our clients.  Thus, depending upon the issue in question, the lead 

attorney will assign the work to the attorney with the greatest level of expertise and is best 

fitted to address the issue.  In this manner, BEH ensures that all local governments—no 



P a g e  | 8 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

matter their size—have the ability to receive the same level of legal expertise as the largest 

cities in the Pacific Northwest.   

 

We propose Emily Matasar as the lead attorney who would be the primary contact for the 

City.  Emily would be responsible for delegating any work the City assigns—depending on 

the issue—to the appropriate attorney within our firm.  All of our attorneys, however, are 

available to the City as needed. 

 

D. Clients/References 
 

The firm is proud to have a growing list of clients from all over the state.  We serve as 

general counsel to 22 cities and 19 other municipal governments and as special counsel in 

land use, urban renewal and many other areas for approximately 50 additional clients.  A partial 

list of cities in which BEH serves as the City Attorney includes: 

 

City of Cornelius – 24 years   City of Dayton – 12 years 

City of Fairview – 24 years   City of Forest Grove – 15 years  

City of Happy Valley –18 years  City of Hillsboro – 19 years  

City of Molalla – 14 years   City of North Plains – 24 years  

City of Sandy – 35 years    City of Sutherlin – 9 years 

 

In addition to the references below, please feel free to contact any of our other clients or 

colleagues.  We are confident that they will provide a positive assessment of our capabilities 

and responsiveness. 

 

City of Cannon Beach 

Bruce St. Denis 

City Manager   

Tel. 503.436.1581 

stdenis@ci.cannon-each.or.us 

City of Warrenton 

Esther Moberg 

City Manager 

Tel. 503.861.3927 

emoberg@ci.warrenton.or.us 

 

 

E. Office Location/Process for Working with Staff 
 

Our office is located at 1804 NE 45th Ave., Portland, OR 97213.  We have clients across the 

state, with a number on the northern Oregon coast, including the cities of Cannon Beach and 

Warrenton, and Clatsop County.  Depending on the client’s needs and desires, our attorneys 

either attend public meetings remotely or in person.  Our attorneys and staff are in frequent 

communication with city staff via the phone, email, virtually and, when requested, in person.  

 

F. Legal Backup 
 

As noted above, our firm approaches its work as an outside city attorney’s office and all of 

our attorneys work with each of our clients.  We offer a redundancy of expertise so that our 

clients have an attorney available as needed.  For example, a client who might normally work 

mailto:stdenis@ci.cannon-each.or.us
mailto:emoberg@ci.warrenton.or.us


P a g e  | 9 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

with Chris on a land use matter need not wait until Chris returns from vacation for assistance.  

Rather, Josh, one of the firm’s other land use experts, would be available to assist in Chris’ 

absence.  To that end, while Emily is the lead attorney who would provide services to the 

City, all of our attorneys are available to provide backup in her absence or unavailability. 
 

G. Cost of Service 
 

We propose the following hourly billing rates for City Attorney services: 

 

 Partners and Of Counsel    $285.00 

 Senior Associates     $275.00 

 Associates      $265.00 

 Paralegals      $175.00 

 Legal Assistants     $150.00 

 

 Attendance City Council meetings   Billed at hourly rate  

 Travel time      Billed at hourly rate 

  

Out-of-pocket costs are billed at cost without markup and include postage, copies, conference 

calls, delivery fees, outside consulting, Westlaw research, lodging/airfare/car rental/parking, 

etc.  Mileage is billed at IRS standard mileage rate. 

 

H. Estimated Monthly Hours 
 

Based on our experience, the number of hours a client requires is dependent on the issues that 

particular client is addressing in any given month.  There are certainly some months when there 

is a minimal amount of legal work necessary for a client, and in those months our work is limited 

to attending meetings as requested, and addressing everyday issues, such as public records 

requests and public contracting issues.  Other months, however, necessitate a larger amount of 

attorney involvement—such as when an employment matter arises requiring the termination or 

discipline of an employee or when a client engages in complex real estate and development 

activities.  Given that we represent only local governments, the nature of our practice affords our 

firm the ability to be available in those months when the workload is significant, while not 

needing to pester a client for work when there is not a need for attorney involvement.  Typically, 

when one client is slow another is busy!  Importantly, our attorneys take pride in the dedication 

we place on ensuring that our clients receive the most cost-effective legal services possible and 

work directly with clients to avoid unnecessary legal costs.  For example, in working with our 

clients, we often determine that attendance by the city attorney is not necessary for city council 

meetings when no legal issues are likely to arise.  This has created a significant cost savings for 

clients large and small, ranging from smaller cities such as Dayton, Molalla and Cornelius to our 

largest client, Hillsboro. 

 

We have also found that our focus on local government is cost-effective for all clients.  As 

discussed above, especially on statewide issues impacting local governments (homelessness, 

changes in land use regulations, legalization of psilocybin, etc.) we are typically working on the 

same issue for every client, which spreads the legal costs out among a large number of clients.  

When clients bring us these questions, we often have already done the research, drafted 



P a g e  | 10 – BEH Proposal for City Attorney Services 

memorandums or created documents, forms or model ordinances.  This saves clients (particularly 

smaller clients) from having to bear the full cost of this work.   

 

I. Form of Agreement 
 
A form agreement for legal service is attached. 

 

J. Conclusion 
 

BEH attorneys focus solely on municipal law in order to help our clients achieve the results 

they desire for their communities.  We care strongly for our clients and their communities 

and believe this is demonstrated through the high-quality work product we provide.  It would 

be our honor to help your community thrive! 

 

For more information about our firm and the professionals who work here, please visit our 

web site at http://behllp.com/. 

http://behllp.com/


 

 

 
 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Senior Associate    2022 

Associate     2020-2021 

 
Provides legal services to local governments on general municipal issues, 

with a focus on public records, personnel and employment issues, 

government ethics and intergovernmental agreements.   

 

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR 

Government Accountability Attorney  2016-2020 

 

Responded to all public records requests received by the Office. Provided 

legal advice and training to staff on public records and transparency issues. 

Advised Executive Branch agency staff, including directors, on difficult 

public records questions. Promoted the Governor’s transparency policy 

agenda, engaging agency staff, stakeholders, and legislators. Evaluated 

clemency applications and recommends disposition. Represented Office’s 

interests in public records litigation and gathered records for discovery. 

 

ANGELI UNGER LLC 

Contract Attorney    2015-2016 

 

Reviewed documents, drafted motion to suppress in Federal criminal case, 

and oversaw other contract attorneys working on document review projects. 

 

EDUCATION 

 

Lewis & Clark Law School, Portland, OR, Juris Doctor  May 2014 

Cum Laude         

University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, Bachelor of Arts May 2004 

 

MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

Oregon City Attorneys 
Association 

Vice Chair, Sunshine 
Committee 
 
Member, Office of 
Administrative Hearings 
Oversight Committee 
 
Member, Region 6, 
Oregon State Bar House 
of Delegates  
 
President Elect, 
Northwest United 
Women’s Soccer 
 
Board Officer, Oregon 
Adult Soccer Association 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

EMILY M. MATASAR 
Heather’s  

Emily has 7 years of experience with a 

focus on public records, employment 

and municipal law. 

 



 

 

 
 

 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Partner     2014-Present 

Senior Associate   2011-2014 

 
Provides legal services to local governments on a wide range of topics 

including government ethics, public meetings, public records, elections, 

charters, governance, tort liability, risk management, civil rights, 

constitutional issues, urban renewal, condemnation, intergovernmental 

agreements, and personnel and employment issues.  Works with clients to 

negotiate complex transactions including public/private partnerships and 

drafts charter provisions, ballot measures, ordinances and regulations.  

Provides representation in court and before administrative agencies. 

 
LEWIS AND CLARK LAW SCHOOL 

Adjunct Professor   2015-Present 

 

Teaches Oregon Local Government Law to second and third-year 

students. 

 

LEAGUE OF OREGON CITIES 

General Counsel   2009-2011 

 
Provided in-house legal representation to membership organization in all 

legal matters including personnel and employment issues, contracts, 

litigation and organizational governance.  Oversaw administration of legal 

division including budgetary matters and supervision of employees.  

Coordinated and drafted amicus briefs filed on behalf of the League of 

Oregon Cities.  Provided information related to municipal laws and legal 

research to members. 

 

CHAD A. JACOBS 
 

Chad has specialized in local 

government law for over 21 years by 

providing legal advice to public 

officials at all levels of local 

government on a wide range of topics. 

He has represented clients in both the 

court room and in administrative law 

hearings.  

ACHIEVEMENTS 
 
Rated Martindale-
Hubbell AV Preeminent 
Attorney  
 
Named Best Lawyers® 
Lawyer of the Year for 
Municipal Litigation 
(2021) 
 
Appointed Member, OSB 
Bar Press Broadcasters 
Council (2011-present) 
 
Appointed Member OSB 
Centralized Legal Notices 
Task Force (2014) 
 
Former Chair of the 
Board of Directors, NE 
Community Child 
Development Center 
 
MEMBERSHIPS 
 
Oregon State Bar  
 
California State Bar 
(inactive) 
 
U.S. Federal Ninth Circuit, 
N.D. California and 
Oregon Bars  
 
Oregon City Attorneys 
Association (2009-2016) 
 
OSB – Government Law 
Section Executive 
Committee  
(2013-present) 
 
League of Oregon Cities 
Legal Advocacy 
Committee  
2011-present and 
2017, Chair 
 
Multnomah Bar 
Association 
 
AORAIACP 
 



 

 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 

Senior Deputy City Attorney  2000-2008 

 
Participated in all aspects of in-house counsel activities including client 

consultations, advice and trainings, litigation, drafting of internal and 

external legal documents and risk management.  Practice areas focused on, 

but were not limited to issues concerning constitutional law, statutory 

interpretation, administrative law, labor relations, legal ethics, election law, 

government ethics, contracts, open meetings and public records.  Assisted 

with and participated in litigation matters before the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals, the United States District Court for the Northern District of 

California, the California Supreme Court, the California Court of Appeals 

and the San Francisco Superior Court. 

 

 

EDUCATION 
 

University of California Hastings  

College of Law                                     J.D., 2000  

 

American University            B.S. 

 

SPEAKING TOPICS 

Government Ethics 

Public Meetings 

Public Records 

Urban Renewal 

Bias in Land Use 
Proceedings 

Limits on Political 
Activities by Public 
Employees 

Exclusion and Trespass 
Ordinances 

Anti-Harassment Policies 
and Procedures 

Marijuana and Local 
Governments 

Social Media and Local 
Governments 

Systems Development 
Charges 

Legal Ethics 

 



 
 

 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Partner     2019-Present 

Associate    2014-2019 

 
Provides legal services to local governments on general municipal issues 

with a focus on labor and employment law, police and public safety, 

municipal liability and risk management, litigation and administrative law, 

and Oregon public meetings, records and ethics law. 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PERSONNEL INSTITUTE 

Labor Attorney    2012-2014 

 

Represented cities, counties and special districts across Oregon.  Labor and 

employment issues including PECBA, ADA, FMLA/OFLA, FLSA and 

discrimination.  Successfully defended clients against unfair labor practice 

complaints, unit representation petitions and labor contract arbitrations.  

Appeared before the Employment Relations Board panel in oral arguments, 

as well as in front of mediators, arbitrators and administrative law judges.  

Led negotiations for 15 new and successor collective bargaining 

agreements.  Presented at numerous city council and board of 

commissioner meetings, conferences and trainings. 

 

BENNETT, HARTMAN, KAPLAN & MORRIS, LLP 

Law Clerk    2011-2012 

 

Conducted legal research and drafted motions and memoranda.  Produced 

high quality work submitted with minor changes to state and federal court. 

 

MEMBERSHIPS 
 
Oregon State Bar  
 
Multnomah Bar 
Association 
 
Oregon Women Lawyers 
 
Oregon City Attorneys 
Association  
 
 
SPEAKING TOPICS 
 
Personnel issues 
 
Workplace Investigations 
 
Public Records and Public 
Meetings 
 
Effective Discipline and 
Discharge 
 
Public Employees Collective 
Bargaining Act  
 

 

ASHLEY O. DRISCOLL 
 

Ashley has 10 years of experience with a 

focus on labor and employment law, 

public records and open meetings. 

 



OREGON DEPT OF JUSTICE, TRIAL DIVISION 

Torts & Employment   2010 

Section Law Clerk 

 

Drafted motions and conducted research for claims under the Civil Rights 

§1983, Oregon Torts Claims Act, Oregon RICO, “whistleblower” and 

employment retaliation laws.  Attended motion hearings, depositions, trials 

and mediations.  Participated in all stages of litigation from answering the 

initial complaint to composing the court order. 

 

EDUCATION 

 
Lewis & Clark Law School J.D., Magna Cum Laude, 2012 

 

College of the Holy Cross B.A., Magna Cum Laude 

 

Trinity College   Junior Year Abroad program 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Of Counsel    2006-Present 

 
Provides legal services to cities, counties, and special districts.  Practice 

areas include municipal governance, land use and development review, 

infrastructure financing, litigation, government relations, and appellate 

practice.  Represents local governments before administrative agencies, the 

Land Use Board of Appeals and all levels of Oregon’s judicial courts.  

Advises and advocates on behalf of cities and special districts before the 

Oregon Legislature. 

 

LEWIS AND CLARK LAW SCHOOL 

Adjunct Law Professor   2015-Present 

 

Teaches comprehensive municipal law course to second and third-year law 

students. 

 

OFFICE OF MULTNOMAH COUNTY ATTORNEY 

Assistant County Attorney             2003-2006 

 

Advised county agencies and elected officials on land use and development, 

property taxation, public contracts, school-based and emergency services. 

Litigated land use appeals before the Land Use Board of Appeals and 

represented County officials in Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals.  

Advised Board of County Commissioners and county departments on 

legislation affecting the county.  Served as Special Counsel to Senate 

Committee on Environment and Land Use (2005).  Drafted county 

ordinances. 

 

 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Named to Best 

Lawyers® List for 
Practice areas of Land 
Use and Zoning Law 
and Municipal Law 

Recognition by Best 

Lawyers® in America 
for 5 years  
 
Named Best Lawyers® 
Lawyer of the Year for 
Municipal Litigation 
(2015 and 2020) 

 

MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

U.S. Federal Ninth 
Circuit Bar  

Multnomah Bar 
Association 

Oregon State Bar Real 
Estate and Land Use 
Section 

 

SPEAKING TOPICS  

Planning and Zoning 
Law 

Constitutional Law 

Annexation and 
Withdrawal 

Infrastructure Finance 
and Government 
Relations 

 

 

CHRISTOPHER D. CREAN 
 

Christopher D. Crean has over 25 years 

of experience advising public agencies, 

including the Oregon Legislature, 

Multnomah County and, for the last 19 

years, cities, counties and special districts 

statewide.  Chris’s practice emphasizes 

land use law, annexation, infrastructure 

finance, water law, municipal litigation 

and governmental relations.   



 

 

MILLER NASH, LLP 

Associate Attorney              2000-2002 

 

Practice areas included land development, water rights, general 

administrative law, government relations, telecommunications and 

public contracting.  Advised clients obtaining land use approval for 

development projects.  Litigated land use appeals, real property claims 

and water rights proceedings in Circuit Court, before the Court of 

Appeals and the Land Use Board of Appeals.  Represented clients in 

local legislative proceedings and before the Oregon Legislature. 

 

OFFICE OF LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL 

Deputy Legislative Counsel  1995-2005, 2002-2003 

 

Provided legal advice to the Oregon Legislature in the areas of land 

use, real estate, utility regulation, economic development, constitutional 

and administrative law.  Testified before legislative committees 

regarding proposed legislation and related matters.  Drafted legislation 

and provided legal advice regarding same.  Reviewed administrative 

rules for compliance with enabling legislation. 

 

EDUCATION 
 

American University 

Washington College of Law              J.D., 1994 

 

Earlham College   B.A.  

PUBLICATIONS 

Legislative Highlights, 
1999-2007, Real Estate 
and Land Use Chapter, 
Oregon State Bar. 

 



 

 

 
 

 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Of Counsel    2019-Present   

Senior Associate   2007-2019 

 
Provides legal services to local governments on general municipal issues with 

a focus on employment/labor issues including advising public bodies on 

discipline and discharge, wage and hour compliance, family medical leave, 

discrimination complaints, personnel handbook drafts and updates, and 

responding to BOLI and EEOC complaints; real estate issues including 

acquisition of property, review of easements, right-of-way agreements and 

public-private partnership development agreements including prevailing wage 

rate determinations; and other public records/open meetings, election and 

other municipal law matters.   

 

PARKER, POE, ADAMS & BERNSTEIN, LLP 

Associate    2005-2006 

 

Represented and advised local governments and private interests on planning, 

land use, zoning, annexation, public records and open meetings issues.  

Prepared complaints, responses, discovery motions and assisted with other 

litigation matters in addition to drafting and reviewing contracts and 

settlement agreements. 

 

UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA, SCHOOL OF LAW 

CD Intern    2005-2006 

 

Assisted local community groups and individuals with the following types of 

nonprofit ventures: minority entrepreneurship, after school tutoring, affordable 

housing and health and nutrition.  Enabled new nonprofits to file articles of 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Recipient of the American 
Society of Public 
Administration’s Louis 
Brownlow Award 

 

MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

North Carolina State Bar 
(inactive)  

American Bar Association 

Oregon City Attorneys 
Association 

Association of Workplace 
Investigators  

 
 
SPEAKING TOPICS 

Social Media 

Employment Law 

Workplace Investigations 

Public Records/Meetings 

BOLI Prevailing Wage 
Rate Coverage 
Determination Process  

 

 
PUBLICATIONS 
 
Frayda Bluestein and 
Maureen Berner, 
Documenting Disparities 
in Minority Contracting: 
Legal Requirements and 
Recommendations for 
Policy-Makers, Public 
Administration Review  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

HEATHER R. MARTIN 
 

Heather’s  

Heather has over 15 years of 

experience with a focus on labor and 

employment law, real estate 

transactions, public finance and 

general governance. 

 



 

 

incorporation and federal tax exempt status forms, drafted by-laws, and 

created new employment and membership policies.  For existing non-profits, 

researched tax exempt status issues, filed copyright and trademark 

applications and assisted with general transactional concerns. 

 

NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

Research Assistant   2004 

Fiscal Analyst    2003 

 

Assisted legal staff with questions from legislators and state agencies related 

to a wide-range of issues including education, annexation, health care, 

gambling, tax increase proposals, trade property and other state regulations.  

Staffed the Natural and Economic Resources Appropriations Subcommittee 

and prepared portions of the North Carolina 2003-05 Biennium Budget in 

addition to assisting legislators and constituents with agriculture, labor and 

tobacco settlement fund questions. 

 

MACWILLIAMS ROBINSON & PARTNERS 

Senior Associate   1996-2001 

 

Coordinated strategic media budgets for various presidential, congressional, 

senatorial, gubernatorial and ballot initiative campaigns including Bill 

Bradley for President.  Evaluated demographic, polling and research data to 

create targeted media campaigns for political candidates and interest groups.  

Supervised staff of five and coordinated media activities with other firm 

divisions. 

 

EDUCATION 

 
The University of North Carolina J.D., 2006 

School of Law 

 

University of North Carolina  Master of Public Admin., 2006 

School of Government 

 

Miami University   Bachelor of Arts, Political  

     Science & Journalism 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 
 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Of Counsel    2022-Present 

 
Provides legal services to cities, counties, and special districts.  Practice 

areas include land use, public contracting, public records, public meetings, 

public administration, tort liability, elections, real property law, labor and 

employment law, and constitutional law. 

 

CITY OF SHERWOOD 

City Attorney   2015-2022 

 

Served as chief legal counsel to the City Council, City boards and 

commissions, City staff, and Urban Renewal Agency in areas including 

land use, public contracting, public records and meetings, tort liability, 

elections law, real property, labor and employment law, and constitutional 

law.  Served as City Prosecutor in Sherwood Municipal Court.  

 

OFFICE OF COOS COUNTY ATTORNEY 

County Counsel               2011-2015 

 

Began as Assistant County Counsel and was promoted in 2013 to County 

Counsel, after serving as interim for eight months. Served as legal counsel 

to the Board of Commissioners, other elected officials and county boards, 

and department heads on all civil matters, including labor and employment 

law and land use law, among other topics. Served as County’s lead 

negotiator with its seven collective bargaining units. 

 

EDUCATION 
 

Lewis & Clark Law School              J.D., 2011 

University of Michigan   B.A. 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Editor in Chief, Animal 
Law Review 

Pro Bono Service 
Award Recipient  
 
MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

Oregon Supreme Court 

U.S. District Court for 
the District of Oregon 

Oregon State Bar Real 
Estate and Land Use 
Section, Government 
Law Section, & Labor 
and Employment Law 
Section 

Executive Committee, 
Oregon City Attorneys 
Association 

SPEAKING TOPICS  

Government Relations 

Charter Amendments 

Public Records &  
Meetings 

VOLUNTEERING 

Oregon State Bar 
Disciplinary Board 

Oregon State Bar House 
of Delegates 

Oregon State Bar 
Public Service Advisory 
Committee 

Oregon State Bar 
Lawyers Assistance 
Committee 

Oregon City Attorneys 
Association 

 

 

JOSHUA P. SOPER 
 

Joshua P. Soper over 10 years as in-

house counsel for local governments in 

Oregon, including serving as county 

counsel for Coos County, and most 

recently, as city attorney for the City of 

Sherwood. Josh’s practice is focused on 

land use issues, including legislative 

drafting, hearings and appeals, and 

general advice. 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Associate    2022-Present 

 
Provides legal services to local governments on general municipal issues 

with a focus on land use, development review and property acquisitions. 

 

VESTAS-AMERICAN WIND TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

Associate Corporate Counsel   2020-2022 

 

Assisted senior attorneys with drafting, negotiating, and advising on multi-

million dollar wind turbine sales, service, and tax implications throughout 

the US.  Drafted and negotiated project financing contracts and others, 

provided general legal advice, and conducted legal research.  

 

CITY OF SHERWOOD 

Legal Intern               2019-2020 

 

Drafted legal documents and memoranda, and prepared, reviewed and 

edited contracts. Researched and drafted new city ordinances.  Attended 

City meetings and presented information to City Counsel. 

 

EDUCATION 
 

University of Oregon School of Law      J.D., 2020 

University of Oregon   B.A. 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Oregon State Bar 
member in good 
standing 
 
Recipient of VAWAT 
BRAVO award 
 
Recipient of the 
Hitchcock Kenna 
Award 
 
 

MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

 

PUBLICATIONS 

“Fishing for Solutions: 
Pacific Northwest 
Atlantic Salmon Fish 
Farming in the Wake of 
the Cook Aquaculture 
Net-Pen Collapse,” 2020 

 

Ashleigh K. Dougill 
 

Ashleigh brings a blend of public and 

private experience to BEH.  In addition 

to general governance advice, Ashleigh’s 

practice is focused on land use issues, 

development review, and property 

acquisition.  



 
 

 

EXPERIENCE 
 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

Of Counsel      2022 

Partner 2009-2021 

Associate 2004-2009 

Advises municipalities regarding public contracting, with significant 

experience in alternative delivery methods for public improvement 

contracts, land use, and other legal matters, drafts findings, reviews public 

contracts, drafts ordinances and resolutions, contracts, and appears before 

the Land Use Board of Appeals and Court of Appeals. 

HUTCHISON, HAMMOND & WALSH, P.C. 

Associate 2000-2004 

Provided legal services to local governments and utilities on a wide range of 

topics including water, electrical energy, land use, litigation, construction, 

contract, labor and organizational issues. 

MULTNOMAH COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

Grand Jury Specialist 1997 

Assisted the grand jury division in preparing information/indictments and 

other documents, reviewing police records, advising and interviewing 

witnesses for Deputy District Attorneys. 

 

EDUCATION 

University of Oregon Law School J.D., 2000 

University of Minnesota B.A., Summa Cum Laude 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Named to Best Lawyers® List 
for Practice areas of Land Use 
and Zoning Law and 
Municipal Law 

Named in 2010 as a Rising 
Star by Super Lawyers 

Oregon State Bar – 
Disciplinary Board 

Oregon State Bar – Unlawful 
Practice of Law Committee 

Oregon State Bar – Bar Press 
Broadcasters Council 

 

MEMBERSHIPS 

Oregon State Bar  

Washington State Bar  

American Bar Association  

Multnomah Bar Association 

Oregon City Attorneys 
Association 

 

SPEAKING TOPICS 

Evolution of Exactions Law 

Relationship of 
Comprehensive Plan to 
Development Code 

Body Cameras 

Public Meetings/Records 

Public Contracting 

Land Use Case Law Update 

Recreational Immunity 

Smart Growth and Transit-
Oriented Development 

Subdivision and Platting 

 

 
 
 

 

DAVID F. DOUGHMAN 
 

David is the firm’s procurement and 

contracting expert and has over 21 

years of experience specializing in 

land use and public contracting law. 
 

 



 

Page 1 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

CITY OF __________ 

and 

BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

 

THIS Agreement is made and entered into this ____ day of _________________, 2022, by and 

between the City of _________________, an Oregon municipal corporation (“CITY”), and Beery, 

Elsner & Hammond, LLP, an Oregon limited liability partnership (“ATTORNEY”). 

 

WHEREAS, CITY has need for legal services with the particular training, ability, knowledge 

and experience possessed by ATTORNEY; and 

 

WHEREAS, CITY has determined that ATTORNEY is qualified and capable of performing the 

professional services as CITY does hereinafter requires, under these terms and conditions set forth 

below. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties 

agree as follows: 

 

1. LEGAL SERVICES  

 

ATTORNEY will provide legal advice upon request of the City Manager, City Council, 

Mayor or other consultants representing CITY. 

 

2. ATTORNEY IDENTIFICATION 

 

ATTORNEY shall furnish CITY with its employer identification number, as designated 

by the Internal Revenue Service.  

 

3. COMPENSATION 

 

A. Payment will be made to the ATTORNEY for the services identified based upon a 

detailed monthly billing showing work performed. Payment will be made within 

30 days of CITY’s receipt of the detailed monthly billing from ATTORNEY. 

 

B. Hourly rates: 

 

 Partners and Of Counsel  $285.00 

 Senior Associates   $275.00 

 Associates    $265.00 

 Paralegals    $175.00 

 Legal Assistants   $150.00 



 

Page 2 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

It is understood that the above rates may be adjusted or changed by ATTORNEY 

on not more than a yearly basis with not less than 60 days written notice to CITY.   

 

C. CITY shall reimburse ATTORNEY for out-of-pocket expenses at ATTORNEY’S 

direct cost without additional markup. 

 

4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

 

ATTORNEY shall be an independent contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to 

no compensation other than the compensation provided for under paragraph 2 of this 

Agreement. 

 

5. TERM AND TERMINATION 

 

At any time with or without cause, CITY or ATTORNEY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement. If CITY terminates the Agreement, it shall deliver full payment to ATTORNEY 

for services rendered to the date of termination. 

 

6. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 

A. Indemnity: ATTORNEY shall defend, indemnify, and hold the CITY, its officers, 

and employees harmless from any third-party claims that result in liability, loss, 

or expenses to the CITY, provided that such duty is limited to the proportional 

extent that the liability, loss or expense results from the negligence or willful 

misconduct of ATTORNEY in the performance of its services under this 

agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, CITY acknowledges that 

ATTORNEY in its capacity as City Attorney is acting as an Agent of the City and 

therefore agrees to be responsible under the terms of the Oregon Tort Claims Act 

(ORS 30.260 to 30.300) for defending, saving harmless and indemnifying 

ATTORNEY while it is acting within the scope of its engagement as City 

Attorney.  

 

B. Liability Insurance: ATTORNEY shall maintain professional liability insurance insuring 

ATTORNEY against errors or omissions in the amount and on the conditions required 

by the Professional Liability Fund of the Oregon State Bar.  

 

C. Workers Compensation Coverage: ATTORNEY hereby certifies that 

ATTORNEY has qualified for State of Oregon Worker’s Compensation coverage 

either as a carrier-insured employer or as a self-insured employer. 

 

7. NOTICES  

 

All notices shall be made in writing and may be given by email or by mail, addressed as 

follows: 

 

 



 

Page 3 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 CITY:   _________________, City Manager 

    Address 

    City, OR 97___ 

    Email: ___________________ 

 

 ATTORNEY:  Beery, Elsner & Hammond, LLP 

    1804 NE 45th Ave.  

    Portland, OR 97213-1416 

    Email: ___________________ 

 

 

8. WORK IS PROPERTY 

 

All work, including, but not limited to documents, drawings, papers, electronic media, and 

photographs, performed or produced by ATTORNEY under this Agreement, shall be the 

property of CITY. 

 

9. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNMENTS  

 

A. ATTORNEY shall not assign any of its obligations hereunder without the prior 

consent of CITY. 

 

B. ATTORNEY may, with CITY’S consent, subcontract services provided under this 

agreement when a specialized need for legal services arises.  

 

10. MODIFICATION  

 

Any modification of the provisions of this Agreement shall be reduced to writing and 

signed by the parties.  

 

11. NO WAIVER OF LEGAL RIGHTS 

 

A waiver by a party of any breach by the other shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent breach. 

 

12. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS  

 

The Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Oregon. To the extent 

applicable, ORS 279B.220 through 279B.235 are incorporated into this Agreement by 

reference. Venue shall be in the Circuit Court for Clatsop County, Oregon. 

 

13. INTEGRATION 

 

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all 

prior written or oral discussions or agreements regarding the same subject. 

 



 

Page 4 — PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CITY has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized undersigned agents and ATTORNEY has executed this Agreement on the date 

hereinabove first written. 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF ____________   BEERY, ELSNER & HAMMOND, LLP 

 

  

       

By: ____________________________ By: ____________________________ 

Title: NAME, City Manager   Title: NAME, Partner 

 

 

Date:  _______________________  Date:  _______________________ 

 

 

 

 

Approved by ______________ City Council on _____________________________ 

  
 



____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Kim Jordan, City Recorder
Department: Business License
Subject: Downtown Maintenance District Litter Removal
Type of Item: Contract Award

Introduction:

The City of Seaside advertised for bids for the “Downtown Maintenance District Litter Removal” Project
No. 2023-01 on January 24, 2023. One submittal was received on February 7, 2023. Staff has reviewed
the proposal and is prepared to make a recommendation to the City Council.

Background:

The City of Seaside’s Downtown Maintenance District was established in 1983 as an assessment for the
maintenance district for the provision of daily litter removal to the streets, sidewalks, flowerbeds, and
some areas of the parking lots. This service provides a clean, well-maintained downtown district for the
benefit, health, and enjoyment of residents and visitors. Staff requested proposals from firms who
would be interested in the litter removal for the Downtown Maintenance District. Staff advertised the
request to the public in in January through the Daily Astorian. The Downtown Maintenance contract will
continue to provide maintenance, upkeep, and litter control of planting areas, seating areas, sidewalk,
curbs, and gutters within a designated area.

Budget Impact:

This service is currently budgeted for. The Downtown Maintenance District Assessment overlays the
businesses in the downtown area and the property assessments pay for the contract to maintain the
area for litter clean-up.

Department Review:

One firm responded to the advertised proposal and was received from contractor Kris Johnston who has
been previously awarded the contract since 2005. The proposal submitted from Kris Johnston is in the
amount of 31,500.00. The previous contract expired on January 31, 2023 and was in the amount of
$30,200.00.

Requested Action:

Staff recommends the City Council make a motion to select Kris Johnston to continue the Downtown
Maintenance Litter Removal contract for two years with the option to renew for two additional years.

If the City Council agrees, you may make the following motion:

“I move the City of Seaside award a contract to Kris Johnston to provide Downtown Maintenance Litter
Removal services to the City of Seaside.”

Attachments:

1. Kris Johnson Proposal Submittal

Staff and/or Key Contacts:

Kim Jordan, City Recorder





































_____________________________________________________________________________________

Page | 1

Staff Report – City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: February 13, 2023
Author: Kim Jordan, City Recorder
Department: Business Office
Subject: Selection of Construction Management/

General Contractor
Type of Item: Award of Contract

Introduction:
The City intends to select a firm to become the Construction Management/General Contractor (CM/CG)
for the Police and Fire Station seismic rehabilitation projects.

Background:
In June, 2022, the City of Seaside was awarded seismic rehabilitation grants from Business Oregon for
the police station ($1,627,897) and the fire station ($1,707,595).

In September, 2022, the City Council awarded the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for
Engineering/Architectural Services to WRK Engineering.

In November, 2022 the City Council approved the CM/GC method of construction for Police Department
and Fire Station seismic rehabilitation projects.

Department Review:
On December 14, 2022, WRK Engineers advertised an RFP in the Oregon Daily Journal of Commerce for a
Construction Manager/General Contractor for the seismic rehabilitation projects. The RFPs were due
January 19, 2023. There was one proposal received from O’Brien Design + Build.

The Fire Chief and Public Works Director have reviewed the proposal from O’Brien Design + Build and, in
consultation with WRK Engineering, find that the proposal meets the requirements of the RFP and that
the firm is qualified to complete the work.

Budget Impact:
This project is funded through grants without impact to the City budget.

Alternatives:
The City Council could choose to not accept the proposal from O’Brien Design + Build and readvertise for
qualified firms.

Requested Action:
If the City Council is ready to award the CM/CG contract to O’Brien Design + Build, the following motion
would be made:

“I move that the City of Seaside award the Construction Management/General Contractor contract for
the Police and Fire station seismic rehabilitation projects to O’Brien Design + Build.”



Page | 2

Attachments:
1. City of Seaside RFP for Construction Manager/General Contractor.
2. Proposal submitted by O’Brien Design + Build.

Staff and/or Key Contacts:
Joey Daniels – Fire Chief
Tyler Brumit – WRK Engineers





























































































































































This work is copyright 2022-2023 by Rick Bowers & Nelle Mo�ett and licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.
Which for us means make all the copies you want — just don’t sell them!https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

HUD Studio
Fair Market Rents $763 / Month

HUD 1-Bedroom
Fair Market Rents $919 / Month

Retail Studio$1,142 - $1,542

Retail 1-Bedroom$1,197 - $1,600

None of the individuals 
in these groups can 
a�ord currently 
advertised apartments.

0
$100
$200
$300
$400
$500
$600
$700
$800
$900

$1,000
$1,100
$1,200
$1,300

A�ordable Rent
30% of Gross Income

Rent Burdened
50% of Gross Income

Supplement

     
Secu

rit
y

     
     

  In
co

me SSI (M
ax)

Socia
l S

ecu
rit

y

     
Disa

bilit
y

     
     

 In
co

me SSDI (A
vg)

Socia
l S

ecu
rit

y

   R
etir

ee (A
vg)

Fullti
me

 M
in W

age

Currently Advertised (Retail) Rents
collected N

ov 25-30, 2022

A fulltime minimum wage 
worker can a�ord the lowest-
priced studio apartment but 
only when Rent Burdened.

HUD Fair Market Rents are based 
on surveys of existing apartment 
occupants so do not represent 
current availability.

For data sources see
https://friendsoftheunsheltered.org/apartments/

Subsidized Housing?
Waitlists measured in years!

Apartment A�ordability in Clatsop














	Agenda
	Proclamation
	Minutes January 23, 2023
	Vacancy Planning Commission
	Ordinance 2023-01 Building Board of Appeals
	Ordinace 2023-02 Abatement of Dangerous Buildings
	Resolution #4015 Support Clatsop County Emergency due to Homelessness
	Liquor License Application Ashore Hotel
	City of Seaside Travel Policy
	Request for Qualifications Comprehensive Plan
	City Attorney Appointment and Agreement
	Downtown Maintenance District Litter Removal Contract Award
	Award of Contract Police and Fire Station Seismic Rehabilitation Projects Contruction Management/General Contractor 
	Public Comment Submissions and Registration

